Eulalia Skawińska, Romuald I. Zalewski



CONTEMPORARY CHALLENGES FOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT LINEAR VERSUS CIRCULAR ECONOMY



Polish Economic Society

Eulalia Skawińska, Romuald I. Zalewski

CONTEMPORARY CHALLENGES FOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT: LINEAR VERSUS CIRCULAR ECONOMY



Polish Economic Society

Zielona Góra 2021

Eulalia Skawińska, Romuald I. Zalewski

CONTEMPORARY CHALLENGES FOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT: LINEAR VERSUS CIRCULAR ECONOMY

Publication financed by the Polish Academy of Sciences Open Access CC BY 4.0

> Reviewers: Aleksander Jakimowicz Zdzisław W. Puślecki

ISBN: 978-83-87193-09-6 DOI: 10.26366/PTE.ZG.2021.209

> Publisher: www.ptezg.pl Printing house: www.ligatura.com.pl Cover design: www.reklamowaagencja.pl

Table of contents

LIST OF ABREVIATIONS	6
INTRODUCTION	7
Part I. From a linear economy to sustainability and the circular economy	.10
Chapter 1: The linear economy and its consequences	.10
1.1 Characteristics of the linear model of economy	.10
1.2. The negative effects of linear model farming in the 21st century	.12
1.2.1. The greenhouse effect	.12
1.2.2. Degradation of ecosystems	. 13
1.2.3. Enhancing water scarcity	.14
1.2.4. The increasing trend in the extraction of non-renewable raw materials	.15
1.2.5. Increasing supply risks	.20
SUMMARY	.21
Chapter 2: Sustainable and balanced development in the context of EU policies	.23
2.1 The concept of sustainable development	.23
2.2 Socio-economic aspects of sustainable development	.26
2.3 Environmental aspects of the economics of sustainable development	. 28
2.4. EU policy for sustainable development	.31
SUMMARY	. 34
Part II. Circular economy – stimulants and barriers	. 36
Chapter 3. Circular Economy (CE)	. 36
3.1. Background	. 36
3.2. Overview of circular economy conception	. 39
3.3. Definitions of circular economy	.41
3.4. Models of CE	.43
3.5. Circular Economy against Obsolescence	. 53
3.6. Evolutionary paths of circular economy into ecology	. 54

3.7. New modes of consumption	56
3.8. The place of CE in EU policy	60
SUMMARY	62
Chapter 4. Waste in a Circular Economy	64
4.1. Natural science and consequences for CE	64
4.1.1. Circulation of inorganic materials	70
4.1.2. Circular of organic material	74
4.2. Barriers	77
4.3. Debatable remarks	79
SUMMARY	83
CONCLUSION	
REFERENCES	

Eulalia Skawińska, Full Professor at the University of Zielona Góra, Head of the Department of Macroeconomics and Finance at the Institute of Economics and Finance. She specializes in global and regional economics, competitiveness and innovation, new economics, international economic relations (IMS), business clusters, circular economy, intangible factors of development. She is an author and co-author of several dozen monographs published in renowned publishing houses (PWN, PWE, TNOiK, CeDeWu) and about 300 scientific articles as well as several textbooks on economics and international economic relations. Her works are characterized by solid empirical research and a very good methodological workshop. Moreover, they have a normative and predictive character, therefore the knowledge contained in them is widely disseminated.

She is a member of international organizations: EAAE, COPE, IIIS, scholarship holder of the Universities of Anges, Padua, Stockholm, Humboldt Berlin, Glasgow and Edinburgh financed among others by TEMPUS and ACE funds. During the transformation of the economy in the 1990s, she participated in research under the Cooperation Fund and published a monograph in the White Paper. She was chairman and member of the Supervisory Board in commercial companies.

Inspirations for Prof. E. Skawińska's scientific and organizational activities often came from the cooperation she developed with the environment and were supported by her studies and experiences from business and private trips to 25 states of the USA and 30 other countries in the world.

Romuald Ignacy Zalewski (Full Professor) in 1963-2013 he worked at the Faculty of Commodity Sciences at the Poznań University of Economics. He held a number of scientific and organizational positions (chair, dean, vice-rector). He is an Honorary Professor at W-M University in Olsztyn. He was a postdoc in Department of Chemistry University of Manitoba (Canada, 1967-9) and Professor of Chemistry at University of Sulaimani (Iraq, 1976-81). He studied the structures of organic compounds and their effects on flavour and biological properties. From the 1990s, he started research on quality management, SPC and innovation. Between 1986 and 2016 he coordinated scientific projects funded by Polish government agencies. Among others, he developed an open innovation platform called INNOPENA. He is the author of several books on physical organic chemistry, SPC and quality management (published by Elsevier, Wiley, UEP, PAN), editor and co-author of monographs and numerous publications. He organized several world scientific conferences e.g.: XIV IUPAC Symposium of Natural Products (1984); V Correlation Analysis in Organic Chemistry (1988). He was invited as a visiting professor by universities (e.g. Bradford, Lund, Lyon, Paris, Saarbrücken, Stuttgart, Marburg, Leipzig, Trieste, Louvain-la-Neuve, Wageningen, Tallinn, Taipei). He has also participated as a lecturer at numerous scientific conferences on all continents. Since 2003 he has been the chairman of the Commission on Quality Sciences of the Polish Academy of Sciences. Recently, he has been working on circular economics through the lens of natural sciences. For many years (1993-2018) he chaired the Gold Medal Judges of the Poznan International Fair MTP. He belongs to several national and international organizations and scientific societies (e.g. IGWT COPE, IIIS, TCI).

LIST OF ABREVIATIONS

CE	Circular Economy
COP 24	United Nations Climate Change Conference
CSO	Central Statistical Office
CSR	Corporate Social Responsibility
ESD	Economics of Sustainable Development
EU	European Union
EUROSTAT	Statistical Office of the European Union
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
IMF	The International Monetary Fund
ISO	International Organization for Standardization
IT	Information Technology
OECD	Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development
OPEC	Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries
PIE	Polish Economic Institute
R & D	Research and development,
SD	Sustainable Development
SDE	Sustainable Development Economy
SFVC	Sustainable Food Value Chains
SWOT	Strengths and Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats
TQM	Total Quality Management
UN	United Nations
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
WB	World Bank, World Bank for Reconstruction and Development
WFP	World Food Programme
WTO	World Trade Organization

INTRODUCTION

In the 21st century, and especially during the Covid-19 pandemic, there has been an increased awareness among the general public that the continuation of the methods and models of micro-economy used so far in the world will lead to negative consequences that are difficult to reverse. These include climate disruption, income and wealth polarization, and a decline in the quality of life of societies due to increased poverty and social exclusion, growing pollution of the terrestrial and marine biosphere, overexploitation of resources, etc. It is documented in the literature that already in the second half of the 20th century, the thesis that development is necessary "without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs" was gaining strength in science, politics and intellectuals. (Brundtland, 1987). A research program of ecological economics emerged, the representatives of which, in conducting economic activity, adopted a position:

- the primacy of the natural environment over economics,
- the perspective of sustainability based on not wasting scarce environmental resources and
- inter and intra-generational equity.

In this context, proposals are being made for ways of farming that can contribute to reducing the hitherto unfavorable trends and tendencies of economic development. In the last decade, the ecological economics agenda has underpinned the development of several SDG policy documents. These are: Europe 2020 - A Strategy for Smart, Sustainable and Inclusive Growth (European Commission, 2010); Agenda for Sustainable Development 2030: Towards Successful Implementation in Poland (OECD, 2017) and Operational and Implementation: Roadmap to a Resource Efficient Europe (European Commission, 2011), European Green Deal (European Commission, 2019), obliging national governments to transform their economies for a sustainable future. In economic processes, this trend became institutionally applicable from 1992, i.e. from the adoption at the Second United Nations Conference, known as the Earth Summit, of Agenda 21 containing the Programme of Action for Sustainable Development (UN, 1992; Kołodziejczyk, 2015, pp. 77-78).

In the presented work, the following questions constitute the research problem: 1) what contemporary factors limit the implementation of sustainable and balanced development (SDG), 2) what challenges face the applicability of this concept at different levels of management, 3) can it be implemented and develop at a low rate of growth of the rate of investment in enterprises, science and R&D? and 4) what innovations: technical-technological, organizational, production, social, management will be strategic for the fulfillment of the SDG mission? In this context, it should be noted that the concept of SDG has an interdisciplinary character and is the subject of research of many sciences,

including economics, management and quality sciences, law, sociology, agricultural and regional policy. Therefore, one can also find in the literature the use of categories that are close to the concept of RTZ, e.g. sustainable development, eco-development and integrated development.

The cognitive aim of this paper is to present and explain the negative consequences of a linear economy and the rules of functioning of a circular economy (CE) as a model of production and supply chain management in the paradigm of sustainable development. The complementary aim is to indicate the factors conditioning the effective implementation of the circular economy model in the process of sustainable development at the micro and macro level. To achieve the objectives of the study, the method of desk research, comparative, modeling, descriptive, statistical and visualization was used. The source base is the world literature and statistical data from international organizations (EUROSTAT, WB, EU. FAO, OECD, ISO) and Central Statistical Office (CSO) of Poland. The scope of the study is global with particular emphasis on the EU area, including Poland.

The structure of the monograph reflects its objectives and includes two parts, which consist of 4 chapters plus introduction and conclusion. The first chapter presents the characteristics of the concept of linear economy and the effects of current economic processes in the linear model (Chapter I). Then, the concept of sustainable and balanced development is presented, highlighting the diversity of its models at the micro and macro level. An important role is played here by indicating the factors accelerating changes towards sustainable development (Chapter II).

The content of the first part of the monograph (Chapters I - II) stimulates the discussion on the perspectives of linear economy in the paradigm of sustainable development. In it, the authors pursue 5 objectives: a) present the characteristics of the development of economy in the linear model and the negative consequences resulting from it; b) present the concept of sustainable and balanced development distinguishing its main models at the micro and macro level; and c) discuss the limitations occurring today in the application of these models and factors supporting their effectiveness; d) interpret the advantages of circular economy over the linear model of management, in the pursuit of sustainable development; e) indicate the role of non-material factors of formal and informal institutions in the process of changing management models. The authors show that the circular economy is consistent with the concept of sustainable development (SDGs) and fits into the European Green Deal.

The next part II presents the concept, definitions and models of the circular economy and explains the principles of functioning of the circular economy (Chapter 3). The circular economy proposes some new rules of conduct for both

producers and consumers, mainly related to the optimal use of natural resources, optimizing the useful life of products and using them after their end of life through recycling or ultimately energy recovery. It draws attention to the need to change consumption patterns on the part of consumers and to prevent the phenomenon of obsolescence on the part of producers and current barriers limiting its effective implementation. Among the causal conditions in the development of this concept of economy, the authors point out the role of states in the institutional aspect, especially boards of supranational organizations (e.g. European Union), and in the subjective context, the knowledge and behavior of consumers and employees in the process of implementing the circular economy. Among other intangible factors, they present the role of innovation, especially technological innovation, recognizing its high importance in sustainable development. Chapter 4 presents some objective limitations and consequences resulting from the inviolable laws of nature and especially of physics, chemistry and nature, which the circular economy cannot exceed. To approximate them, the circulation of matter and energy in the biosphere caused by solar energy is described, taking into account inorganic and organic forms. The importance of the principle of conservation of energy and matter in nature and the importance of entropy is also emphasized. Three debatable problems related to CE are also presented at the end of this chapter. There are also debates in science about which are the barriers to economic goals such as unlimited availability of raw materials. increasing development and consumption. The authors emphasize that the circular economy is consistent with the concept of sustainable development (SDG) and is part of the European Green Deal.

Part I. From a linear economy to sustainability and the circular economy

Chapter 1: The linear economy and its consequences

1.1 Characteristics of the linear model of economy

In the world literature, it is assumed that the main negative phenomena created by linear economics in neoclassic paradigm are: the climate warming effect caused by the increase in the concentration of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere, the depletion of raw materials and the increasing trend of their prices along with their fluctuation in world markets, increasing environmental pollution, including water and food resources, local water scarcity, increasing municipal and industrial waste, increasing energy demand, destabilization of ecosystems and species extinction (Lee B. et. al., 2012). Economic actors in the linear model have long been unable to solve the problems generated by the effects of economic growth. Globalization, competition, the rising wealth of many societies, consumerism and the increase in the world's population, from around 6.8 billion today to over 9.8 billion in the next 30 years (UN, 2017), are causing a rapid increase in the consumption of basic resources, much of which is finite and nonrenewable, which is a natural barrier to future growth. Raw material consumption has doubled in the last forty years and will continue to rise sharply unless there is a rapid change in business models (Ellen MacArthur Foundation, 2013a, pp. 14-16). Even the development of resource-efficient technologies and the dramatic increase in the price of some raw materials cannot adequately address the dilemma of contemporary demand growth (Jackson, 2011, pp. 155-164). In addition, the far-reaching effects of economic growth, such as the impact on climate change and deregulation of the mechanisms of cycling of essential elements in the biosphere, population health and species extinction, must be taken into account. Thus, attention has gradually turned to the need to reduce the rate of growth and consumption, to the inclusion of external costs and environmental mechanisms in the evaluation of the management process, and to technological solutions such as material recycling and new technologies based on closed production cycles, the so-called circular technologies. In the search for the most effective models in the paradigm of sustainable and balanced development applied in the 21st century, the GC model is considered as one of the leading ones.

The linear model of economic development as currently understood can be briefly characterized as the following sequence of activities: acquisition of materials and raw materials - production (transformation into goods or services) - consumption and discard. The different stages of the production process are shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Development of food economic processes in a linear model Source: own elaboration.

The flow of raw materials and energy here is in one direction from the natural environment to the economic system, which sucks up resources and then burdens the ecosystem with the solid, liquid and gaseous wastes created in the process. In the initial phases of the process, there is an increase in value added until the finished product is obtained (represented as an upward-pointing arrow). Then, after acquisition, its value decreases over time (downward-pointing arrow). Its functionality also decreases, breakdowns occur and it needs maintenance or repair. After some time its value decreases to the minimum for the owner and he decides to dispose of it.

As Lester Brown (2006) argues, the global ecosystem is declining and shrinking, as evidenced by a variety of quantitative and qualitative data. These include decreasing area suitable for settlement, expanding desert areas, increasing population, rising ocean levels, land degradation and shrinking biocenozis. Population, consumption, livestock, intensive agricultural production are increasing. However, biodiversity is decreasing. These processes are accelerating, requiring a rapid preventive response.

In the past, economic actors sought to maximize economic benefits by increasing production and market share. The principles of this model were shaped in different historical formations and stages of agrarian or industrial development. The agrarian stage lasted for thousands of years. The Enlightenment saw the rapid advance of the natural sciences, beginning the wave of industrial development of the age of steam, coal and steel in the 18th century, and now driven by information and information technologies. Until recently, industrial societies did not clearly perceive the problems created by the linear economic model or consciously shifted them to poor and peripheral countries, relative to the centers of the world economy (Welford, 1998). Here we mean the physical movement of materials and energy across organizational, administrative and geographical barriers. The phenomenon of "displacement", i.e. moving part of

the production in order to reduce the negative impact of economic activity on the environment in a country with a high level of economic development, at the expense of another area, usually a country with a lower level of development (Korhonen, 2004), should be minimized. Numerous negative examples include the overexploitation of rainforest resources (e.g. Amazonia, Southeast Asia), which has a very negative impact on the environment there, as well as on the planet's climate (Mayer et al., 2005). There have also been exports and disposal of used products or dumping of manufacturing and even municipal waste from developed countries (e.g. the EU) on the territory of poorer countries (e.g. China). In 2018, at the UN COP24 Climate Summit on climate change and climate policy, representatives of these countries demanded reparations for the harm done and expect assistance in repairing the environment once destroyed (COP 24, 2018). The United States, on the other hand, at the aforementioned COP24 conference, opted for transparent methods of measuring emissions that would allow for an objective assessment of countries as polluters in order to enforce compensation from them. It is worth emphasizing in this context that there are examples and mechanisms proving the positive impact of more developed countries on the economy, efficiency, ecology and social affairs in less developed countries both directly and indirectly through supranational organizations such as the UN, WHO and WTO. It should also be acknowledged that craft and municipal waste were also a dilemma century ago, as evidenced today by sections of numerous excavations around the world, e.g. under the Krakow market square. numerous mine tailings piles, settling ponds near chemical factories (e.g. soda), polluted air and historical data. However, as already mentioned, in recent decades these problems have become particularly large and important. The main negative effects of linear model farming processes in the 21st century are discussed below.

1.2. The negative effects of linear model farming in the 21st century

1.2.1. The greenhouse effect

One of the main culprits of climate change on Earth, especially the increase in atmospheric temperature and further effects in the atmosphere, is carbon dioxide. This phenomenon, known as the greenhouse effect, causes further effects in the biosphere and translates directly or indirectly to the economy as a whole. According to global data from 2019, bi-carbon monoxide emissions into the atmosphere totalled around 36 million tonnes. The largest contributors were coal (14.5 million tons), petroleum fuels (12.5 million tonnes), natural gas (7 million tonnes) and cement production (2million tonnes) (www.globalcarbonatlas.org/en/CO2-emissions). Data for the period 2004-2016 show that all emission sources increased their share during this time, including coal 4.4 times, petroleum fuels 4 times and gas 4.9 times. It should also be noted that a significant emitter of carbon bi-oxide is now maritime and air transport.

Also "The residential sector, representing 27% and 17% of global energy consumption and CO2 emissions, respectively, has a considerable role to mitigate global climate change" (Nejat Payam. et al., 2015).

Table 1 presents data that document the increase in the amount of carbon dioxide emitted into the earth's atmosphere over the last 50 years. Previously, one of the main emitters, until the 1960s, was burning coal. In the following years, more carbon dioxide emissions came from the combustion of oil derivatives. In the middle of the previous century, natural gas and cement production joined the significant emitters. After 1950, the total emission of carbon dioxide into the atmosphere has had a strongly increasing trend, exceeding 8000 million tonnes on average per year, with some fluctuations related to economic crises.

Table 1. Total global emissions of di-carbon monoxide in Gt/year in five sectors from 1970 to 2019

Year	Sectors							
	Power	Industrial	Buildings	Transport	Other			
	industry	combustion			sectors			
1970	4	5	4,5	3	1,5			
1975	5,5	5,5	4	4	2			
1980	6	5	3,5	4	2,5			
1990	7	5	3,5	4,2	2,5			
2000	10	5,5	3	5,5	2,5			
2010	11,5	7,5	3,5	7	3,5			
2015	14	7,7	3,5	8	4,0			
2019	14,5	8,5	3,5	8,6	4,5			

Source: own study based on: Fossil CO2 emissions of all world countries - 2020 Report. https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/handle/JRC117610)

1.2.2. Degradation of ecosystems

The implementation of production in a linear system leads to the creation of various types of waste at individual stages of production processes. Large streams of waste materials are directed to landfills, settling ponds or mine waste dumps. Their management is possible, but difficult and costly. Production requires energy, and the extraction and processing of energy resources also generates waste. Open cast mining, for example, poses a great threat to the environment. Apart from the heaps of overburden soil on previously arable land, and often in human settlements, it also devastates water relations in large areas. A large proportion of the production materials are incinerated, generating not only carbon dioxide but various other gaseous inorganic substances such as sulphur dioxide or nitrogen oxides, as well as dust of various particle sizes. Some waste, especially from the chemical and pharmaceutical industries, poisons river and lake waters or groundwater, which is even more dangerous. There are numerous known

examples of such waste being stored in illegal and unsuitable landfill sites, and of its dangerous burning (deliberate fires) in Poland.

Similar problems are created not only by industrial production, but also by large-scale agricultural, horticultural and livestock production. According to J. Korhonen (2018), incineration of materials of biological origin to obtain energy should be the penultimate option in a number of other activities, while landfilling - the last one. Only in this way will the maximum economic and social value in the cyclical chain of transformation be preserved.

1.2.3. Enhancing water scarcity

Water availability is crucial for sustaining life on Earth, for food and (energy) production and for sustainable development. The demand for freshwater is increasing due to population growth, urbanization and changing diets. Agriculture and livestock farming are the largest users of water resources today. They also consume about 25% of the energy produced. Projected population growth in the next 30 years from over 6 billion to about 9 billion (UN, 2017) will increase the demand for these resources by about 50%. Although the basis of agriculture is still rainwater-based production, irrigated agriculture now already occupies 20% of arable land, i.e., 275 million hectares, and accounts for 40% of global food production. In order to feed the growing population it will be necessary to expand the area under irrigation. Table 2 shows past and projected data on this subject.

	1961	2006	2050
World	139,0	300,9	318,4
Highly developed countries	26,7	54,0	45,1
Medium-developed countries	66,46	137,9	159,4
Low developed countries	45,8	108,9	113,8

Table 2. Artificially irrigated area in million ha

Due to rapid population growth, water consumption has tripled over the past 50 years. This trend is largely explained by the rapid expansion of irrigation, stimulated by the demand for food in the 1970s and the continued growth of agriculture-based economies (http://www.unesco.org/new/en/natural-sciences/environment/water/wwap/facts-and-figures/all-facts-wwdr3/fact-24-irrigated-land). According to Salmon et al. (2015) "...Irrigation accounts for 70% of global water use by humans and 33-40% of global food production comes from irrigated croplands...". We estimate that 314 million hectares (Mha) worldwide were irrigated circa 2005. This includes 66 Mha of irrigated paddy cropland and 249 Mha of irrigated non-paddy cropland. Additionally, we estimate that 1047 Mha of cropland are managed under rain-fed conditions, including 63 Mha of rain-fed paddy cropland and 985 Mha of rain-fed non-paddy cropland".

Source: http://www.fao.org/docrep/017/i1688e/i1688e.pdf

New data published by FAO (2019) indicates that about 22% of croplands are artificially irrigated in 2019.

Despite the globe's almost infinite water resources in the oceans (97%), the demand for freshwater (of which 1% is land water, 2% is glaciers) is growing exponentially and its availability is limited in many regions of the world. This will result in the need to smart management of water resources for agricultural. sanitary, industrial and human uses by balancing supply and demand and by undertaking innovative solutions. These include advances in genetics and technologies to sustainably grow crops, livestock, fish and seafood with the possible efficiency (UN 2019) (http://www.unwater.org/waterhighest facts/water-food-and-energy). The answer to the question of whether nature's circular water cycle will be sufficient to meet future demand is not clear, although current demand is well below the planet's potential capacity (Taikan Oki, 2006). This circulation is strongly dependent on the climate system and the stewardship of this resource. It is estimated that currently 3800 km³ of water are consumed, which is about 10% of the total land water resources. Its main components are water from transpiration of crops (about 7600 km³ and pastures 14000 km³), representing about 1/3 of the total terrestrial water resources subject to evaporation and transpiration.

Increasing atmospheric and soil pollution, scarcity and contamination of terrestrial (rivers, lakes) and deep water, increasing municipal and industrial waste, increasing demand for energy resources, energy, and many basic materials (Lee et. al., 2012) pose numerous problems for ecosystems in individual countries and for the globe as a whole.

1.2.4. The increasing trend in the extraction of non-renewable raw materials

For a long time, the linear economy has been unable to face the problems generated by the effects of its growth, the causes of which include consumerism, the increase in wealth of many societies, and the growth of the world population. There are currently about 6.8 billion people living on Earth. Demographic forecasts predict that in the next 30 years it will increase to over 9 billion (UN World Population, 2017). Current economic development trends suggest that a relative slowdown in world product growth and raw material needs will lead to a decline in resource demand. However, these reductions according to Jackson will be caused by a sharp increase in material prices (Jackson, 2011). Consumption of various raw materials has increased by a factor of two or more in the last forty years. Below, Tables 3 - 5 present data on the extraction of various important raw materials and materials in the last few decades. Similar data have been presented in other sources (Schafartzik et al., 2014). Further increases in demand are to be expected if there is no rapid change in business models (Ellen Macarthur Foundation, 2013, pp. 14-16).

Year	Coal mln/t	Crude oil (thousand barrels a day)	Electricity (mld kWh)
1990	4700	60400	10395
1995	4600	62430	13500
2000	4500	68300	15500
2005	6000	73500	15800
2010	7500	74200	21500
2015	7200	79800	24500
2018	7800	95000	26000
2019	7900	100000	26100
2020	7600	•	25500

Table 3. Global energy resources extraction and electricity production from 1990 to 2020

Source: coal (www.iea.org/newsroom/energyshapshots.world-total-coal-production-1971-2016.html); crude oil (www.indexmundi.com/energy); electricity (https://www.statista.com/statistics/270281/electricity-generation-worldwide)

Between 1965 and 2020, the production volume and the structure of the share of energy raw materials as primary energy carriers changed. Coal mining increased from about 3 to almost 8 billion tonnes in 2019 (Table 3). However, in the period of the Covid-19 pandemic, the demand for coal decreased due to lockdown and to the contraction of economies, the output fell to 7.6 billion t in 2020. The share of coal among energy resources is decreasing and ranges from 25 to 38%. In Poland, on the other hand, the production of energy from wind installations has increased in recent years and photovoltaic sources are growing. Currently the electricity mix in Poland is 48% hard coal. 17% lignite. 25% renewable energy sources about 10% other and (https://300gospodarka.pl/300klimat/transformacja-energetyczna-polska-2020forum-energii-spadek-wegiel). Oil production has increased from 1965 to 2020 by more than 300% % (Table 3). The decline in oil demand between 1973 and 1975 (the so-called oil crisis) led to the formation of the OPEC organization. After it was brought under control, the demand for oil increased in line with the development of motorization. Since 2000, oil demand has been increasing and production reached 100,000 barrels per day in 2019.

The years 1965- 2017 saw a slow increase in the share of natural gas in meeting energy demand from about 14% to about 24%. Hydropower resources have remained almost constant at around 8%. Nuclear power increased its share from zero to around 7% in the 1990s. But after 2005 its share decreased and currently remains at around 5%. A noticeable share of renewable energy has taken place since the end of the 20th century but has now only reached a level of about a dozen percent of demand

(https://www.bp.com/content/dam/bp/en/corporate/pdf/energy-

economics/statistical-review/bp-stats-review-2018-full-report.pdf).

One projection for the future is given below in Table 4.

	2001	2020	2040
Oil equivalent (million ton equivalent)	10.000	11.500	13.300
Renawable sources contribution	13,6%	23,6%	47,7%

Table 4. Global Renewable Energy Projections

Source: Demirbas, 2009.

As stated in Global Energy Review (2021) renewable energy use in 2020 reach approximately level of 29 % as demand for all other fuels declined. This result is significantly better than forecast (Table 4), indicating a determination to increase their share in the world's 'energy mix'.

In the production of steel (Table 5), three periods can be distinguished after 1950: growth (1950-1985), slowdown (1985-2000) and more than doubling after 2000. Between 1950 and 2015 it increased tenfold. The development of aluminium production was much faster. Between 1975 and 2017 it increased fivefold. There has been a systematic increase in copper production from 2.1 million tonnes in the 1950s to 20 million tonnes in 2020.

Year	Steel (million tonnes)	Aluminium (thousand tonnes) *	Copper (million tonnes) *	Lithium (thousand tonnes) *	Rare earth oxides (thousand tonnes) *
1970	595	-	5,9	8,0	16
1980	717	15,1	6,8	9,5	26
1990	770	19,5	9,5	15,0	41
2000	850	24,6	13,5	20,0	83
2005	1148	31,5	15,1	-	-
2010	1433	42,20	16,0	28,0	120
2015	1621	58,57	-	-	200
2017	1732	73,7	-	-	-
2019	1869	-	-	-	-
2020	-	65,3	20,0	82,0	240

Table 5. World production of selected strategic metals from 1970 to 2020

Sources: steel – www.world.steel.org/steel-by-topic/statistics/World-Steel-in-Figures.html; alluminium: www.world-aluminium.org/statistica/#data; lithium:

e.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lithium_as-an_investment; copper: https://upload.wikimedia.org; https://www.statista.com/topics/1409/copper/#dossierKeyfigures; rare earth oxides: https://www.statista.com/ statistics/1187186/global-rare-earths-mine-production/ https://upload.wikimedia.org/Wikipedia/commons/9/93/Rareearth_production.svg

The growth in the extraction of rare earth oxides and the production of metals such as lithium and rare earth metals is much faster. Lithium production, due to demand between 1950 and 2015, increased from 10 to 600 thousand tonnes and continues to grow. The level of its production in different years has fluctuated widely in the short term progressing along a rapidly increasing average.

Rare earth oxide production followed an upward trend with strong fluctuations until 2000, while it is now increasing rapidly due to the demands of modern industry (wind turbines, aircraft, professional and consumer electronics, liquid crystal displays, fibre optics, X-ray films, strong magnets, reactor control rods and many others) (Klupa, 2012; Global, 2018; Global Rare Earth Metal, 2018; Zhou et.al. 2017). Across the group of these elements and their compounds, there is so far some excess of supply over demand.

Platinum and the platinum group are also economically important metals. The maximum production of platinum took place in 2006 and amounted to about 220 tonnes. The total production of these metals in the years 2008 - 2012 was at the level of: 468, 448, 467, 487 and 451 tonnes per year. The share of platinum each vear oscillated to about 190 tonnes (USGS 2012) decreasing to 160 tonnes in 2014. In the following years it increased to 190 tonnes before decreasing again to 170 tonnes 2020 (https://www.statista.com/statistics/1170691/minein production-of-platinum-worldwide). Due to very high market prices, much of the metals in this group, especially platinum, are recovered from discarded car parts. Gold is also among the metals important in industry. Its extraction was sufficient for about 75 % of the annual demand. The rest is covered by recycling. Of this source, around 90 % comes from jewellery purchases and the remaining 10 % from industrial recovery (https://www.gold.org/about-gold/gold-supply). In 2018 and 2019, the total extraction was 3509 and 3464 tonnes, respectively. In addition, the market was supplied with recycled gold in quantities of 1176 and 1304 tonnes (https://www.gold.org/goldhub/research/gold-demand-trends/golddemands-trends-full-year-2019/supply).

Similarly to the growing production of energy raw materials and basic metals characterized above, the production of basic chemical products is also increasing (Table 6). Among many large-tonnage products of heavy organic and inorganic chemistry one should mention plastics, sulphuric acid, ammonia, fertilizers of key importance for many branches of economy.

Year	Plastics	Ammonia	Total fertilizers	Sulphuric acid
1960	-	12	33,51	50
1975	50	51,5	94,12	110
1980	-	80	124,72	140
1990	100	98	148,29	162
1995	137	90	142,69	160
2000	190	100	143,18	180
2005	222	120	172,01	210
2010	270	130	193,22	-
2015	322	146	207,98	260
2016	335	-	230,00	252
2019/20	368	230	250,00	256

Table 6. Production of selected chemical products (million tonnes) in 1960-2020

Sources: plastics: https://www.statista.com/statistics/282732/global-production-of-plasticssince-1950/; ammonia: http://www.roperld.com/science/minerals/ammonia.htm; fertilizers:

https://ourworldindata.org/fertilizer-and-pesticides;

http://www.fao.org/3/ca6746en/ca6746en.pdf;

sulphuric acid: https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/handle/JRC121460

In 1950 the production of plastics was less than 1.5 million tonnes and today it exceeds 365 million tonnes, creating great problems for the land, rivers and sea environment. They have advantages such as resistance to weathering, high mechanical strength in relation to their weight, resistance to external and even chemical agents, and ease of shaping. They often replace many natural materials (e.g. fibres) or construction materials (wood, light metals), but they also have many disadvantages. They are very harmful to the environment due to their resistance to degradation by external factors of a chemical and micro-biological nature. As Śmiechowska (2019) writes, plastic particles are now found not only in the body of fish and other marine organisms, but also in the internal organs of humans posing a health risk. As reported by (Hernandez et. al., 2019), their source is also teabags, among others.

The increasing production of heavy inorganic chemicals such as ammonia, fertilizers in general and particular types of fertilizer, especially phosphorous and sulphuric acid, means that crop yields are rising, which should be regarded as positive. However, the pollution of groundwater, lakes and rivers, and consequently of the sea, is increasing. An increase in the concentration of inorganic substances in water, adversely affects the changes in these ecosystems.

Pesticide use in the period since the 1940s has been - almost zero, increased to about 3 million tonnes in 2000 (Tillamann et al., 2002) and is still increasing rapidly (Table 7). (http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/RP/visualize).

Year	1950*	1970*	1990*	1995	2000	2005	2010	2015	2019
Production	0,100	1,400	2,500	2,711	3,082	3,452	4,015	4,128	4,151
*Data approximation from Tillaman et al. (2002)									

Table 7. World production of pesticides (million tonnes)

The breakdown of pesticides in soil occurs at different rates. However, trace amounts of one of the first - DDT and its breakdown products are still present in ecosystems today. More detailed data on the increasing use of pesticides and their impact on crop production can be found in (Wen Jun Zhang, 2018).

1.2.5. Increasing supply risks

In a linear economy, as the economy grows, the uncertainty about the availability of raw materials and materials also increases. This uncertainty is due to the fact that the Earth has a finite amount of materials, the availability of which depends on various factors. These include global market mechanisms, available technologies, extraction costs, price fluctuations, limited supply of certain materials, the subsequent atomization of many raw materials (dispersion) and others. It consists in the fact that some raw materials extracted by industrial methods from the lithosphere are dispersed on a different scale and their recovery depends on it. For example, scrap iron is easy to melt, but gold used to coat the contacts in a mobile phone is not. Other raw materials, after being used (e.g. coal, oil), are transformed into carbon dioxide, which in the biosphere can be included in the assimilation process and transformed into plants, but never into lignite or hard coal. Threats to the availability of materials translate into price fluctuations, the health of industries, the formation of product-process relationships and even the emergence of economic crises.

Significant fluctuations in the prices of basic raw materials (e.g. oil) cause perturbations not only in the market for petroleum products and give rise to serious economic crises (e.g. the fuel crisis of the late 1960s). This crisis led to the formation of an organization of countries with the character of a cartel, the large oil producers - OPEC. Such events raise concerns for producers and buyers and increase risks in doing business (Lee et. al., 2012). Some of the above-mentioned raw materials and commodities are now among those critical to the further development of certain industries. These include the metal, electrical engineering, computer, automotive, and transportation industries, where fluctuations in material and component prices make it difficult to predict and reduce competitiveness against other industries (Accenture, 2014; Lee et. al., 2012). This is evident in pandemic periods that destabilize or break supply chains especially air and sea. Recently, there has been a fuel crisis in EU countries and the UK caused by rising fuel prices. In addition, the availability of containers on transoceanic routes has decreased.

However, it turned out that the linear economy, although it contributed to the material growth of industrialised countries, caused much irreversible damage (Sariati, 2017; Kvoto Protocol, 1997 and 2005; UN Climate Conferences). The cited sources states that in the past, consumers of natural resources came from highly developed regions and many material and raw materials were imported from poor countries experiencing an abundance of cheap material resources and energy. Imported raw materials were cheap compared to the cost of human labour in the home countries. As a result, production models were based on extensive use of materials and saved human labour. Moreover, by using cheap resources, they gained a competitive advantage as a complement to human capital. A natural consequence of cheap resources was their overuse or waste and reluctance to reuse them (recycling). Producers as well as consumers did not pay attention to environmental externalities. In turn, the Kyoto Protocol "operationalizes the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change by committing industrialized countries and economies in transition to limit and reduce greenhouse gases (GHG) emissions in accordance with agreed individual targets". Recently concluded UN Climate Conference in Glasgow Nov. 2021 (https://ukcop26.org/cop26-goals/) will put stress on "the phase-out of coal, curtail deforestation, speed up the switch to electric vehicles, encourage investment in renewable" and finalize the Paris Rulebook (the detailed rules that make the Paris Agreement as well to accelerate action to tackle the climate crisis through collaboration between governments, businesses and civil society).

SUMMARY

This section of the paper presents the main negative effects on the development of economic and social growth and the environment occurring in a linear economy. These are:

- the greenhouse effect, for which all sources of energy emissions are responsible, showing an increase:
- degradation of ecosystems involving producers, service providers and consumers,
- pollution and reduction of water resources and their availability, for which population growth is also to blame,
- increased demand for raw materials for energy, metals and chemicals,
- increased risk to security of supply and operations.

The demonstrated environmental and social losses are the basis for making other choices in the management process, i.e. changes towards sustainable development. This is influenced by changes in mentality, culture and awareness of societies. These changes are determined by formal institutions and intellectual capital, including social capital. Authors in earlier studies proved that raising its level increases the efficiency of public management, entrepreneurship, the quality of business processes and innovation (Skawińska, ed. 2012, pp. 46-63). One may ask, however, if we are dealing with economic growth, is this phenomenon accompanied by intellectual development of people, in connection with the possibility then to increase spending on the education, research, acquisition of knowledge, skills, development of abilities? Well, it turns out that these opportunities are not always realistically exploited. For the priority of needs is often determined in the state's investment policy according to the criterion of priority in satisfying existential (food) or demographic needs. Meanwhile, in another paper (Brzeczek, 2011, p. 197, Tab. 8.3), the author found a moderate statistically significant correlation between education level and individual social capital. This could mean that as the level of education increases, social capital increases. But this is not the case, because its level is the result of many social capital resources, not one. Moreover, in the process model of social capital formation, education, social networks, public organisations, institutions, NGOs and others have a strong influence on its level (Skawińska, Zalewski, 2020 s. 186). Some of them may then reinforce their negative impact on social capital, e.g. trust, norms and values, solidarity. That is why these resources need to be built and grown by the system of institutions in the first place. Already the posing of the above questions and the ambiguity of their answers in the literature indicate the great importance of the problem undertaken and the lack of sufficient recognition through empirical research.

Therefore, in the next chapter (II), the authors explain the concept of sustainable and balanced development and the principles on which it is based and the conditions whose improvement will foster its implementation.

Chapter 2: Sustainable and balanced development in the context of EU policies

2.1 The concept of sustainable development

Alternative economic theory for counteracting the negative social, economic and ecological effects in the resulting global economic disorder points to proposals in complexity economics, including new institutional economics (Coase, 1998; Williamson, 1973; North, 1960; Wojtyna, 2014; Rogowska, 2021; Zrałek, 2016), social economics, new pragmatism (Kołodko, 2020), ecological economics (Constanza, 1992) and sustainable development economics (Daly, 1996; Rogall, 2010; European Commission, 2010).

Today, sustainable development economy is the dominant trend in the economics of the future. A simple definition of sustainable development is non-declining human wellbeing over time (Pearce, Atkinson, Dubourg, 1994).

It is in the process of development and definition and represents a new paradigm of economics as a scientific discipline. This is because it proposes a change in values, objectives and ways of achieving them by actors in the economic process at each level. These changes have already been reflected in the strategies of many global international organizations, e.g. WTO (Puślecki, 2021) and in the policy objectives of governments of European Union members and other countries. They are intended to counteract the deepening economic and socio-economic and ecological imbalance in the current process of management, implemented according to the principles of neoliberal economics in a linear model. This is indicated by the development of the Compass for Systemic Change (Rome Report, 2020).

Representatives of the economics of sustainable development presented their views at various international organizations as early as the 1970s. Reflections on this subject, in connection with global threats to the future development of the world, were mainly aroused by the Report of Secretary General U'Thant entitled "Man and his Environment" from 1969 and Reports for the Club of Rome: "Limits to Growth" of 1972. (Meadows et al, 1973) and "Mankind at a Turning Point" (Mesarovic, Pestel, 1974). The date of the formation of the theory of sustainable development is taken to be the 1980s, as in 1972, at the first UN conference "Only One Earth" in Stockholm, the terms "environmental policy" and "environmental protection" were introduced. Then, in 1975, the United Nation Ecological Programme (UNEP) Governing Council of the United Nations

gave the first formally defined definition of sustainable development in its environmental programme.¹

Note that as a result of the financial and economic crisis at the turn of the first and second decades of the 21st century, there has been increased intellectual effort in the more pragmatic direction of sustainable development economics (SDE). There is increasing pressure on the practical usefulness of its assumptions, bearing in mind the sustainability of development, threatened by the rate of population growth, changes in its structure, the scale of environmental deterioration, the development of consumerism and the growth of economic inequalities. Therefore, it is difficult not to notice that an increasing number of economists, as well as representatives of other sciences, mainly sociologists, psychologists and politicians, as well as intellectuals in Poland, leaning on this problem, undertake discussions about the economy of the future (Forum of Strategic Thought; Kołodko, 2017; Filek, 2017). They are interdisciplinary in nature as evidenced by the cited context of not only the limits of economic growth and dysfunctions of the modern economy, but also ethics, justice, morality, culture, norms and values. This is evidenced by the fact that in 2015. UN in the "Agenda for Sustainable Development"- (UN Agenda, 2030) formulated as many as 17 cross-cutting goals for this development (https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/).

The UN Agenda 21 and its successor, the Agenda 2030, are important documents that provide inspiration on sustainable development and environmental protection and guidance for the development of regional sustainable development strategies. They form the basis of the European Union's socio-economic development programmes for 2000-2030, as reflected in the Lisbon Strategy, Europe 2020 and the current strategy, Europe 2030 (European Commission, 2019), which includes assumptions on sustainable development and growth (including on the basis of the circular economy, social inclusion and the investment programme for research, technological development and innovation, Horizon Europe (European Commission, 2019a). According to the Europe 2030 strategy (European Commission, 2019), the EU is to become a world leader in implementing the concept of sustainable development. This document proposes rational policies concerning the common good and the increase in the quality of life at local and regional levels.

¹ The first definition of the 3 interdependent pillars of sustainable development (economic, social and ecological) appeared in 1987 in the Report G. Brundtland "Our Common Future" of the UN World Commission on Environment and Development. A calendar of the development of thought concerning this category is contained, among others, in the work by E. Skawińska; R. I. Zalewski; B. Lubos (2016), Commission of Commodity Sciences of the Polish Academy of Sciences, Poznań Branch.p.59.

The addressees of the policy of such development are all actors at the macro and micro level. At the micro level, for example, models are proposed:

- Corporate Social Responsibility CSR (Adamczyk, 2009; Fiedor, 2016; Filek, 2017; Corroll, 2018), and Total Quality Management (TQM), increasing the quality of processes, goods and services (Zalewski, 2016),
- Sustainability, sustainable enterprises (Grudzewski et al., 2010; Hejduk, 2016),
- Sustainable supply chain (UN, 2015). (Koberg E., Longoni A., 2019).

In turn, from a macro perspective, models are invoked:

- moderation and low-carbon economy (Kołodko, 2014, pp. 30 34; 2017 p. 67),
- economical management of natural, non-renewable resources (Reports for the Club of Rome and Reports of the Council of this Club; Poskrobko, 2007; Wąsowicz, 2011 and 2014; Borys, 2010),
- social market economy (Pysz, 2008; Mączyńska, 2010, p. 20 21),
- inclusive economic and non-economic institutions; formal and informal (Kolodko, 2014, p.19; Filek, 2017, p.34),
- neutral (zero growth) and negative growth (degrowth) models, promoting lower economic growth rates (Wordwatch Institute, 2012, pp.22ff)
- the country's ecological footprint, which quantifies the nation's natural resources and their consumption (Global, 2018).

It follows from the above that sustainable development is a concept in which model solutions are sought that would indicate harmony in the use of resources and the application of instruments and methods of action that enable sustainability of development. These models are oriented towards shaping the current economic, social and environmental order and the future, as a desired state in the face of civilization threats.

However, questions arise:

- 1. what is the degree of adaptation of real processes to the SDE theory taking place in countries with different levels of economic development?
- 2. what is the state of knowledge about the effects of implementing the assumptions of this theory in individual countries?

The pursuit of answers to these questions inspires research and the search for evaluation measures and the construction of further model proposals.

Chapter 2: Sustainable and balanced development in the context of EU policies

2.2 Socio-economic aspects of sustainable development

Thinking back to the conceptualization of sustainable development in the SDE, we notice that in relation to the paradigm of neo-liberal economics², the interests of the theory have broadened to include the environmental and social aspects of the management process. What is more, the quality of life of societies has become a fundamental element in the construction and understanding of the term "sustainable development". Well, in the light of the findings of the Second UN Conference of 1992³, sustainable development means "a process of change in which the use of natural resources, the directions of technological development and institutional change must take place in such a way as to meet the needs of the present generation without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs". In this definition, as emphasised by I. Hejduk, it is the development and improvement of the quality of life of present and future generations that is highlighted (Hejduk, 2014, p.48), as well as the increase in social cohesion (reduction of income polarization).

Further considering this issue, it should be stated that the social dimension included in the category of quality of life is reflected in the food security of the society (physical and economic availability), in the assurance of employment and work, in the access to health protection of citizens, without limiting or excluding them from the participation in the production of national income. This means, inter alia, guaranteeing:

- on the labour market availability of work in accordance with qualifications and skills, improvement of the quality of working conditions, observance of workers' rights and the formation of favourable wages, as well as social security,
- on the investment market investment in human capital, through various forms of employee education, development of adaptability of the employed,
- on the cultural, educational and scientific market opportunities for selfrealization of the population and use of offered goods and services.

However, let us ask whether this is possible in every country? The answer in the affirmative is provided by G. Kołodko, who proposes the application of economic policy instruments shaping an economy of moderation in each country. The author defines the concept of economy of moderation as "adjustment of the

² Where the economic power of companies has been directed towards increasing profit (profitability, productivity), and this has increased the consumption of resources and created barriers to development. In the light of SD, other values should also be the motive for action.

³ The so-called Earth Summit in Rio de Janeiro. The Declaration on Environment and Development called the Earth Charter and the Agenda 21 document containing the Programme of Action for Sustainable Development were adopted there.

size of streams - human, natural, financial and material - to the requirement of maintaining a dynamic balance". Its basis, as the author states, is to be moderation on the supply and demand side, i.e. in production and consumption. It is about moderation expressed in the creation of the productive capacity of companies, in indebtedness, in marketing instruments developing the needs of consumers and in differences in income and wealth. (Kołodko, 2014 p. 33). It is the lack of moderation in economic processes that causes imbalances in the environment. Meanwhile, its balancing is a condition for the growth of national prosperity (Corrigran et al.ll, 2014). The increase in environmental protection and reduction of the mentioned environmental imbalance is influenced by formal institutions of national and international policy, concerning the use of renewable resources and counteracting environmental degradation (Kowalski, Weresa 2021, p.23). This does not mean diminishing the role of informal institutions, among them mainly knowledge and social capital. On the contrary, they constitute elements of the local and regional environment as basic determinants of the quality of formal institutions, national policies and the effectiveness of their implementation. The view that in the implementation of sustainable development strategies, social capital is a priority (Kronenberg, Bergier, 2010, p. 24; Matson, Clark, Andersson, 2016, p. 46) is gaining popularity.

Assuming that the primary goal of sustainable development economy is the quality of life of the society and its growth, let us look at the evaluation of this category in Poland. Of course, one should bear in mind the methodological weaknesses of measuring the quality of life, as a widely understood economic and social-cultural concept, especially in the comparative aspect, as pointed out by E. Polak (2018, pp.423-426). Since there is no single measure to assess this category, such indicators (measures) were used in which strategically important elements of the quality of life category dominate (Table 8).

The indicators in Table 8 give a rough indication of a country's assessment of its quality of life. Ewa Polak points to the good direction of changes in this area in Poland. But she also lists its weaknesses as components of this category. These include: "relatively low life expectancy, low level of people's trust in authority and in each other, low social activity of Poles, structural problems of the labour market, low income, income polarization, low level of accessibility to affordable housing, poorly functioning health care system, high rate of premature deaths, alarmingly high suicide rate" (Polak, 2018, p. 437). The level of indicators in Table 8 was influenced by the global Covid-19 pandemic, which lasts in 2020 and 2021. The current assessment of their level requires research using a uniform research methodology for all countries. Partial data for Poland indicate a reduction in the ranking of the SEDA, WHI, SLI and HPI indicators.

Chapter 2: Sustainable and balanced development in the context of EU policies

No. Indicator			Numl	ber of	Poland's rank	
		Dominant dimensions of quality of life	countries surveyed		Totanu	1 5 Talik
			2017	2020	2017	2020
1	ESCAPE	Quality of growth, stability, social cohesion, sustainability, institutions, technology	42		21	
2	SEDA	Health, access to healthy water sanitation	150	141	27	28
3	WHI	Life expectancy, job security, trust in government, consumption levels	156	149	42	43
4	BLI	Employment and life security social support, education	38	40	27	27
5	EPI	Environmental performance, state of nature biodiversity, health care	132	100	22	16
6	EHCI	State of health care	37		31	
7	HDI	Life expectancy, school enrolment GDP p.c.	168	189	36	35
8	SLI	Health, life satisfaction	178	95	51	73
9	HPI	Life expectancy, ecological footprint, well-being, social stratification	140		62	71
10	Gini	Income stratification	136	130	51	21

Table 8. Poland's position in the assessment of quality of life using the indicator method in 2017 and 2020 $\,$

Explanation of symbols: ESCAPE - escape from stagnation after the financial crisis for developed economies; SEDA – Sustainable Economic Development Assessment; WHI – World Happiness Index; BLI – Better Life Index; EPI – Environmental Performance Index; EHCI – Euro Health Consumer Index; HDI – Human Development Index; SLI – Satisfaction with Life Index; HPI – Happy Planet Index; Gini coefficient – Income stratification.

Source: own elaboration for 2017 based on Polak E., 2018 pp. 425-437, and for 2020 the sources are given below:

No. 3. World Happiness Index https://countryeconomy.com/demography/world-happinessindex, No.4. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/OECD Better Life Index#2020 ranking,

No. 5. hpps://epi.yale.edu, No. 7. http://hdr.undp.org., No. 9. http://happyplanetindex.org, No.10. https://www.statista.com/forecasts/1171540/gini-index-by-country

2.3 Environmental aspects of the economics of sustainable development

As already mentioned, the economics of sustainable development emphasizes the efficient use of existing environmental resources in order to preserve them for future generations. In addition to the economical use of resources, priority is given to the protection of nature against devastation, overuse and to ensuring climate neutrality. The way to achieve these goals is becoming the restoration of biodiversity, which is a guarantee for the maintenance of ecosystem services and the provision of ecosystem services, which are the basis for prosperity and the source of financial capital (Skubała, 2010, p. 26; WWF, 2020). The importance of addressing these issues has become particularly topical in the aftermath of the Covid-19 pandemic crisis and the intensification of climate disruption in the 21st century, resulting in catastrophic events. This is evidenced by the voices of the leaders of 196 countries of the world at the UN COP 26 world climate summit in Glasgow in November 2021, backed up by dramatic words from politicians, experts and representatives of NGOs and business, on the global environmental imbalance. Once again, concern for the future of the world shines through at UN conferences by criticizing unsustainable production and consumption patterns and logistics. In practice, however, there is no such unanimity among decision-makers as to establish guidelines for shaping formal institutions so that knowledge of existing threats can influence practical countermeasures and ensure effective, coherent strategies in the fight for sustainable development at national and global levels.

However, the economist, being obliged to take an interdisciplinary view of contemporary economic phenomena, should evaluate the natural environment through the functions it performs. Therefore, below, the functions of natural capital are presented in the context of biodiversity and ecosystem services, as well as the threats resulting from their loss, due to a violation of environmental stability.

Natural capital is, in other words, the natural capital that constitutes the earth and everything on its surface and in its interior that is useful to humans but is not the result of human labour. According to R. Constanza and H. Daly, natural capital is the extension of economic capital by environmental goods and services (Constanza, Daly, 1992). It is divided into renewable, i.e. self-sustaining or regrowing (e.g. solar energy, to some extent land, ecosystems, water) and nonrenewable (e.g. oil, coal, natural gas, minerals), and the authors have already written about the state of their use in chapter I of this work. Natural capital, together with the services it provides, determines the existence of societies and life on Earth. Meanwhile, over the last 30 years or so, its resources have declined by 40% (UNEP 2018). The functions of natural capital are ecological, sociocultural and economic (Jeżowski 2012). The possibility and extent to which they are realized is largely determined by biodiversity. This category refers to "the diversity of all living organisms found on earth in terrestrial, marine and freshwater ecosystems and the ecological communities of which they are part. It includes diversity within species, between species and of ecosystems" (Convention 1992). Its deteriorating status in relation to food and agriculture is reflected in an FAO report (FAO 2019).

Biodiversity is important for food security and health and is reflected in the ecosystem services provided, particularly in agriculture, medicine and industry, but also in recreation and tourism. These include the provision of food production on land and in the sea, water, wood, cellulose and renewable raw materials. They

can therefore be called production services. Conversely, waste treatment, absorption and regeneration, air regulation, climate regulation, pollination, mitigation of extreme weather events, etc., are regulating services. Cultural services, which include recreation and tourism, arts and culture, play an increasingly important role in societies seeking to increase well-being. According to B. Poskrobko, environmental services can be divided into biological-ecological (processes that provide people with a basis for life and development) and socio-economic (everything that is relevant to economic processes) (Poskrobko 2010).

The data in Figure 2 on environmental products and services indicate that Poland faces urgent challenges to catch up faster with the peloton of European countries in terms of their development, although the value added of the eco-industry, i.e. the sector of environmental products and services, compared to GDP is the same in Poland as the EU average and was in 2018. 2,2%.



Figure 2. Value added of the environmental products and services sector relative to GDP in 2018 (in %)

Source: Economic Weekly (04.11.2021), Polish Economic Institute, Warsaw (https://pie.net.pl/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Tygodnik-Gospodarczy-PIE_44-2021.pdf)

Meanwhile, in the literature, it was already recognised at the beginning of the 21st century that humanity benefits from the biodiversity resources of future generations, and not vice versa, taking into account the need for intergenerational justice (Venetoulis J., Talberth J. 2006). The problem of this justice has long been considered in philosophy, ethics and economics, but no coherent theory of justice for modern times is yet available. An exhaustive review of various approaches in literature to the problem of obligations towards future generations is presented by Katarzyna G. Sobiech-Grabka in the context of undertaking public-private

partnership projects, from the perspective of the theory of justice. She states that "what connects the present generation with future generations is the environment in which they are likely to live" (Sobiech-Grabka 2019, p. 57) and reminds us that in Article 2 of the 1997 Constitution of the Republic of Poland there is an indication of the need to "realize social justice" (s. 58).

Understanding that social justice also concerns future generations, measures should be taken to stop further impoverishment of biodiversity, reflected in habitat loss, species extinction and reduction of gene diversity in populations. Human economic activity should therefore conserve the natural environment and help maintain it, in accordance with the principle of intergenerational equity. However, climate change, i.e. increases in air temperature, warming and sea levels, ocean acidification, etc., pose an additional risk of reducing biodiversity. The extent of these adverse global changes since 1970 is confirmed by various indicators presented, inter alia, in the WWF report mentioned above.

The increase in environmental protection and the reduction of its imbalance mentioned above are influenced by formal institutions of national and international policy concerning the use of its resources and counteracting environmental degradation (Kowalski, Weresa 2021, p. 23). This does not mean diminishing the role of informal institutions, and among them mainly knowledge and social capital. On the contrary, they constitute elements of the local and regional environment as basic determinants of shaping the quality of formal institutions, national policies and the effectiveness of their implementation. The view that in the implementation of sustainable development strategies, social capital is a priority (Kronenberg, Bergier, 2010, p. 24; Matson, Clark, Andersson, 2016, p. 46) is gaining popularity. Therefore, the search for regional models and reconstruction of existing patterns of sustainable development, in the aspect of the European Green Deal, becomes so important.

2.4. EU policy for sustainable development

The problem of sustainable development was raised in literature already in the first half of the 20th century in the context of the development of economically weak countries. However, formally, the category of sustainable development appeared first in the documents of international organizations, including the EEC, and then in national normative acts. The Single European Act came into force in 1987 and defined the principles of sustainable and balanced development in the Community countries. In turn, the principles promoting such development were included in the EU Lisbon Strategy, adopted by the European Council in 2000. Subsequently, in 2001, the Gothenburg European Council endorsed the EU Sustainable Development Strategy as a set of recommendations complementing the Lisbon Strategy. The 2004 Treaty establishing a Constitution for Europe, as well as the 2007 Treaty of Lisbon amending the Treaty on European Union and the Treaty establishing the European Community, state that the basis for the EU's development will be sustainable development based on a social market economy. The theoretical assumptions of this model take into account the adaptation of economic policy methods and instruments to a competitive economic order.

Currently, the core EU document in this regard is the European Green Deal, adopted by the European Commission in July 2021, which continues the EU strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth, Europe 2020 - A strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth. Already in this strategy, a new paradigm was formulated for the development of sustainable enterprises using sustainable innovation. Furthermore, the use of EU financial support by individual national entities was made conditional on the implementation of the policies set out in the strategy. Member State-specific commitments and targets have been consolidated in national strategies for sustainable and balanced development.

Seven flagship initiatives have been identified among the objectives of the Europe 2020 strategy. From the point of view of the circular economy, the Innovation Union Initiative and Resource Efficient Europe are important. The 7th Environmental Action Programme, which directly relates to circular economy principles, entered into force in 2013. Its guiding vision is: "In 2050, citizens enjoy a good quality of life within the ecological limits of the planet. Our prosperity and a healthy environment result from an innovative circular economy where nothing is wasted and natural resources are managed sustainably" (European Commission, 2013). In turn, the UN, in paragraph 12 of Agenda 2030, demands:

- improve resource efficiency and the efficient use of materials at all stages of their life cycle,
- strengthen the implementation of the Innovation and Efficiency Strategy,
- ensuring strong national frameworks for sustainable consumption and production integrated into national and sectorial plans, and
- use economic instruments on a larger scale to promote more efficient waste management (cf. OECD, 2017, p. 15).

The European Green Deal strategy goes even further, assuming that by 2050 Europe will become the first climate-neutral continent by, among other things, significantly reducing greenhouse gas emissions and the processes that cause emissions (e.g. energy and transport industries, agriculture), economic growth will not be based on the consumption of natural resources, and economic processes will be based on low-carbon and circular industry and sustainable agriculture and food production 'from farm to fork', neutral for the climate and the environment (European Commission, 2021a;

https://ec.europa.eu/info/strategy/priorities-2019-2024/european-green-deal pl).

In Poland, the concept of sustainable development, in connection with the model of a social market economy as the basis of the economic system of the Republic of Poland, is included in the Constitution of the Republic of Poland of 1997, in the National Development Strategy until 2025 adopted by the Parlament - Seim (Strategy, 2000), (Strategy, 2013) and in the Environmental Protection Act 2001 (Act. 2001) into a vision for the development of the Polish economy in the document "Strategy for Innovation and Efficiency of the Economy - Dynamic Poland 2020" (Council of Ministers, 2013). It contains 4 operational objectives. Due to the purpose of this work and further considerations, it is worth mentioning objective 3, which reads - "Increase in efficiency in the use of natural resources and raw materials". However, ambitious assumptions of the new Green Deal together with restrictive standards and limits will certainly pose a challenge for Poland, but together with the funds launched also an opportunity to transform from an economy consuming non-renewable natural resources to a low-carbon and environmentally friendly economy (Infrastructure and Environment Programme Service, 2021,

https://archiwum.ncbr.gov.pl/en/programmes/european-funds/infrastructure-and-environment-operational-programme/about-the-programme).

The policy of sustainable development of national economies is shaped by external and internal entity relations. The models listed above at the micro level correspond with this idea: Customer Social Responsibility (CSR), quality growth and sustainable energy. However, none of them fully covers all components of the theoretical concept of sustainable development. The first of the mentioned models is most often communicated to the society by large companies and reflects the presented idea quite well. It means, despite the ambiguity of its definition, that the adoption of this orientation by the company requires the creation of value for all its stakeholders.

A formalized approach to CSR is reflected in the standard adopted in ISO 26000 in 2010. (ISO, 2010), which is applicable to and can be implemented in all organizations. It covers seven areas: organizational governance, human rights, labour relations, environment, fair market practices, consumer relations and community engagement. The evolution of enterprise's goals from economic to gradual orientation towards social responsibility, is becoming a fact in EU countries, also in Poland. However, many studies and reports show that activities of enterprises in our country, in this area are still uncoordinated and selective. In the short term, the implementation of this model, through intensive activities, encounters a profit barrier. Therefore, a long-term orientation is desirable, which strengthens the position of the enterprise on the market, through the competitive advantage of CSR (PARP, 2015).

In turn, the model of quality in the management process in relation to the concept of sustainable development covers a narrower area. The policy of its implementation uses various parameters, models, standards defining the principles of quality of products and services in the production process, logistics and consumption, as well as their safety. They are created in the global economy by international organizations ISO, WHO, FAO and recommended for use in all countries, mainly member states, also in the EU. This policy has a positive impact and an effective influence on the quality of life of societies now and will play an increasingly important role in the future.

It is precisely to the future perspective of business operation that the next proposal for business management towards sustainable development, in the sustainable enterprises model, refers. Its primary objective is also to increase the quality of life. This concept has been promoted since the last decade of the 20th century by the World Business Council for Sustainable Development and the International Institute for Sustainable Development. It is understood as a continuous process of balancing economic, social and environmental goals in companies, which involves a flexible reallocation of resources in line with changes in the environment. Moreover, it assumes a stimulating influence on the company's environment in order to increase market opportunities. Therefore, it allows many authors to use in this context the notion of the enterprise of the future. Such a model of sustainable development concerning both micro and macro scale is a proposal of implementing the principles of circular economy, reflected in the European Green Deal.

By acting together, the EU is able to put its economy and society on a new course towards greater sustainability. In the process, the EU can build on its strong global leadership on climate action and the environment, as well as consumer protection and workers' rights.

SUMMARY

Adjustments of the competitive linear economy towards sustainable and balanced development take place using different models at different levels of governance in terms of objectives, principles, instruments and methods of actors. Some of these are presented in subsection 2.1. Many of the questions posed in the literature, also in this thesis, require international research. However, the mere availability of many synthetic and partial hard economic and social indicators for individual countries makes it possible to assess the level of advancement of the adjustment process. Poland has made significant progress in this respect and has been steadily improving its image in recent years, although some issues (e.g. emissions, energy independence and biodiversity) still place our country in the position of a laggard. The institutional guide for our country is the UN and EU policy linking sustainable development with innovation policy and the circular

economy model. However, such development of actors' activities requires different forms of cooperative support.

There is a documented view that in countries with real support by state policy, both in economic-financial and organizational terms, adaptations take place faster and to a greater extent. This is the case in countries with a higher level of education in SHE and social capital, especially its resources: trust, norms and values, solidarity (understood as transparency of action, primacy of common good over private, ethical behaviour, shared beliefs, readiness to take risks), cooperation and high quality of formal institutions and innovation. Raising its level results in increased efficiency, public management, entrepreneurship, quality of business processes and innovation (Skawińska, 2012 (ed.), pp. 46-63). In the EU, among CEE countries, social capital is still at a low level, albeit increasing. This constitutes a significant barrier to the adjustment of the economy to sustainable development. The authors of the article, joining the global debate on this issue, raise in subsection 3.1, the causal aspect of innovation in the process of shaping the circular economy model for sustainable development.
Part II. Circular economy – stimulants and barriers

Chapter 3. Circular Economy (CE)

3.1. Background

The turn of the 20th and 21st centuries is characterized by many changes in political, social, and economic relations around the world. For the third year in a row, China is the world's largest economy in 2019. It contributed 17.3% of the world's GDP according to estimates by the World Bank. The U.S. was second, with 15.8% share and European Union was in third place with 15.3% of world GDP. The three combined represented 48% of the world economy (Amadeo K., 2021). The world economy is caught between the waning influence of the industrial era on most spheres of life and the rapidly rising tide of computerization, which is increasingly affecting all areas of social and economic life. Both in the past and now, the waning influence of the agrarian or industrial era should be understood in a relative sense as a function of time. Moreover, these changes are shaped differently globally and regionally. Currently, there are still countries where the agrarian economy is the basis of existence. In the region of Southeast Asia, the growth of the industrial economy has been very high in recent decades. The Chinese economy is developing very rapidly, especially in the field of high-tech, including information technology and Industry 4.0. It exerts great influence on the world economy as a supplier of relatively cheap but modern products (e.g. in pharmaceuticals, integrated circuits and hightech). In contrast, the share of industrial production of European countries in the world is decreasing. This is due to the favourable purchase prices and high quality of many products. However, some European industries (e.g. automotive) are currently experiencing a shortage of supply of ICs. This is partly due to the disruption of supply chains during the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic. The impact of IT (information technology) and Internet on the economy has not only affected industries and services, but to a significant extent consumer behavior. The next generations are more and more consumer oriented and expect new, better, and innovative products. This expectation spiral is used by industry and the retail sector. However, the demand for energy and raw materials is increasing, as is the problem of environmental pollution on Earth, in the oceans and in the atmosphere by the waste created. This is evidenced by data on the demand for fuels, ores, minerals and biomass, showing a strong upward trend. In 1970, 26.7 Gt of these were consumed, in 2015, 84.4 Gt, and the projection for 2050 is over 170 Gt (Global Circularity Gap Report, 2018).

The research problem of this chapter are the following questions:

1) What contemporary factors support the development and implementation of the circular economy,

2) What are the challenges to the wider applicability of this model?

The primary objective is to explain the principles of the circular economy as a model of management for the sustainable development of enterprises.

The pragmatic goal is to present the importance of innovation in the circular economy. For their realization the method of desk research, comparative, model, descriptive and graphical analysis was used. The source basis is the world literature and statistical data of international organizations such as EUROSTAT, World Bank, World Economic Forum.

The authors attempted to provide a proof that the circular economy is consistent with the concept of sustainable and balanced development (SDG) and that it is a broad concept.

Current research problems for science are the questions: 1) can the circular economy be implemented and develop with a low rate of investment in enterprises and R&D? 2) what innovations: technical-technological, organizational, productive will be strategic to fulfill its mission?

The development of humans and civilization for many millennia has gone through successive phases (agrarian, industrial, information and technological (Toffler, 2003) and was made possible by careful observation of the living and non-living nature, gaining knowledge and skills in its use. For centuries, people have been observing nature and trying to imitate and exploit it. In order not to go too far into the past, it is worth mentioning Newton's formulation of the principles of dynamics (falling apple) and Leonardo da Vinci's design work which was widely used in technology in later periods. Other further examples can be found in many sources and books (eg. Braun, 2012 p. 153-158). The industrial revolution and the development of natural sciences, which accelerated rapidly in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, led to the observation, knowledge and partial understanding of the mechanisms of cyclicity of many processes occurring in non-living but mainly animate nature, especially in the biosphere. It was observed that biological systems and forms are ideal solutions developed at particular stages in the process of evolution, in order to achieve maximum benefits with minimum inputs, maximum strength with the least use of building and construction materials, etc. Moreover, as Bernd Hill (2012, p. 148) writes, they are in the sense of their ideality self-organizing systems. It consists in self: production, optimization, regulation, regeneration and reconstruction.

Cyclicality has also been observed in inanimate nature. It was exploited in the era of industrialization by discovering the potential and using it practically in the implementation of some production processes (e.g. Desrochers 2002). This idea has been exploited mainly for economic reasons (e.g. cost reduction by using the by-products of a chemical reaction). As Korhonen et al. (2018 p. 37) believes, environmental impact was probably also considered to some extent. One of many examples is the Solvay method of continuous sodium bicarbonate (Na₂CO₃) production. Its scheme is shown in Figure 3. The main raw materials are sodium chloride NaCl, calcium carbonate CaCO₃ as a source of carbon dioxide and ammonia NH₃. In the technological process, a significant part of them (40% of CO₂ and significant of ammonia) is recovered and returned to feed the production process. This decreases atmospheric pollution and reduces the need for and cost of these components. Despite the fact that natural and technical sciences have made great theoretical and technological progress, the practical application of the knowledge of these achievements in conducting economic processes in such a way that they do not harm nature did not occur widely until the turn of the 60s/70s of the 20th century.



Figure 3. Scheme of chemical reactions in the production of soda by the Solvay method Source: own elaboration.

It has been noted that the development of processes and their vitality over time follows a sigmoid curve until a maximum is reached (Osenton, 2004). Unless new stimuli appear, each process is slowly destroyed, according to the axiom of deterioration (Oakland, Followell, 1992). But new needs, scientific or technical achievements, positive stimuli can trigger another phase of growth increasing the efficiency of the process. Such stimuli are incremental innovations, which are used in a limited way to improve the quality and functionality of products (Skawińska, Zalewski, 2009). Probably this mechanism is general to all processes. It is commonly used in many areas of industrial activity, especially, for example, as car facelifts, new models of mobile phones or laptops and many others). Stronger and even revolutionary impact in the past was and is exerted by technical radical innovations such as, for example, steam or combustion engines, telephone, radio. Current and rapidly developing radical innovations include computers and information technology, the Internet, the Internet of Things, Big Data and many others. Radical innovations are also emerging in many other fields like medicine, biology, aerospace, agriculture. It is also important to note that currently the progress of science and technology is not linear in time but is happening in an accelerated and in some areas turbulent way.

It can be argued that the most recent shift in the evolutionary path was initiated by the oil crisis in the early 1970s, which was triggered by the establishment of the OPEC organization by the countries, the main oil producers, and the sharp increase in oil prices on world markets. The strong upheaval in the world fuel market most likely made producers, scientists and politicians alike realize that the previous linear production systems (discussed in Chapter 1) needed a radical innovative change. One of the earlier works on circular material flows was K.H. Boulding's The Economics of the Coming Spaceship Earth (Eoearth.org., 1966).

More than forty years ago Stahel and Reday (1977) described some features of circular economy (CE). Their concept of the circular or loop was based on the reduction of waste, the creation of jobs at regional level, the efficient use of resources and the dematerialization and humanization of the economy, paying particular attention to the industrial sector. A little later, Stahel proposed the sharing and renting of some goods, considering this alternative to ownership as the best sustainable GC business model. According to him, industry would make a profit by reducing the risks and hassles associated with waste. The concepts of sharing were developed today by Porter and Kramer (2011). This idea is currently being implemented in many countries, also in Poland, especially in the sphere of city bicycles, car rental in large cities, renting office space by the hour, renting computers with specialized software and many others.

3.2. Overview of circular economy conception

The term 'circular economy' i.e. (CE) was first used in the book 'Economics of Natural Resources and the Environment' by D. Pearce and K. Turner in 1989 (Pearce, Turner, 1989). The cited researchers found that traditional economics and production systems did not contain clear incentives for resource recovery. On the contrary, in the past producers treated the environment as a dumping ground for waste and post-production pollution. The basis for a new way of looking at these issues and instilling the idea of GC were observations of biological systems and processes in the biosphere. These are characterized by circular transformations of matter and energy in animate nature, which were already studied and described decades ago.

The following statements developed by EMAF (2013 a) form the basis of the circular economy:

- 1. waste is a raw material,
- 2. diversity is an advantage,
- 3. energy should come from renewable sources,
- 4. thinking is systemic,
- 5. waste-free production design,

building on earlier work by Pearce and Turner (1989), who address the "interlinkages of the four economic functions of the environment. The environment not only provides amenity values, in addition to being a resource base and a sink for economic activities, it is also a fundamental life-support system" (Andersen M.S., 2007). At this point it is worth quoting Geogescu-Roegen's opinion that "In the ultimate analysis man struggles for low entropy, and economic scarcity is the reflection of the Entropy Law, which is the most economic in nature of all natural laws" (Georgescu-Roegen N., 1971; 2012).

This way of circulating matter has received attention from later followers of Pearce and Turner. The concept of circular economy has caught the attention of both academics (e.g. Ghisellini et al., 2015; Kirchher, Reike, Hekkert, 2017; Murray et al. 2017) and practitioners for several years. Critical voices point out that it is an incomplete, vague and ambiguous concept for many of them. For example, according to Ghiselini (2015) " GC is most often understood as more efficient waste management". This narrowed approach can lead to the idea of GC being lost, where recycling, reuse or recovery may be possible in some conditions and in others has example concerning 'green' chemistry and biotechnology impossible for fundamental reasons? or uneconomic due to high costs.

Prevention is therefore more important in such cases. There is also the increasingly used possibility of replacing traditional processes, technologies, materials, chemicals or biochemical methods using harmful reagents and substances by instrumental analysis methods based on physical phenomena (e.g. Sikorska, 2018). However, replacing traditional chemical and biochemical processes in industry does not seem possible to us. Despite the needs and opportunities for more friendly and regenerative methods of eco-industrial development, according to Geng and co-authors (2014a), this does not imply a demand for green technologies only. Instead, what is needed is a broader and comprehensive view of design and the search for radically alternative, innovative solutions. These need to project into all stages of processes and the product life cycle, as well as into the process-environment-economy interaction. In this way, the economy will be strengthened and not only raw materials but also energy will

be regenerated. In addition, living conditions will be improved compared to previous business models, including resource management. The circular economy has the potential and many opportunities to introduce radically new patterns of behavior and help society and the environment (cf. Stahel, 2016, pp. 435-438; Charter, 2016).

Finally, it should not be forgotten that the conditions and frameworks for a sustainable economy, including GC, require creative and innovative workers in the first place, not just innovative concepts, technologies, new patents. The complexity of the vision of sustainable development means that its practical implementation requires visionary designers and a whole support system to implement radical changes in industrial practice, research, government support policies and the decision-making system (Golińska et al. 2015). One can hope that one of the many sources of support for such transformations will be offered/proposed by start-ups (Skawińska, Zalewski, 2020).

3.3. Definitions of circular economy

Several definitions of CE are given below. For example, Webster (2015 p. 16) adds that "CE is restorative by design, and which ensures that products, ingredients and materials have the highest utility throughout time". In contrast, Yuan et al. (2008 p. 5) states that the core of GC is the circular (circular) turnover of materials and the use of raw materials and energy in multiple process phases. In contrast, Bocken et al. (2016, p. 309) defines CE as "a design and business model that slows down, closes and reduces raw material loops". Whereas according to Murray and colleagues (2017, 369-380) it is a business model in which planning, resourcing, resource management, production and reprocessing are planned as a process and product so as to maximize ecosystem functioning and human wellbeing. And according to Geissdoerfer et.al (2017, pp. 757-768)

Furthermore, Geissdoerfer and team (2017) performed an analysis of scientific papers published in earlier years taking into account the name of the journal, the country of origin of the authors and the keywords associated with GC. In turn, the author team of Kirchher, Reike and Hekkert (2017) performed a systematic analysis of 114 definitions of GC taking into account the frequency of use of the 17 characteristics mentioned in them. Its authorial summary is presented in Table 9. It shows that the most frequently used descriptors were: Reduce, Reuse and Recycle referred to as the 3Rs. At the same time, it is emphasized that the need to make systematic changes to the above actions is not always mentioned. Another worrying finding from this analysis is the low number of indications of a direct link between CE and sustainable development and only one indication of 'concern for the fate of future generations'. A certain dissonance is created, because, after all, there is constant talk in the mass media and the construction of all kinds of strategies that aim to protect and preserve the

environment in a non-deteriorated state. Various authors stress that the main role of CE is to achieve economic prosperity, which results in environmental quality. In contrast, its impact on social equity and the fate of future generations is treated marginally or completely ignored in many definitions. It is also important to note that neither new business models nor changes in consumer behavior were often found as enabling activities in the GC definitions analyzed.

According to these researchers, such a large number of inconsistent definitions and terms of GC can lead to a weakening of the whole concept. Their analysis of the available literature enabled them to formulate a new definition. It is "an economic system that replaces the 'end-of-life' concept with the 4Rs concept (philosophy) through Reducing and alternatively Reusing, Recycling and Recovering materials in production, distribution and consumption processes". This system should operate at each of the three levels of the economy: micro (producer, product, consumer), mezo (eco-industrial parks) and macro (city, region and above) in order to achieve sustainable development. This, in turn, is to create together the basis for environmental quality, economic well-being and social equality now and in the future. This will require new and rational business models and responsible consumers". Of particular concern are the figures for the Recover category (3-8 indications) and the concern for future generations indicated only once in these publications.

Indications in a set of 114 publications (in %)							
	Publications	Practitioners		Publications	Practitioners		
ACTIVI- TIES	-	-	PURPOSES	-	-		
Reduce	54-55	44	Sustainable 11 development (SD) of which:		11		
Reuse	74-75	68	Environment	37	28		
Recycle (recycling)	79	68	Economic prosperity	49	53		
Recover	7-8	3	Social equity	al equity 19			
Waste	30	11	All	13	8		
SYSTEM			Future generations	1	0		
Mikro	19	22	OPPORTUNITIES				
Meso	21	22	Business models	11	14		
Makro	24	22	Consumers	19	22		

Table 9. Context of the use of the circular economy concept in the world literature

Source: own elaboration based on: Kirchher, Reike and Hekkert (2017).

According to Geissdoerfer et al. (2017, p.759) and Schut et al. (2015, p.15) another interesting definition of GC was developed by the Ellen MacArthur Foundation (2012, p. 7). According to this organization, GC is, in concept and execution, a production system with the character of saving and regenerating

resources. It proposes replacing the 'end-of-life' concept associated with material recovery by the use of renewable energy, the exclusion of poisonous chemicals that will prevent reuse, the elimination of waste through the best design of materials, products, systems and business models.

Korhonen, Honkasalo and Seppala (2018, p. 39) promotes CE as an economy built from social, production and consumption systems that maximizes the benefits inherent in a linear economy with the characteristics: environment society - environment. These arise from how - when and where material and energy resources flow in the processes carried out. The circular economy places a strong emphasis on the cyclical use of materials, production waste for energy and its cascading flow. The latter concept is a euphemism that replaces 'energy recycling' as thermodynamically (physically) impossible. Cascade in this case means producing heat (or electricity) from production waste and using the heat produced in a sequence of production processes requiring different temperatures (from higher to lower) e.g. for steam generation, space heating, gardening, etc. Up to 40% of the energy can be recovered in this way.

3.4. Models of CE

Geisdorfer and colleagues (2017), mentioned earlier, identified numerous similarities between sustainable development and CE. Among these, they listed:

- trust with global achivement resulting from the inclusion of non-economic pathways for the development of societies,
- the need for systemic change and innovation resulting from multidisciplinary research and the creation of new business models as key to industry transformation,
- knowledge of the costs, risks and value of cooperation for development,
- the importance and advantages of collaboration between different stakeholders,
- the concern of current generations for the fate of future generations, the importance of regulation, standards and legislation,
- the importance of the private sector in proportion to its resources and capabilities,
- the availability of diverse and coexisting development paths,
- proposing innovative, mature technological solutions that do not generate new environmental problems and reduce the impact of previous ones.

On the other hand, Ghisellini et al. (2015), who have been researching CE before many years noted that its conceptualization originated from the ecological and environmental economics and industrial ecology streams. In contrast, Murray et al. (2017) believe that the definition of CE should also include the "social dimensions inherent in sustainable development" (Murray, A.; Skene, K.;

Haynes, K. (2017). Sauve and colleagues (Sauve S., Bernard S., Sloan P, 2015), on the other hand, consider that the goal of circular economy is to "decouple prosperity from resource consumption, i.e., how can we consume goods and services and yet not depend on extraction of virgin resources and thus ensure closed loops that will prevent the eventual disposal of consumed goods in landfill sites". Due to a certain generality, diversity and richness of objectives, there is a need to precisely define the path from the initial state to the desired state to achieve which the circular economy will be used. For example, Morsaletto (2020) identifies five such objectives: efficiency, reduction, recovery, recycling and design. All of them are multi-elemental, which means that the number of combinations in practical applications is considerable.

Despite the many similarities and convergences of views presented in the scientific literature, Geisdorfer et al. 2017 pointed out the differences between the sustainable development models and the circular economy as shown in Table 10.

Concept	Sustainable Development	Circular Economy
Name	Environmental sciences, sustainable development and circular economy: Alternative concepts for	CE is the opposite and an extension of the linear economy, from 'cradle to grave'. Regulations introduced by governments, international organisations, regional programmes such as
	trans-disciplinary research clearly defined	European Horizon 2020 play an important role in shaping its principles.
Aim	It mainly promotes targets at the end of the chain that depend on the company, region, country, etc.	Closed-loop processes, reducing the consumption of raw materials and, finally, reducing waste to an absolute minimum and using it in other production processes.
Model	The basic production model in sustainable development is linear	A closing cycle from which materials useful in other processes leave and are incorporated into other cycles.
Beneficiaries	Economy, society, environment	Economy and environment; benefits to society include improved environment, increased role of manual labour, fair trade etc.
Responsibility	Clearly defined	Manufacturers and regional or national administrations.
Production model	Linear	Closed cycle
Result	Reducing waste, increas- ing profits and prices	Economic and financial for the producer, (measurable for the environment)

Table 10. Comparison of sustainable development with the circular economy

Source: own elaboration based on Geisdorfer et al. (2017).

On the other hand, in an interesting publication, Sariatli (2017, p. 33) presented an interesting comparison between linear economics and circular economics using the SWOT method. Among several strengths of GC, he mentioned: reduction of waste in the value chain resulting in a lower environmental burden, reduced costs and demand for primary raw materials,

increased role of R&D, demand for innovative solutions, investments and better quality of products, and reduced fluctuation of raw material prices. The abovementioned author included among the weaknesses: the low awareness of the idea and principles of GC among the public and the small number (lack) of social campaigns, the lack of technical knowledge and research on the possibility of recovering raw materials dispersed in waste. In the meantime, the British Standard on Circular Economy has been published (BS 8001, 2017) This has weakened some of the conclusions mentioned by Sariatli. In addition to the obvious benefits, among the risks Sariatli mentions: managing the entire life cycle of products and strong collaboration, which can lead to subsidies for different activities, price increases, the creation of unnecessary products and the formation of cartels. To become successful circular economy strategies and business models must therefore be better linked to ongoing processes in policy making, in particular, the sustainable development goals (UN, 2017) and the climate. Pauliuk (2018) believes that "To become successful circular economy strategies and business models must therefore be better linked to ongoing processes in policy making, in particular, the sustainable development goals (UN, 2017) and the climate targets".

Economic activities produce desirable products and undesirable waste streams. Undesirable matter, in turn, is only partially absorbed by the environment, through its inclusion in various cycles functioning in the biosphere (e.g. carbon dioxide is assimilated by plants, plant waste is decomposed into simple substances). The remaining part constitutes a growing threat to the environment and requires adequate counteraction. There is general agreement that it should be utilized wherever possible. The simplest, albeit insignificant, way is efficient waste separation. This makes it possible to recover many basic materials (e.g. paper, glass, plastics, metals, food industry and household waste, green waste, etc.) and then recycle them. However, it appears that only a small proportion of this matter is recycled. Many types of technical (industrial) waste have yet to be integrated into the various stages of the circular economy model. Waste contains a lot of valuable materials, substances and chemical elements which are dispersed in its mass and whose recovery is theoretically and practically possible. Unfortunately, this is labour-, energy- and cost-intensive. This creates new challenges for the management of entities at macro, mezo and micro level.

In order to sort out these matters and create some compact and transparent policy for the future conduct of manufacturing companies, Hartley et al. (2020) propose some recommendations for the industrial sphere concerning the sphere of product planning, the way of consumption and waste handling. These are contained in the eight principles outlined below:

- 1. Further adoption of circular design standards and norms at the EU level.
- 2. Expand circular procurement by the EU and member states.
- 3. Alterations to taxes on CE-based products.
- 4. Liberalization on waste trading.
- 5. Facilitate development of circular trading platforms.
- 6. Creation of eco-industrial parks.
- 7. Circular economy marketing and promotion campaign.
- 8. Global material flow accounting database.

The circular economy builds on a diverse collection of scientific and semiscientific concepts, for example, "ecological economics, industrial ecology, cradle-cradle design, performance economy, mimicry, eco-efficiency, resilience science, natural capitalism, and cleaner production" (Korhonen et al., 2018, p. 549). Over a hundred definitions of circularity have been inventoried, with the consequence that the term means different things to different people (Kirchherr et al., 2017). This could be because the concept and its application have almost exclusively been developed and driven by practitioners, that is, policy makers, businesses, business consultants, business associations, business foundations, and so on (Korhonen et al., 2018a).

With a view on its potential impact, a concern is that CE has been argued to lack conceptual clarity and an accepted definition (Yuanet al., 2008; Lieder and Rashid, 2015; Zhu et al., 2010). This almost paradoxical framing suggests that fundamental paradigmatic questions of CE conceptualization re-main indeed unsolved. (Reike et al. 2018, p. 247).

Mavropoulos and Nilsen, as the chairman of the International Solid Waste Association (ISWA) noted "there is no single commonly accepted definition of the term "circular economy", but different definitions share the basic concept of decoupling of natural resource extraction and use from economic output, having increased resource efficiency as a major outcome" (Mavropoulos, Nilsen, 2020). Moreover, there are distinct differences, separations, and exclusions between research communities engaged in circular economic research, for example, between scholars in engineering and in business (Korhonen et al., 2018a).

The concept of the circular economy has been and continues to be graphically represented by numerous authors. In the meantime, the concept of the circular economy has been developed in various research centers, adding a list of additional activities to the life cycle. In the first models, five activities were introduced, the names of which began with the letter R. Three of them characterize the handling of a product until it is owned by an owner. Three of them characterize the handling of a product until the owner considers it redundant. Another two relate to the action of possibly using it for other purposes (Remanufacture) or finally destroying it (Recycling). In recent years, the list of

possible product operations has been extended and their names also begin with the letter R. In all constructions, there are two elements that end the existence of the product.

The main elements of these constructs are given below:

- **3R** Reduce, Reuse and Recycle,
- 4R Reduce, Reuse, Recycle, Recover (Kirchherr et al. 2017; Mihelcic, 2003),
- 5R Reduce usage, Repair, Reuse, Remanufacture, Recycle (Zalewski R.I., Skawińska E., 2019),
- **6R** Reduce, Reuse, Recycle, Recover, Redesign, Remanufacture (Venkatachalam J.K., Jawahir, I.S., 2006),
- 7R Rethink, Refuse, Reduce, Repurpose, Reuse, Recycle, Rotate (The 7 Rs of Sustainability https://www.dunedingov.com/live-work-play/dunedin-greenscene/the-7-r-s-refuse-reduce-repurpose-reuse-recycle-rot-rethink),
- 10R Refuse, Rethink, Reduce, Reuse, Repair, Refurbish, Remanufacture, Repurpose, Recycle, Recover (Potting J. et al., 2017; Hekkert M. et al. 2017; Morseletto P., 2020).



Figure 4. An expanded CE concept of Mihelcic Source: Zalewski, Skawińska, 2019.

Figure 4 shows the developed overall author's conception of the R5 model, modelled on the 4R work of Mihelcic and colleagues (2003). The changes introduced are the expansion of the inner part of the diagram to include 'Reduce usage', i.e. reducing the frequency with which consumers buy new products while the current ones are still good, and their 'Repair' - repair when necessary and

possible. New trends in design, technology and manufacturing processes repeatedly lead to changes that facilitate service repairs through the use of bundles of parts, components, etc. These simplify and shorten servicing times but mean that even a minor part failure requires replacement of the entire component and is costly for the user. The user is often faced with a dilemma: whether to repair or buy a new product.

Limiting the presentation of the different circular economy models, it is worth noting the model proposed by Morseletto (2020) in the convention of the ten R's (from R0 to R9) with three separate groups of activities (Figure 5). The first includes such as R0-R2. Its stakeholders are businesses and consumers. The second is dominated by manufacturing and service companies (R3-R7). The role of customers here is limited to the service sphere user. The third group (R8-R9) is the organization of waste collection and disposal. A brief description of the individual symbols is given below.



Figure 5. Expanded CE model in 10 R convention Source: own elaboration based on the Morseletto model

Rethinking (R1) is one of the most important and creative elements of CE. It involves increasing the intensity of use of products through shared use (e.g. by neighbours) or extending their functionality. Achieving the latter requires the manufacturer to make technical and conceptual changes, to innovate, to change its way of thinking, to invest, to seek new sources of supply (eg. Lindner 2017). This is also the moment to introduce beneficial changes in terms of environmental protection (reduction of waste, emissions and other effects affecting the environment). This function should be performed by the producer in cooperation with consumers and the market sector by seeking their opinions. comments, complaints, etc. Refuse (R0) refers to making a product redundant by abandoning its function or offering the same function with a radically different product. Refuse can also extend to the use of certain harmful materials (eg. European Commission 2020 a) or banned production processes to make the economy more circular and healthier. Reduce (R2) implies using fewer natural resources, and therefore fewer inputs of resources (energy, raw materials), and restrict waste production. This definition can be extended to reducing of the number of products (see Reike et al., 2018) in a way to incentivize Reuse. In these terms, Reduce is associated to Reuse. To some extent, Reduce can be also interpreted as a less drastic form of Refuse. Targets for Reduce can also mirror targets for Rethink because both are linked to the Concept/Design (using less material per unit of production), or to 'dematerialization' (eg. Worrell and Reuter, 2014).

Main objectives of R3 - R7 are the maximum extension of the life of the product to the final point. This means that a product may be finally recycled (R8) or recovered (R9) from any phase of the cycle between R3 and R7 if its further exploitation would be costly, economically and environmentally unjustified. The technical design of the product, the quality of the workmanship and the way it has been used so far are of great importance.

On the other hand, a certain group of consumers, for example early innovators, should give durable goods, still in good technical condition, for reuse phase (R 3) and resell it to new owners. This will extend the service life and postpone the physical destruction of the product. This model is already present, for example, on the second-hand clothing market and many other products (as second-hand shops, exchange via online platforms). Leasing activities in the markets for cars, construction machinery, copiers, computers, software, etc. can be considered a variation of this model. The possibility of changing the ownership of equipment is logically consistent with the idea of GC. This suggestion is in opposition to the practice of deliberate design of a shortened useful life of a product by manufacturers (so-called planned obsolescence). Another possibility to extend the use of the product is to repair it (Repair -R4) during the warranty period or later. Further possibilities are: R5 – Refurbishment, R6 –Remanufacturing and R7 – Repurposing.

Refurbishment (R5) takes place when "...products that consumers no longer desire or need are collected and then refurbished (renovated). Refurbishment

entails that the products are cleaned, tested, and repaired, replaced, generally upgraded before they are being resold to consumers" (Wallner et al., 2021; Reike et al. 2018).

According to McIntosh and Bras (2021) "...In order to achieve an expanded role of product reuse, it will be first necessary to integrate remanufacturing capabilities (R 6) into original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) such that reuse can be 'in advance' carefully planned by both product and process design...". However, the implementation of OEM reuse is currently limited to not many examples and faces numerous barriers such as: incomplete incentives due to the product disposal externality, the trends in production towards rapid innovation, mass customization. It is obvious that remanufacture presents fundamentally new set of challenges that producers are not prepared to deal with. For those reasons reuse will not play a larger role in society until produces have both the incentives and ability to implement remanufacture given their business conditions. Other authors understand it as reconditioning, reprocessing or restoration (Reike et al. 2018).

Repurposing (R7) refers to products or parts that do not meet the conditions for use in repairing or manufacturing products with the same function, but that can be used in the manufacture of equipment with a different function (see: Potting et al. 2017). According to Reike et al. (2018) repurpose is useful for fashion upgrading, part reuse or adopt for another function. Among the many activities that Morseletto and other authors present, we see two main groups of stakeholders: consumers and businesses. The objectives and actions of each of them are partly consistent and partly divergent. We consider that the activities R0 - R4, are mainly on the side of the consumer, who makes the decision to buy, to use or to repair minor damages. Whereas actions R5 - R9 are mainly the domain of business, innovators, environmental management companies. Both sides' behavior is strongly influenced by the activities of opinion-making, social and educational organizations. The institutions creating and enforcing relevant national and international legislation are extremely important. It is obvious that this division is not sharp. The aforementioned possibilities are to some extent related to the practice of obsolescence as pointed out in the literature. From the model shown in Figure 4 and in Merseletto's model (Figure 5), it can be read that the passage of the product through all phases R3 - R7 is not necessary.

Shifting production towards CE usually requires interventions in the production processes. The projects undertaken are innovative in nature with varying degrees of uncertainty, are complex, must take into account the possibility of multiple life cycles and are strongly interconnected with diverse stakeholders. It is therefore necessary to effectively select proposals and evaluate them in terms of design, materials and service. Many manufacturers are afraid to switch production towards CE due to lack of experience, uncertainty of success.

A number of criteria are usually taken into account, such as innovation, quality, usability, durability of new proposals. Financial criteria are of course important: the expected revenue, the costs of implementation and conceptual work. Related to these are market measures such as expected potential and share. Organizational issues are important (culture and social capital, organizational structure, innovation capital of employees (Eisenreich et al. 2021).

Recycling (R8) is the processing of materials to obtain the initial - high-grade, or low-grade quality of recycled (secondary) materials (Worrell and Reuter, 2014). Secondary materials may be up-cycled - converted into materials of higher quality and functionality (as in the case of extracted bioactive organic compounds from waste of food industry) or down-cycled for most materials. Up-cycling should be the preferable solution because of its higher value and applicability in food processing or pharmacy. Examples include the seeds, peel or rind of many fruits and vegetables, which contain natural pigments, vitamins and a wealth of other organic compounds.

The principle of cascading, the sequential and consecutive use of resources, is a potential method to create added value in circular economy (CE) practices (Campbell-Johnson K. at al. 2020). Despite conceptual similarities, no research to date has explored how cascading has been operationalized and how to integrate it with CE R-imperatives (Reduce, Reuse etc.) to facilitate implementation practices. CE practices emphasize value creation and retention, yet there has been little reflexive examination of explicit and intrinsic value considerations; namely, how allocation choices, i.e. the decision-making process, for resource utilization are made.

Recycling is the last R to use the principle of cascading, the sequential and consecutive use of resources, is a potential method to create added value in circular economy (CE) practices (Campbell-Johnson K. at al. 2020). Despite conceptual similarities, no research to date has explored how cascading has been operationalized and how to integrate it with CE R-imperatives (Reduce, Reuse etc.) to facilitate implementation practices. CE practices emphasize value creation and retention, yet, there has been little reflexive examination of explicit and intrinsic value considerations; namely, how allocation choices, i.e. the decision-making process, for resource utilization are made.

Down-cycling is recycling something in such a way that the resulting product is of lower value than the original item". Here, down-cycling concerns value or purpose lost in comparison to the original item, which indicates a loss of material/product functionality due to quality.

Up-cycling involves the conversion of product into a more valuable one. Some studies claim upcycling results in products with higher quality and performance than the original, using refurbishing (R 5) or remanufacturing (R 6).

This is however up-stream way, which will not bring the product to the initial value it had in phase R 3. However, the literature is inconsistent with what constitutes upcycling.

We understand to use cascading, integrated within CE, as a socially contextual concept used to contribute to the broader sustainable development agenda. Two of the above dimensions are easily understood: market dynamics and quality and functionality.

Recovery (R9) refers to waste that is not recycled, but can be used mainly as a source of energy or valuable biochemical compounds. Recovery process includes several conversion processes mainly related to organic waste (see Demirbas, 2009) and inorganic elements and compounds (eg. gold).

From the model shown in Figure 3 and in Merseletto's model (Figure 4), it can be read that the passage of the product through all phases R3 - R7 is not necessary, although possible.

Within these R0 - 9R strategies, the categorization system calls for assessments of resource efficiency gains and evaluations of activities' impacts on a lifecycle basis to demonstrate their substantial importance to the circular economy.

In the recently published paper (Lingaitiene, Burinskiene, 2021) a classification of over fifty publications was carried out, taking into account the frequency of inclusion of individual elements of the R0 - R9 model. It turned out that most of the over 50 analyzed publications from years 2016-2020 are dominated by the traditional elements: reduce - 50 times, reuse - 47 times and repair - 34 times, as well as recycle - 52 times and recover - 49 times. In the analyzed set of publications, the R0 (refuse) category was only included in five publications. In turn, the R1 element (rethink) was mentioned only 11 times. On the other hand, R5 (refurbish) and R6 (remanufacture) were cited more often - 28 times. Whereas R7 (repurpose) was cited in 21 articles. It should also be emphasized that in all analyzed publications the variable R8 (recycling) was mentioned, while recovery (R9) was quoted only twice. Only five papers indicated the importance and necessity of all activities from R0 to R9 for effective implementation of the circular economy.

The information quoted above leads us to reflect that the concept and application of CE among representatives of science is not fully formalized. Also, it can be assumed that the state of knowledge of the public, including entrepreneurs, about the circular economy, its principles and practical achievements is not stabile. The advantages and necessity of implementing a circular economy are widely discussed in the European Union. However, research on the success of its implementation is scarce at European Union level.

The most significant and dangerous, in negative consequence for environment, variables among others are: in waste generation (waste excluding major mineral wastes per domestic material consumption), in waste management (recycling rate of municipal waste; recovery rate of construction and demolition waste; percentage of construction and demolition mineral waste recycled; recycling rate of plastic packaging; recycling rate of glass packaging waste) and trade-in secondary materials (circular material use rate as % of total material use). The similar results for EU countries were presented by Mazur-Wierzbicka (2021).

3.5. Circular Economy against Obsolescence

Mellal in his review of literature mentioned following types of obsolescence: technological, functional, planned, styled (psychological) and optional (Mellal M.A., 2020). From a consumer perspective, planned obsolescence is the most important. The term planned obsolescence was coined in the time of Great Recession (London, 1932, p. 3). At that time strategy aimed at designing and producing goods in such a way so that they have a limited lifetime (Packard, 1960, p. 53; Aladeojebi, 2013;), after which they become unserviceable or unprofitable to repair and need replacement. In other words "describes a strategy of deliberately ensuring that the current version of a given product will become out of date or useless within a known time period. This proactive move guarantees that consumers will seek replacements in the future, thus bolstering demand". (https://www.investopedia.com/terms/p/planned_obsolescence.asp). This strategy has both positive and negative effects. These include a reduction in the quality and usefulness of products over the long term, unpredictable production setbacks and increased environmental pollution. A reduction in the useful life of many groups of consumer' products has been observed in many manufacturing sectors for some time. This is a driving force and a way of increasing material consumption, especially in wealthy countries. The time and willingness to repair equipment is shrinking; warranty extensions beyond two years have to be paid for additionally. Consumers are often in a dilemma: whether to buy new appliances or repair their old ones due to high service costs or the impact of advertising. Many manufacturers introduce planned obsolescence by reducing the quality of construction materials or the construction of products. This consists in using modules of parts, which cannot be repaired for structural reasons (they are difficult to access, cannot be disassembled, require special tools, etc.), but only replaced by a service centre. This means that the failure of one part of the module requires its replacement, which entails significantly higher costs. Consumers are encouraged to buy new models through obtrusive marketing and minor technical and design changes. Psychological obsolescence is at work here. New products are designed in such a way that during the statutory warranty period the probability of failure is low. The result can be a general deterioration

in the usable quality of the products and a spiralling consumerism. In this sense, the actions of industry are contrary to the principles of the circular economy. In this view, obsolescence is a strategy of opposition to CE.

For example, over two million fridges and freezers are thrown away in the UK each year. The average lifespan of these refrigerators is eleven years, with newer models often only lasting half that time. The results show that the majority of the steel components are underexploited – still functioning when the product is discarded; in particular, the potential lifespan of the steel-rich structure is typically much greater than its actual lifespan...Over a period of ten years, lubricant loss from the compressor causes the small bearings to wear out. With compressor replacement cost comparable to that of a new refrigerator, consumers typically choose to replace rather than repair (Cooper et al. 2014).

3.6. Evolutionary paths of circular economy into ecology

The circular economy concept requires now an expansion of the firm-level perspective to an ecosystem-level perspective (Pieroni et al., 2019). For a theoretical contribution, our article provides insights into the inter linkages between biological and technical cycles in the circular economy. While the circular economy is often conceptualized as being restorative and regenerative by design, research combining both biological and technical cycles seems limited (Morseletto, 2020). Terrestrial ecosystem including: soils, atmosphere, aquatic ecosystem, the earth's crust and many others is called an ecological resource. Technological resources, human labour, use of agricultural land and fossil resources, technology, technical infrastructure, science, innovation are a social resource. Ecological economists study and try to quantify the properties of stock, fund and flow elements in the interaction between economy and nature, reconceptualised in material terms as the techno-sphere and biosphere, respectively. Basic resources such as energy, water, raw materials and many others are extracted and transferred from the earth's ecosystem to the technical system and used by humanity. In turn, the resulting pollution and waste are returned to the natural environment. There is a growing imbalance between these systems. The techno-sphere is a dissipative structure that, in order to maintain and grow, has to destroy order and equilibrium (Giampietro, 2020; Kovacic, 2020).

The circular economy aims to minimize resource inputs at the entry to production system and decrease amount of waste and emission outputs of the production systems. All this will required adopt or spectacular change of its organizational subsystems. This can benefit both financial and sustainability performance of companies in a long period. To analyze industrial implementation of the concept, the prevalent unit of analysis on the firm level is currently the circular business model. Industries, companies can be expected to face numerous organizational obstacles, for example the need to change logistics chains,

suppliers, technology, create new products, carry out research, implementation and many others to overcome constraints and build new opportunities.

Research and applicable work on the transformation and development of circular economy concepts into ecological economics and circular business systems is still scarce. According to Kanda et al. (2021) "...comparative case analysis points towards circular ecosystems being a more appropriate concept to describe the high level of coordination between different stakeholders necessary to implement circular systems". This increases the suitability to analyze, plan, and communicate circular economy systems on an organizational level, especially if value chain integration is low. An ecosystem perspective can thus support innovation and entrepreneurship in the context of the circular economy.

Such an approach is suitable for carrying out an analysis of the current state and exploring the possibility of changing it in the future. The results of this work will enable planning studies and action to be taken to promote the principles of introducing a circular economy system at enterprise level in the short term. The planning of forward-looking activities, taking into account the ecology and needs of the ecosystem, will highlight the need to take action on the necessary technical and organizational innovations within the organization. It will also show the possibility and potential of developing current technologies towards incremental innovations or the need to start research towards radical innovations. The exhaustive typology of eco-innovations (environmental technologies. organizational, product benefits, service offering environmental benefits and green system) has been overviewed lately (Venece and Pereira, 2019). The same authors have identified 6 types of eco-innovation: product design eco-innovation, process-eco-innovation. organizational eco-innovation. marketing-ecoinnovation, social eco-innovation and system eco-innovation.

A transition from linear to a circular economy and afterwards into ecological economy (EE) will depend on the fruitful cooperation of governments and businesses (Lewandowski, 2016). The government role is regulate and adjust the market, creating collaborative platforms, providing financial support for industry, creating commercial law, eliminate regulatory failures specially during some economic depression or pandemics. In our opinion the third partner is necessary: research and science sector as a creator of innovative products or services proposals. Companies need to innovate their business models based on circular economy principles to decouple value generation from resource consumption and environmental impacts (Bocken et al., 2016). Business model is a construction in which the conceptual logic for value creation of product or service is based on utilizing the economic value retained in delivery of new offerings. In other words it is rationale of how organization understand conceptual logic and the architecture of value creation, delivery, capture planned to extend the product life cycle, slow and close resource cycles.

Since industrial ecology is a core theoretical root of circular economy, it can serve as a starting point for an ecosystem analysis of circular economy Industrial ecology presents the natural ecosystem as a metaphor for the design of industrial systems with the intention to close energy and material loops (Geissdoerfer et al., 2020). This article, extending upon these previous contributions, addresses two research gaps related to circular business models. First, there is a risk of underestimating the multiple sources of value creation and capture for firms implementing circular economy when using the firm perspective. Second, even though the industrial ecology and industrial symbiosis literature present an ecosystem view, they do not pay particular attention to the analysis of industrial ecosystems from a business perspective, but rather their development over time and impacts (Baldassarre et al., 2019). They address these gaps by analyzing companies with business perspective using the industrial symbiosis and business ecosystems literature.

The circular economy concept requires an expansion of the firm-level perspective to an ecosystem-level perspective (Pieroni et al., 2019). For a theoretical contribution, our work provides insights into the inter linkages between biological and technical cycles in the circular economy. While the circular economy is often conceptualized as being restorative and regenerative by design, research combining both biological and technical cycles seems limited (Morseletto, 2020). The inter-linkage between technical and biological cycles can be facilitated by adopting an eco-system view which provides the opportunity to detect unconventional stakeholders connected to a business.

3.7. New modes of consumption

Since sustainable development concerns all economic entities, its element from the consumer's side is sustainable consumption, i.e. conscious purchase and utilization of products and services in accordance with the principles of sustainable development. The discussion concerning this category is related to a new paradigm in the stream of economics called moderation economics, which originates from the theory of alternative economics. The term was first used in 1992 in Chapter 4 of Agenda 21 (Agenda). One way to examine the level of individual consumption to assess its compatibility with the Sustainable Development Economy paradigm is to calculate the so-called individual ecological footprint.

An important component of CE is the new culture of consumption. Wellet. al. (2018, p.41) conceive it as a system composed "of user groups and societies that understand the use of service functions and the value of physical products as opposed to individuals who only individually own and consume different kinds of goods". Its essence is not ownership but the use of various goods and services on

a sharing, lending, leasing basis. Its widespread introduction can lead to increased reuse of many resources and products. Examples include car-sharing, renting houses/holiday flats (instead of buying them), using office space, city bicycles, mutual use of gardening tools and many others. Behavioral change is now facilitated by widely developed internet-based communication systems but requires time to adapt in society. Currently, the beneficiaries of these new trends are younger people using the Internet and social media platforms. It should be noted that this is an idea that was recommended already in 1969 by Stahel and Reday (1969) and later described and propagated by Michael Porter (2011) using the term 'shared value'.

Małgorzata Koszewska (2017, p. 37) investigating the determinants of consumer behaviour in Poland conducive to GC concluded that the most important is the age of respondents. Younger and middle-aged people (generation Y) are more prone to consumerism. Hence, the author concluded that "the key role should therefore be played by education in sustainable consumption carried out at all stages of education, starting from the preschool level". One of the many evidences are the positive effects of childhood education in the circular economy by teaching sustainable practices in the case of aluminium packaging recycling (Buil et al. 2017).

In turn, Bylok F (2018, pp. 99-110) states that socially responsible consumption is complex and multidimensional, and the number of consumers who can be called socially responsible is small. They value relationships with other consumers, ethical content of the product, protection of the natural and social environment, etc. He further states that "There is a growing awareness of the need to change the ideology of consumerism in favor of sustainable societies. One of the factors stimulating these changes is the promotion of lifestyles associated with socially responsible consumption". This author, like Koszewska, concludes "that the concept of socially responsible consumption will materialize in consumer behavior in the future. The concepts cited in the article and research results concerning its scope of occurrence indicate its significant potential to occur in the future. Although, at present, it is largely an idea rather than actual human behavior on the market".

Knowledge of the principles of the circular economy in society is at a low level. However, their implementation enables sustainable development, so it becomes essential for the future. Their promotion may take place through:

1. transfer of knowledge from the scientific sector to a collective of consumers deliberately separated (e.g. youth, students, employees) covering aspects of the circular economy and the needs of its development, for the formation of innovative and socially responsible behavior of actors (education process).

- 2. to gain implicit knowledge from consumers concerning factors influencing changes in their behaviors on the market, in the processing and use process (research process)
- 3. creation of an Internet platform as a communication instrument for knowledge transfer (application process).
- dissemination of new technology (platform) for the development of cooperation and consumer participation in building relations with business environment entities and the scientific sector within the quadruple helix (implementation process).

Implementation of the educational function by representatives of the science sector enables the acquisition of new knowledge among both consumers and producers, increasing their awareness and rationality of behavior, which may make them open to new innovative ideas related to the circular economy. The transfer of this knowledge from the scientific sector about circular economy theories and best practices worldwide to consumers is expected to stimulate creativity, entrepreneurship and innovation for circular economy development. Increased awareness in this area is a key determinant of improved cooperative skills, predispositions to cooperate, modifications in the hierarchy of value systems and activeness. Knowledge of the principles of the circular economy, the process of diffusion of innovation and adoption has a significant impact on its perception, acceptance of the need for development and on reducing the level of neophobia before the latest achievements in the world in this model of economy. This stage will enable the creation of leaders in changing consumer behavior.

The second stage is about acquiring new knowledge on innovation for the circular economy, taking a holistic approach to intellectual capital research. The acquisition of latent knowledge of consumer behavior and its changes towards social responsibility: a) in the market (purchasing behavior), b) in the household (use), c) in the environment (work and leisure) will allow a better understanding of the causes of their behavior, opinions, attitudes and intentions. This research seeks new selection criteria, the provision of new ideas and opportunities for their implementation. They aim to discover and clarify unknown opportunities in the given cultural and environmental context of consumers and agents in the sphere of cooperation regarding the development of the circular economy.

The third step is the creation of a web-based platform that should address the information and communication needs of users for the exchange of knowledge and information related to circular economy development needs. It will provide intelligent mobility for the transfer of knowledge about the circular economy from science, the economy and the submission of new ideas by consumers in the long term. Furthermore, it will enable the formation of pro-environmental and pro-innovation behavior of people who are aware, convinced and oriented

towards building relationships and cooperation between science, consumers and the environment of the economy for the growth of innovation. This will allow the creation of network structures of innovative consumers, and the interaction occurring in the cooperative activities of the actors of the quadruple helix will lead to an increase in innovation for the development of the circular economy.

The fourth stage may lead to stimulating innovation and cooperation between consumers, science, producers and other actors within the quadruple helix. This will make it possible to develop ideas that are important for the concept of developing a circular economy. For let us remember that the formation of innovative and socially responsible behavior by actors is a function of time. The dissemination of knowledge is a positive stimulus for its recipients to reflect on the necessary cooperation with other entities of the economic environment and the need to build relations with them. This will be possible thanks to the Internet platform. The coherence of the presented stages and the development of innovative and social consumer behavior is shown in the Figure 6.



Figure 6. Theoretical model of shaping changes in socially responsible consumer behavior Source: Skawińska, Zalewski, 2019

The Circular Economy has high economic potential for a modernizing EU economy with high environmental relevance but needs effective and strong research and innovation. Some of them might be incremental, but radical will be most welcome. To achieve this goal EU invested nearly 1 billion from Horizon 2020's final Work Programme (2018-2020) (Circular Economy Research and innovation Connecting economic environmental & gain, https://ec.europa.eu/programmes/horizon2020/sites/default/files/ce_booklet.pdf. However the CE must overcome barriers of different kinds eg. political and regulatory, cultural, financial and economic, technological and infrastructural, lack of competence, knowledge, and technical skills. The cost of new green innovation and business models is one of the main barriers to adopting sustainability practices by small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs). In another work Hartley at al. (2020) identified from the point of view of European Union the following needs: "...more robust standards and norms in production, expansion of circular procurement, tax relief for circular products, liberalization of waste trading and its facilitation through virtual platforms, support for ecoindustrial parks, and awareness campaigns. The set of policy recommendations is

presented from a life-cycle perspective that is necessary for a transition towards a circular economy".

3.8. The place of CE in EU policy

The most important actions and decisions of the EU regarding the implementation of CE assumptions in the Member States are presented in Table 11.

Year of decision / Source	Activities and decisions			
2011 / Lassaux, 2015	The flagship initiative 'Resource Efficient Europe', which was part of the Sustainable and Smart Growth Strategy - Europe 2020.			
2012 / Butterworth et al., 2014	The European Resource Efficiency Platform (EREP) publishes an opinion on the consensus among EU countries on the link between resource efficiency and the Circular Economy in the context of job creation and global competitiveness.			
2013/ Raksit, 2014	A panel discussion on GC was organised at the 2013 Davos conference in anticipation of the definition of a non-binding target for resource producti- vity measured by the quotient of GDP and Raw Material Consumption (GDP / RMC - Raw Material Consumption). Other important measures adopted by the EU are the study on the environ-mental impact of raw materials, green public procurement and GC financing. Other initiatives indirectly related to GC are the directives on waste and eco-design.			
Tost, 2015 Lassaux, 2015	A CG package was proposed with an extensive list of binding measurable targets. Among them were: recycling rates, landfilling, waste reduction etc. In addition, the document contained four Communications on: Sustainable Buildings, Green Jobs, MSP and a general one on Circular Economy "Towards a Circular Economy: Zero Waste Program for Europe"			
European Parliament, 2015	Establishment of a team to prepare a new EU initiative taking into account the realities of member states. New legislation to strengthen waste management and include eco-designe, creation of markets for second-hand goods and recycled materials.			
European Com- mission, 2018	Report on Critical Raw Materials and the Circular Economy			
European Com- mission, 2019	European Green Deal - a set of policy initiatives from the European Commission with the overarching goal of achieving climate neutrality in Europe by 2050.			
European Com- mission, 2020	Circular economy action plan			
European Com- mission, 2020 a	Chemicals strategy. The EU's chemicals strategy for sustainability towards a toxic-free environment			

Table 11. European Union initiatives

Source: own elaboration.

On the second of December 2015. The European Commission has published a package for Circular Economy. The Communication is a set of proposals addressing all stages of the life cycle, the implementation of which should

contribute to the European Union's transition to a closed loop pathway, ensuring the development of a sustainable, low-carbon, resource-efficient and competitive economy. The proposed actions will support the "closed-loop" life-cycle of products through the following activities:

- ecodesign including reparability and upgradeability, durability and recyclability of products,
- guidance on best practice for waste management and resource efficiency in the industrial sector, solutions to determine the environmental impact of products,
- introduction of waste management requirements and targets,
- solutions defining quality standards for secondary raw materials,
- specific and priority solutions for plastics, food waste, critical raw materials, construction and demolition waste, biomass and bioproducts (www.mpit.gov.pl/strony/zadania/zrownowazony-rozwoj/gospodarka-o-obiegu-zamknietym/informacje-podstawowe-o-gospodarce-o-obiegu-zamknietym/).

They will maximize value and ensure the use of all raw materials, products and waste, while contributing to energy savings and reducing greenhouse gas emissions. The proposals in question cover the entire life cycle: from production and consumption to waste management and the secondary raw materials market (Measuring (2018); europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-15-6203_en.pdf, 2015).

To facilitate the implementation of CE principles in the economy, the world's first standard BS 8001 - Guide BS 8001:2017 "Framework for implementing the principles of the circular economy in organizations. Guide" has been indroducing. On the other hand, McKinsey (2016), published in 2016 a guide "The circular economy: Moving from theory to practice" for businesses on managing waste, including plastics, new product development, food and clothing production, etc.

To steer the EU towards the 2050 goal of a healthy planet for healthy people named 'European Green Deal', the Action Plan sets key targets to reduce pollution at source, in comparison to the current situation (European Commission, 2019). Namely:

- improving air quality to reduce the number of premature deaths caused by air pollution by 55%,
- improving water quality by reducing waste, plastic litter at sea (by 50%) and microplastics released into the environment (by 30%),
- improving soil quality by reducing nutrient losses and chemical pesticides' use by 50%,
- reducing by 25% the EU ecosystems where air pollution threatens biodiversity,

- reducing the share of people chronically disturbed by transport noise by 30%, and
- significantly reducing waste generation and by 50% residual municipal waste.

Recently 14 October 2020) EU adopts new "Chemical strategy towards a toxic-free environment" (European Commission, 2020 a). The Strategy will boost innovation for safe and sustainable chemicals and increase protection of human health and the environment against hazardous chemicals. This includes prohibiting the use of the most harmful chemicals in consumer products such as toys, childcare articles, cosmetics, detergents, food contact materials and textiles, unless proven essential for society, and ensuring that all chemicals are used more safely and sustainably. The Strategy recognizes the positive and non-substitive role of chemicals. However, the urgent need to address the health and environmental challenges caused by the most harmful chemicals is highlighted.

The harmful effects of individual chemicals on living organisms cannot be eliminated, but at most reduced. In many cases the replacement of some chemical compounds by others is limited or impossible. Moreover, any adjustments to their structure change their properties. It is certainly necessary to strive for and limit the use of chemical substances in industrial production and other activities, especially mass production, which have harmful effects on living organisms and the environment as a whole. We should also be aware that a small change in the chemical structure of organic compounds can lead to an increase in their harmful effects on living organisms. The Strategy proposes out concrete actions ensuring that the most harmful chemicals for human health and the environment are avoided if not necessary or used more safely and sustainably. To achieve this, cooperation in triple helix of innovations (Leydesdorff, L. (2000) or extended triple helix (Zalewski R.I, Skawińska E., 2009). between research institutions, government, industry and customers with environment will be necessary to achieve incremental or radical innovation and investment actions. Seven key actions in the Chemical Strategy are listed (European Commission, 2020 a).

SUMMARY

The world economy is caught between the waning influence of the industrial era on most areas of life and the rapidly rising wave of computerization, which is increasingly affecting all areas of social and economic life. Both in the past and in the present, the waning influence of the agrarian or industrial era must be understood in a relative sense, as a function of time. Moreover, these changes are taking shape in different ways on a global and regional scale.

Successive generations are increasingly consumption-oriented and expect new, better and innovative products. This spiraling expectation is being exploited by industry and the retail sector. However, there is a growing demand for energy and raw materials, as well as the problem of pollution of the earth, oceans and atmosphere by the waste generated. This is evidenced by the worrying figures for the demand for fuels, ores, minerals and biomass, showing a very strong upward trend. In 1970 26.7 Gt of these were consumed, in 2015 84.4 Gt, and the projection for 2050 is over 170 Gt (Global Circularity Gap Report, 2018).

The research problems addressed in Chapter 3 were:

- 1. What factors limit the development and implementation of the circular economy.
- 2. What are the challenges to the wider application of this model.
- 3. What are the weaknesses and limitations of CE opportunities and what are the reasons for them.

Chapter three describes the concept of the circular economy in general and defines its principles. In recent years, it has been developed and made more specific, with the construction of successive models containing from 3 up to 10 features denoted by the letters R. All the elements present in the (4R) model (Michalcic et al. 2003) up to the one proposed by Morselatto (2019) (10 R: Refuse, Rethink, Reduce, Reuse, Repair, Refurbish, Remanufacture, Repurpose, Recycle, Recover) are described. The authors modified the latter model by highlighting the role of consumers and producers in the three groups of elements of R. Attention was also drawn to the phenomenon of obsolescence (Mellal, 2020), which is in part responsible for reducing the quality of products and shortening their lifespan, partly at the price of the pursuit of innovation, partly to evoke new desires among consumers. The need to adapt future CE models to ecological principles and current and future consumption patterns was also pointed out. At the end of this chapter, the most important documents of the European Union are summarized, characterizing its current and future policies in relation to the circular economy.

Chapter 4. Waste in a Circular Economy

4.1. Natural science and consequences for CE

The message of the CE is to ensure the availability of materials, energy and other resources for economic activity now and in the future. It results in desirable and undesirable streams of matter. The latter are only partly managed by nature and integrated into the various cycles of transformation operating in the biosphere. The others pose a growing threat to the environment and require complex countermeasures. There is general agreement that they should be utilized wherever possible, provided that they are recovered at economically justifiable costs. The simplest way to do this is efficient separation, which makes it possible to recover many basic materials (e.g. paper, glass, plastics, metals, food industry and household waste, green waste, etc.) and then recycle them. Many types of waste of a technical (industrial) nature need to be included in the outer sphere of the matter flow cycle. However, waste contains many valuable materials, substances and chemical elements that are dispersed in its mass and whose recovery is not possible or is too labour-, energy- and capital-intensive. As an example, the data in Table 12 document large differences in energy and water consumption when recovering metals from scrap and their ores. Circular economy calls for the introduction of a system for the recovery of useful elements (in free form or as chemical compounds). However this generates costs, requires energy and work, and often the use of technologies harmful to the environment. For example, obtaining 1 kg of magnesium or cobalt from scrap requires about 20 times less energy than extraction from ore. However, for platinum this ratio is alreadv much higher. Similar refers to water consumption (eu.europa.eu/docsroom/documents/27327). And in order to recover gold from electronic products, it is unavoidable to use substances such as potassium cyanide or royal water, which are detrimental to the environment.

Metal	Energy consumption MJ/kg		Water consumption (m3/t)	
	Scrap	Ore	Scrap	Ore
Magnesium	10	165-230	2	2-15
Cobalt	20-140	140-2.100	30-100	40-2.000
Platinum	1.400-5.000	18.800-255.000	3.000-6.000	100.000-
				1.100.000
Rare earth metals	1.000-5.000	5.500-7.200	250-1.250	1.270-1.800

Table 12. Comparison of energy and water consumption in the extraction of selected metals from their ores and scrap

Source: eu.europa.eu/docsroom/documents/27327

However, when these metals are dispersed in the waste structure, these expenses increase significantly due to segregation costs.

The paper seeks to answer important and topical questions that appear in the literature: To what extent is the world economy circular? What is the actual state of its implementation in the world and in the European Union? What are the achievements? What are the obstacles?

By their nature, answers to these questions are fragmented, incomplete and dependent on the availability of data. For example, Haas et. al. (2015, 2016) presented its state in the world and the European Union in 2005. The inflow of new materials into the economies was then (62Gt), 41Gt of waste was generated and only about 4Gt was recycled. The authors gave two reasons for this: 44% of recycled materials are used for energy production, about 5Gt are products with a short 'life', while the rest are used in construction, infrastructure or products with a longer life. As a result, globally only 6% of waste was reused. Data published in 2018 by the World Economic Forum (Global Circularity Report, 2018) reported that the global economy was 9.1% circular. The most recent data (Global Circularity Report, 2021) states that this percentage is around 8.6% for the world. This shows that despite the spread of the circular economy idea, the effects are small and possibly negative. The difference may be due to imperfections in the measurement method or the inclusion of more backward countries and previously not included. The corresponding indicator for the EU is slightly more favourable. Estimates indicate that if there are no changes in "business as usual" in 2030, Green House Gas emissions will be 60-70 billion tonnes. At the same time, the use of new materials in the global economy is projected to increase to 170 Gt in 2050. However, it is important to note that recycling is only one part of the GC.

Nature on Earth has for billions of years functioned on the basis of energy emitted by the Sun (Figure 7). The Sun's energy is radiated daily into all directions of the Universe, where the temperature is around 2.7 K (-270.4 °C). Only small part of radiation is directed into Earth. Merely 0.024% of the Sun's radiation is stored through photosynthesis by plants. This fraction, in addition to the weathering effects of the Sun's energy on the crust as well as the internal heat on Earth, shaped the conditions for the creation and storage of all biological and mineral resources. Finally, only these resources can be used by humanity for growth and survival.



Figure 7. Energy and matter cycle in biosphere Source: Skawińska, Zalewski R.I., 2020 a.

The circulation of matter in nature supported by solar energy was a set of processes of continuous circulation of biologically relevant chemical elements (so-called biogens) for million years. They run between the environment, which is a donor of carbon, nitrogen, oxygen, sulfur, phosphorus, hydrogen and many other elements needed in small or trace amounts and living organisms. The elements listed above occur in free form or as simple chemical compounds and are taken from the non-living environment by self-living organisms call PRODUCERS (e.g. bacteria, plants). Those organisms transformed them into the complicated organic and bioorganic compounds (e.g. starch, carbohydrates, enzymes, chlorophyll) that make up the structure of their own organisms, or are used to obtain the energy needed for their life cycle and feeding CONSUMERS or DESTRUENTS.

Other compounds are synthesized and used by animal and plant organisms to ensure their propagation. Dying plant and animal organisms are broken down by other organisms (DESTRUENTS, bacteria, fungus) into simple inorganic compounds or released as elements to NATURE, BIOSPHERE which are used by other organisms in their own life cycles. The next rungs of consumers on the trophic pyramid use the compounds obtained from other organisms for the same purposes. The organic matter of dying organisms returns to the environment after decomposition by reducers as water-soluble mineral salts, among other things.

Over millions of years, this excess has transformed itself into, for example, coal or lignite, oil deposits, rock salt or limestone. In addition to the weathering effects of the Sun's energy on the crust as well as the internal heat on Earth, shaped the conditions for the creation and storage of all biological and mineral resources humanity has at its disposal for survival. The Sun-Earth system in the past had strong global, spontaneous and vigorous tectonic processes such as continental migration, volcanic eruptions, collisions with other celestial bodies. Throughout the time they take place processes such as erosion, oxidation, mixing, cooling, melting, evaporation and precipitation, dispersion of materials, formation of mineral deposits. In many of these there was a circular turnover of matter.

The Earth is a physically closed system, characterized by the fact that no matter reaches it from the outside except comets, meteorites and cosmic dust and no matter is lost from the Earth. The conclusion from this is that in the whole biosphere there is no loss of mass of the elements mentioned above, only their relocation occurs. Circulation models in nature have been developed for the basic elements: oxygen, carbon, hydrogen, whose contents in the biosphere are respectively: 70%, 18% and 10%. All the other elements of the Mendeleev table constitute only 2% (including nitrogen and phosphor) of the total mass of the Earth's biosphere. For thousands of years man's influence on the relocation of basic elements and substances in his environment was marginal. It began only when the natural economy based on gathering and agriculture began to give way to the commodity economy (Toffler A., 1970) According to this author, economic development has a wave nature, which can be imagined as a series of irregular curves of increasing amplitude (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Development waves in human civilization Source: own elaboration.

The natural economy based on gathering and cultivation of land gave way to the first technological wave well before our era. The turn of the 17th/18th century saw the beginning of the second technological wave called the industrial wave. which lasted until the mid-20th century. It was based on the rapid development of natural (physics, chemistry, biology) and technical sciences. Main achievements are presented on the following figure (Figure 8). Their progress led to the increasing importance of science and knowledge in the economic development of the technological wave and the emergence of the third technological wave at the turn of the 20th/21st century. It is now accepted that the manufacturing industry has embarked on a 4th stage of growth (Industry 4.0). The term was used for the first time at the Hannover Fair in 2011 during a presentation by the 'Smart Factory' research project. The aim of this project was to increase resource efficiency and ergonomics, and to integrate with customers, consumers and partners. The technical foundations are in between: cyber-physical systems, Internet of Things, BigData, augmented technology, 4.0 Industry processes, logistics, new business and work organization models. A convergence of technologies based on information, communication, automation is expected (Figure 9).



Source: own elaboration

Explanations: 1 - improving iron smelting technology, textiles, trade, 2 - steam engine, railways, steel, cotton processing, 3 - electricity, chemicals, internal combustion engine, 4 - petrochemicals, electronics, aviation, space, 5 - biotechnology, software, information technology, 6 - green chemistry and nanotechnology, renewable energy, industrial ecology, sustainability, systems planning.

However, human activity, such as the burning of oil-based fuels, coal, the clearing of vast tracts of forest and many others human activities, is altering the balance in nature and leading to a noticeable and harmful increase in the concentration of carbon dioxide in atmosphere. The increasing and widespread use of nitrogen fertilizers and the release of nitrogen from municipal wastewater has seriously disrupted its cycling in the biosphere (e.g. Kuypers, Marchant, Kartal, 2018). The concentration of animal husbandry in large farms, which generally do not cultivate the land, also contributes to this. Many of them use animal manure to produce biogas and electricity to power the farm. This has led to a reduction in natural soil fertilization on large farms specializing in cereals, oilseed rape, potatoes, sugar beet, etc. due to the lack of manure. Human activities have also altered the cycle of phosphorus in the biosphere through excessive use of phosphate fertilizers and washing agents (Conley et al. 2009). A serious problem for the world is the disruption of the carbon cycle in nature, which has been progressing since the industrial revolution and has increased

rapidly in recent years. Its cause is, on the one hand, the increasing burning of coal and oil for heating, development of chemical industries (organic and inorganic chemistry, plastics, lime, cement, soda, fertilizers and many others) realizing carbon dioxide. On the other hand, the massive clearing of rainforests in Asian and South American countries does not ensure its inclusion in the photosynthetic process, as already written about 40 years ago (Falkowski et.al. 2000). This is evidenced by the doubling of carbon dioxide concentration in the air in the last two hundred years. The imbalance in this respect strongly influences the warming of the atmosphere, the climate change and the increase the number of violent atmospheric phenomena (precipitation, hurricanes, droughts) all over the globe intensifying in recent years.

An economic system, built on unlimited access to solar energy with low entropy, in theory allows the complete circulation of materials and thus their circular re-utilization. However, industrial society disperses matter: chemical elements and minerals all over the planet in a state of high entropy, which makes their recovery practically impossible (Kerschner, 2010) or requires considerable energy and auxiliary or harmful materials. Given adequate time, the Sun, along with the internal heat of Earth's inner cores, could provide the energy to partly restore irreversible degradation. However, the pace of such degradation is different for biological systems than for geological ones. Biological systems may be restored in decades or centuries, whereas geological resources such as coal or crude oil are non-renewable within the human timescale.

4.1.1. Circulation of inorganic materials

For many years there has been an increase in industrial production, which accelerates the circulation of elements and chemicals in production processes. It is assumed that the content of silicon, aluminium and iron in the lithosphere - (i.e. the outer crust of the Earth) is 37% and all the others, with the exception of oxygen (about 50%), only 14%. The thickness of this layer is not uniform and is estimated at several tens of kilometers. In the hydrosphere, other elements except oxygen and hydrogen constitute only 3% of the mass. In the biosphere, the proportion of all elements (except oxygen, carbon and hydrogen) is 2%, while in the atmosphere, nitrogen and oxygen account for 99%. From the above data, it is clear that practically the only source of raw materials for industry is the lithosphere, which contains 4% iron, 7% aluminium in the form of oxides or salts, and all other elements not mentioned here from the Mendeleev table are 14% (Morgan, Anders 1980). It is also known that most of them generally occur in considerable dispersion or in randomly dispersed deposits, in minerals of various kinds. Their extraction requires considerable expenditure of money and energy, followed by a series of further activities to separate them.

Current techniques for extracting minerals and raw materials only allow penetration of the earth's crust to depths of several kilometers. This limits their technical availability and results in a sharp increase in extraction costs as their depth increases. Subsequently, after the extraction of raw material (rock, liquid, gas), in order to obtain the desired elements or substances, further technological procedures are necessary. Thus, the following takes place:

- the process of transition from distribution of materials such as for example coal, oil, salt, metal ores in compact seams or scattered among rocks (gold, diamonds, amber) or marine water to ordering (desired material, ore, raw material, element) and increase of their market value, which requires considerable expenditure of labour, capital, energy,
- in further production processes the mass of raw material or elements (eg. gold, platinum, rare earth oxides and many others) is dispersed among individual units of the finished product,
- after meeting the expectations of the buyer and the passage of time, the product becomes waste, often of a very complex structure, which may be included in the circular cycle (R3 R7) or used for recycling (R8) or recovery (R9). The consequences of these actions must obey the laws of thermodynamics (which means energy expenditure), development of technologies, use of auxiliary materials, human work etc.
- limitations on the physical scale of the economy and transport,
- managerial constraints,
- social and cultural constraints (partly from 'Circular economy: the concept and its limits) (Korhonen J., Honkasalo A., Seppala I., 2018).

But can a circular economy be realized in this way? (de Man R., Friege H., 2016). Many authors believe that the above statements need to be answered, confronted with the following caveats and after solving the following problems:

- In reality, waste is almost never 'food' or useful material, understand as full quality resource dissipation. All production processes lead to waste, mixed materials, etc. Creating value from such materials needs energy, but creating a waste-free economy would need gigantic quantities of energy, appropriate technology and other supplementary materials. Complete recycling is therefore a thermodynamic impossibility: It will cost infinite quantities of energy and infinite time.
- 2. The assumption that natural nutrients can be fed into the ecosphere without any problems, regardless of their quantity is not true.
3. The production of beneficial consumer products almost always resulted in the generation of industrial wastes and used products or materials that turned out to be hazardous. Numerous manufacturing processes require technologies that require, for example, the use of chemicals that are harmful to human health and the cleanliness of the environment. Some of these technologies can be changed as a result of development and innovation research. This is the direction followed the bv recommendations of the recently published and adopted EU Chemicals Directive (European Commission, 2020 a).

On this basis we conclude that the assumption that 'circular' solutions necessarily lead to sustainable outcomes is questionable if not doubt-full. Such an outcome cannot be guaranteed. 'Circular' solutions can and do have negative ecological impacts and they may even be worse than so-called 'linear' solutions, especially with respect to energy use and in cases of risks coming up with certain compounds entering raw material chains. The sustainability guarantee of 'circular' solutions is partly illusory and questionable This conclusion follows from thermodynamics and is related to entropy.

Entropy is a thermodynamic function that determines the direction of spontaneous processes in an isolated thermodynamic system. It is a measure of the degree of disorder of the system and the dissipation of energy. According to the second law of thermodynamics, if a thermodynamic system moves from one equilibrium state to another, without external input (and therefore spontaneously), its entropy always increases (eg. Georgescu-Roegen, 2012, p. 50). Irreversible processes occur in nature, that is, processes that cannot be undone by any means. This means that neither after them nor after the efforts made to undo them has the slightest trace remained in nature. Experiences gathered by representatives of various sciences clearly indicate their spontaneity and irreversibility. The basic types of irreversible processes are heat conduction, heat generation and diffusion. In order for a process to be reversible, it must be carried out in such a way that the surroundings also spontaneously pass to the initial state. A general definition of the second law of thermodynamics can be found in the statement that heat cannot move independently from a body at a lower temperature to a body at a higher temperature.

Entropy is a measure of system's disorder. In particular, in this way entropy is treated and understand from the perspective of thermodynamic, chemistry, biochemistry, food chemistry, life sciences. According to the Second Law of Thermodynamics, the total entropy of any isolated thermodynamic system tends to either remain constant or increase over time, approaching a maximum value. This also means that an isolated system (in our case solar system) will gradually become more and more disordered. Entropy is associated with the process of the transformation of a high-quality energy (useful energy) into a low-quality energy

('low - grade' energy), or with the process of dissipation of useful energy. High quality energy is determined by its ability to do (useful) work. In physics and other sciences including life science, work and entropy are inversely related. The principal way to decrease entropy is to do work through the expenditure of free energy. If free energy is available and is expended to do useful work, then the system becomes more orderly and entropy decreases. But if all available energy has been expended, then no more work can be done, and entropy will either remain constant or increase (Bailey, 2009). This state of maximum entropy is called thermodynamic equilibrium. This is sometimes described as the state of "system death." Such thermodynamic systems, as found in nature, are "irreversible systems," where heat cannot flow from colder to hotter parts of the system, but only from hotter to colder areas. Thermodynamic entropy is denoted by the symbol S, and the formula for change in entropy is:

dS > dQ/T

where Q is heat, and T is the temperature of the system. The difference in two entropy states, S_1 and S_2 is:

 $S_2 - S_1 > dQ/T$

(irreversible process). Entropy (S) can only remain constant or increase, until it reaches a maximum. When the system is in thermodynamic equilibrium, then dS = 0.

In physics, work and entropy are inversely related. The principal way to decrease entropy is to do work through the expenditure of free energy is available, and is expended to do work, then the systems become more orderly and entropy decreases. But if all available energy has been expanded than no more work can be done, and entropy will either remain constant or increase.

Energy sources are very diluted (e.g. solar or geothermal), or highly concentrated (e.g. fossil fuels or nuclear energy) and both create problems. Fossil fuels have adverse effects on climate change due to carbon dioxide and smog emission on burning coal or lignit, whereas nuclear energy processing requires treatment of dangerous waste and entails the risk of accidents which happened in Czarnobyl (Russia) of Fukushima (Japan). To avoid the future problems, agreement exists that nations must promote renewable energies such as wind, sea waves or solar (photo-voltaic). In 2019 power generation from solar PV was estimated to have increased to 720 TWh and share almost 3% of global electricity generation. PV generation overtook bio-energy and is now the third-largest renewable electricity technology after hydropower and onshore wind (Global Wind Report 2021). For comparison 743 GW of wind power capacity worldwide, helping to avoid over 1.1 billion tonnes of CO2 globally – equivalent to the annual carbon emissions of South America "Achieving net zero greenhouse gas

emission by 2050 will require the rapid development of clean energy technologies. Research is essential to the sources of this clean energy transition" (Pathways, 2021).

However, this requires raw materials for construction of equipment which is 'more mineral intensive'. Question arises: do we have enough copper, silver, silicon, cadmium, tellurium, indium, selenium, or gallium for photo-voltaic technologies? or for wind turbines: neodymium, praseodymium, cobalt, samarium and dysprosium with boron despite, copper and other structural materials such as steel and aluminum? Biomass, on the other hand requires fertilizers to growth and after burning yields CO₂. Recently Valero et al. (2018) published a list of elements that might be at risk because of supply shortages for the development of green technologies.

Circular economics postulates the introduction of a system for the recovery of useful chemical elements (in free form or chemical compounds). This generates costs, requires energy and human labour, and often the use of materials and technologies that are harmful to the environment. Given adequate time, the Sun, along with the internal heat of Earth's inner cores, could provide the energy to partly restore irreversible degradation. However, the pace of such degradation is different for biological systems than for geological ones. Biological systems may be restored in decades or centuries, whereas geological resources are nonrenewable within the human timescale.

4.1.2. Circular of organic material

Industrial waste of organic origin should be included into the circular or cascading way before their final storage/disposal in the environment. Keijer et al. (2019) wrote: "By expanding the scope of sustainability to the entire lifecycle of chemical products, the concept of circular chemistry aims to replace today's linear 'take-make-dispose' approach with circular processes. This will optimize resource efficiency across chemical value chains and enable a closed-loop, waste-free chemical industry..." This opinion is strengthened for example by Elsevier's publication of the following 'Top 5 solutions suggested for chemical companies':

- 1. Source raw materials from safe and renewable points of origin
- 2. Treat internal manufacturing pipelines as sources of reusable material
- 3. Refurbish asset parts and machinery rather than discarding them
- 4. Form trade partnerships to exchange waste products for renewable resources Just as asset parts and machinery
- 5. Make safety and regulatory compliance core components of company culture

(https://www.elsevier.com/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/961601/Top-5-challenges-circular-economy_whitepaper_CHEM-RD_WEB.pdf).

The circular economy has gained wide interest in chemical industry to reduce harmful impacts while remaining economically competitive. For example Somoza-Tornos et al. (2020) explore the benefits of CE approach in the chemical industry, quantifying explicitly the economic 0.386 Euro vs. 0.835 Euro with the previous method. In addition, they use less harmful chemicals and more safe for humans and ecosystem. Other examples of new methods of synthesis with application of carbon bi-oxide in sustainable utilization and production of plastic were described by Clark et al. (2016) Some processes include the extraction of high-quality biochemical substances and materials (bio-refining), which occur in the biomass even in small quantities, or their conversion into high-quality chemicals for the fuel industry (e.g. alcohols, esters and others), packaging materials, pharmaceuticals, cosmetics, etc. However, most of the abovementioned methods require the use of complex chemical and/or physical processes, which in their nature are energy-intensive and require the use of auxiliary chemicals, e.g. for extraction. Another author calls on chemists: "Chemists around the World, Take Your Part in the Circular Economy!" (Chatel, 2020).

Waste can also be converted into compost and fed to plant crops (CIRAIG 2015, p. 50), limiting the use of artificial fertilizers. Allocation of waste e.g. for energy purposes - incineration or subjecting to anaerobic processes (transformation by bacteria in an anaerobic environment) for the production of fuel materials, e.g. methane - should be the last option in the process of disposal of organic waste, including municipal and animal ones. According to Korhonan et. al. (2018, p. 40), as much as possible biological waste should return to the circulation in the biosphere and participate in its quantitative growth and diversity. This will decrease release of carbon bi-oxide to atmosphere.

Food waste caused by the growing human population (about 6.5 billion today, forecast to grow to 9 and 11 in 2050 and 2100 respectively) (GFSI, 2019), and the food chain losses (of about 1550 million tonnes or \$1200 billion) is a special problem (Hegnsholt et al. 2018).

An organic waste with high harm to the terrestrial environment is nondegradable plastic packaging. Similarly, recovering tonnes of micro-plastic in the oceans, even in the presence of revolutionary solar-powered clean-up technology, is a highly unlikely task. (Śmiechowska M., 2019). Micro-plastic ingested by zooplankton can be transferred to commercially important fish species and through the food chain with potential effects on human health (Setälä, O. et al 2014).

Industrial waste of organic origin should be included into the circular flow in a cascading way before their final storage in the environment. These processes include the extraction of high-quality biochemical substances and materials (biorefining), which occur in the biomass even in small quantities, or their conversion into high-quality chemicals for the fuel industry (e.g. alcohols, esters and others), packaging, pharmaceuticals, cosmetics, etc. However, most of the abovementioned methods require the use of complex chemical and/or physical processes, which in their nature are energy-intensive and require the use of auxiliary chemicals, e.g. for extraction. Waste can also be converted into compost and fed to plant crops (CIRAIG 2015, p. 50), limiting the use of artificial fertilizers. Allocation of waste for energy purposes - incineration or subjecting to anaerobic processes (transformation by bacteria in an anaerobic environment) for the production of fuel materials, e.g. methane - should be the last option in the process of disposal of organic waste, including municipal and animal waste. According to Korhonan et. al. (2018, p. 40), as much as possible biological waste should return to the circulation in the biosphere and participate in its quantitative growth and diversity.

Waste streams can be used in natural cycles by the biosphere and at the same time benefit the economy. According to Korhonen and colleagues, an example is the carbon dioxide emissions of the Finnish timber industry, which is less than the amount consumed by the recovering forest resource (Korhonen et al. 2018, p 40). In this case, the forest functions as a carbon reservoir. This example leads to the term 'net carbon emissions' (NCE). It means the difference between the emission to the environment **EE** and the absorption by the environment **AE**. The problem is to make the net emission NCE = EE - AE as small as possible or even negative. Then the environment will accumulate this greenhouse gas. Forests are an important ally here. This issue received much attention at the 24th COP in Katowice, where a declaration "Forests for Climate" was adopted (COP, 2018). The exceptions to the document are set out below: "Acknowledging the important role of forests as sinks and reservoirs of greenhouse gases, in mitigating climate change, and simultaneously recognizing the need for reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation.". Further recognizing that forests have a decisive role to play in the sequestration and storage of carbon in the soil, trees and other vegetation, and in providing goods, resources and materials with a smaller carbon footprint, such as harvested wood products...". Sharing the UN Strategic Plan for Forests' vision of a world in which all types" (COP, 2018). Efforts have now been made in the EU to plant millions of trees in the coming years. Another initiative in this direction is the Declaration 'Partnership for Electromobility' proposed by Poland and the UK and supported by 40 developed and developing countries (COP, 2018a). "The aim of the partnership is to bring together countries, regions, cities as well as institutions, organizations and companies working on developing electromobility and particularly: construction of infrastructure for electric vehicles; creating an incentive system for buyers, setting targets related to electric fleets and to public procurements. The new fund for electromobility has been set up with the World

Bank within the framework of the "Mobility and Logistics Trust Fund" (https://cop24.gov.pl/news/news-details/news/driving-change-together0).

4.2. Barriers

The paper seeks to answer important and topical questions that appear in the literature: To what extent is the world economy circular? What is the actual state of its implementation in the world and in the European Union? What are the achievements? What are the obstacles?

By their nature, answers to these questions are fragmented, incomplete and dependent on the availability of data. For example, Haas et. al. (2015, 2016) presented its state in the world and the European Union in 2005. The inflow of new materials into the economies was then (62Gt), 41Gt of waste was generated and only about 4Gt was recycled. The authors gave two reasons for this: 44% of recycled materials are used for energy production, about 5Gt are products with a short 'life', while the rest are used in construction, infrastructure or products with a longer life. As a result, globally only 6% of waste was reused. Data published in 2018 by the World Economic Forum (Global Circularity Report, 2018) reported that the global economy was 9.1% circular. The most recent data (Global Circularity Report. 2021) states that this percentage is around 8.6% for the world. This shows that despite the spread of the circular economy idea, the effects are small and possibly negative. The difference may be due to imperfections in the measurement method or the inclusion of more backward countries and previously not included. The corresponding indicator for the EU is slightly more favourable. Estimates indicate that if there are no changes in "business as usual" in 2030, Green House Gas emissions will be 60-70 billion tonnes. At the same time, the use of new materials in the global economy is projected to increase to 170 Gt in 2050. However, it is important to note that recycling is only one part of the GC.

The implementation of circular economy principles in reality faces numerous obstacles. As an example, the results of a review paper of 195 publications (Galvao et al. 2018). The barriers that appear most frequently are: technological (11), policy and regulatory (19), financial and economic (11), managerial barriers (4), performance indicators (4), customer (interest in the environment issues or lack of information on environmental impacts) (8) and social (5). In turn, Grafstrom J. and Asama S. (2021) list the following barriers to CE: technological, marketing, institutional and social. In another paper (Ada N., et. al. 2021) authors investigate the main barriers to CE implementation in the food supply chain. Seven main categories of barriers were identified:

- cultural: a lack of consumer awareness and interest for cultural reasons,
- business and business finance: insufficient access to investment and infrastructure for market design,

- regulatory and governmental: weak regulations, policies, taxation, and incentives established by governments,
- technological: technological limitations,
- managerial: limited application of business models by management,
- supply chain management: poor cooperation between suppliers because of ineffective supply chain management,
- knowledge and skills: difficulties when defining the boundaries of CE due to the lack of knowledge and skills.

In another publication (Friant et al. 2020) the authors list and analyze a number of other barriers eg.: ignoring the principles of conservation of energy and thermodynamics, the links between matter, energy and bio-diversity, lack of knowledge identifying the full impact of CE and cultural change or alternative understandings of circularity. For example, they stress that materials degrade quantitatively and qualitatively and cannot circulate indefinitely. This means that they undergo dispersion in the environment. For this reason, total circulation is like a mirage. Furthermore, every activity in the circular economy requires energy. Even if it is from the sun, obtaining it requires huge inputs of materials (e.g. rare earth metals) whose resources are limited and difficult to access. It also appears that some production systems define themselves as circular but have a greater environmental impact than their linear competitors (e.g. bio-fuels, bio-polymers). One of the organizational barriers is the lack of objective methods to measure CE performance especially in terms of environmental benefit. It is also worth noting that the social dimension of CE is poorly presented in the literature.

According to other authors, the rapidly growing mass of raw materials and products produced and transported in the world, management difficulties, defensive posture of previous technologies and business models against the competition of new ones, the need to implement new social attitudes and cultural changes (Korhonen, Honkasalo, Seppala, 2018). A slowdown in the growth of demand for oil and coal can be expected due to an increase in the cost of carbon dioxide emissions and an increase in demand for electricity. Meeting it will be possible provided that radical innovative solutions are applied and that 'open innovation' is more widely used in the field of new solar and photovoltaic technologies, the use of sea and ocean wave energy, wind power, electricity storage, more efficient light sources and electrical appliances, electrically conductive materials, new computer technologies (bio-computers) and many others. Fast-growing and innovative startups can help here (Zalewski, Skawińska 2020; Bauwens T., et al., 2019). The increase in demand for food will most likely force new ways of growing plants and vegetables and new methods of animal husbandry or reduce meat consumption by synthetic one in future. Synthetic meat production is currently under development and consumer's trials. An increase in these productions will be associated with an increase in demand for water and

energy. The organoleptic and sensory quality of food produced in this way are a separate issue. Innovations in biotechnology are expected (new generations of medicines and vaccines, medical materials, equivalents of human internal organs, blood vessels, bones and joints).

We also draw attention to one very important reason: economic, social, environmental and technical rationality, which in most GC functions is subject to the constraints of the laws of physics, especially thermodynamics, as well as chemistry and biology. In our opinion, among the problems requiring further intensive research in the field of GC are especially the broadly understood rationality of GC tasks, methods and activities in close connection with the laws of natural sciences. It is extremely important to confront the views of economists and the achievements of economic sciences in its field of competence with objective laws of nature and to point out the illusory nature of some economic constructions.

According to the authors, among the problems requiring further intensive research in the area of GC is especially the broadly understood rationality of tasks, methods and actions in close connection with the laws of natural sciences mainly: physics (thermodynamics), chemistry and biology. According to De Decker (2018) "...A more responsible use of resources is of course an excellent idea. But to achieve that, recycling and re-use alone aren't enough. Since 71% of all resources cannot be recycled or re-used (44% of which are energy sources and 27% of which are added to existing stocks), you can only really get better numbers by reducing total use". These words are supported by nine publications. In a similar vein Allwood (2014) stated that trying to "meet human needs while minimizing environmental impact" would be a better goal than material circularity" (Allwood, J. M., 2014, 445-477).

4.3. Debatable remarks

The first group of criticisms and doubts has a natural science and physicochemical background. It has been argued that because engineering and natural sciences lay the ground for most knowledge behind the circular economy (Korhonen et al., 2018a), less attention is paid on:

- social pillar (Blomsma & Brennan, 2017; Murray et al., 2017),
- business routines, consumption patterns, and alternative approaches to circularity (Schulz Y., Lora-Waingriht A., 2019),
- socio-ethical issues (Inigo E.A., Blok A., 2019),
- trend to ignore basic principles of biophysics (Kovacic et al., 2020),
- the tensions between biophysical limits and progress and growth.

Constructive lessons can and should be drawn from this information for the future, setting new goals and recommendations by examining the holistic and complex interrelationships that exist between all stakeholders and the threats to the living and non-living environment. This is encouraged by numerous authors, among them Sauve et. al. (2015).

Globally, growth has been coupled with resource consumption and environmental pressures and is not likely to decrease. The concept of CE assume that material resources could be increasingly sourced from the Earth, environmental impact will slowly decrease and the reuse and recycling of materials will continuously increase. (Hickel and Kallis, 2020; Wiedmann et al., 2020). In fact "the low potential for circularity is because a very large share of primary material throughput needs energy carriers, which are degraded through use as explained by the laws of thermodynamics and cannot be recycled (https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/growth-without-economicgrowth). In fact the slope of relative changes global material footprint (GMF), gross domestic product (GDP) and greenhouse gases emissions (GHG) (https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/EN.ATM.CO2E.KT) have increased rapidly over time and strongly correlate.

The second line of criticism and doubts is based on the economic feasibility of CE in the current system of market capitalism, which is the dominant economic model in the European Union. In the 1980's, Schnaiberg (1980) introduced the theory of the 'production treadmill' (https://study.com/academy/lesson/ allan-schnaiberg-the-treadmill-of-productionenvironmental-sociology.html). It presupposed, that "rapid economic development and growth led to a huge demand of natural resources and new technologies required more and more energy use. Every time new investment were made or new industries popped up, we use more and more natural resources". This theory can now be expanded to include some new examples. The development of urban infrastructure, create a heat spot that increases air pollution and degrades the ecosystem. The availability of transport modes (car, aeroplane) causes an increase in noise pollution. The intensification of livestock farming and the increase in the number of animals in livestock farms often leads to epidemics. The increased affluence of the population in many countries results in spiraling consumerism, food waste and increased litter. Every time this happened environmental degradation got worse. Both industrialists and workers persist in the belief that new technologies will make production greener. In fact, this often does not happen. The only thing that makes the system work is increasing production and disposing of waste elsewhere. Such a system must eventually collapse.

This partly explains why, regardless of the obvious environmental benefits, the economic viability of the CE paradigm is challenged by market dynamics and

regulatory inefficiencies that potentially lead to higher production costs (Genovese et al., 2019, p. 95-113). The environmental benefits may be obvious. Companies rely on the need to maintain the economic viability of their operations and investments, while market mechanisms (e.g. price increases for intermediate products, different components supplied by one company to another) can strongly discourage the adoption of CE strategies. Consequently, many researchers question its applicability in free-market and growth-oriented economic systems. Moreover, firms are already capturing most of the economically and technically attractive recycling, remanufacturing and reuse opportunities (for example de Man R, Friege H., 2016, 34, 93-5). This leads them to argue that achieving higher levels of circularity may come at an economic cost that European economies will not be able to cope with especially as companies are already struggling with high and rising resource prices. Indeed, the benefits of recycling materials tend to diminish until a tipping point is reached where recycling may be economically too expensive to provide a net benefit. For example, recycling of bulk materials (e.g. plastics) has not been sufficiently efficient in many European countries that have not invested in efficient infrastructure (Coyle, et al. 2017). Although the marine plastic waste and plastic waste trade have attracted global attention in recent years, the academic community has not paid much attention to it until recently (Śmiechowska, 2019; Zhao et al., 2021).

A third problem with CE is of political nature. It's been observed that capitalism escapes regulation and tends to expand by removing state capacity to expand through new ways of commodification and appropriation. If this is true, achievement an ideal CE paradigm, would undermine a further expansion of capitalism (and economic growth itself). In addition a technocratic authoritative version of CE, in which resource access are denied to the vast majority of humanity and CE could lead to concentration of capital upgrading means of resources and production capability, more stringent legislation etc. As a consequence, oligopolistic structures could emerge, and control entire value chains. In this sense, the idea of CE could open the door to unexpected dystopian futures.

Policymaking by governments is the first step to creating an enabling environment for the circular transition: minimum percentage of recycled content in materials; setting environmental standards in public contracts; assigning higher weightage to circular suppliers when evaluating bids. Policymakers can encourage creation and encouraging collaboration for innovation activity across sectors by creating conditions for use public funds to encourage private investment (for example technological startups). Governments, through their policies also influence their global trade relations and political partners. (www.thecollective.com/post/four-ways-government-policies-are-acceleratingthe-circular-transition? Policymakers can help pave the way towards a world without Covid-19, low-carbon environment and more prosperous future.

According to Hartley and colleagues (Hartley et al. 2020) there are relatively few academic studies on policies that may accelerate a transition towards a circular economy. Authors presents eight recommendations from a product lifecycle perspective that is necessary for a transition towards a circular economy in near future:

- 1. further adoption of circular design standards and norms (eg. BS 8000) at the EU level,
- 2. expand circular procurement by the EU and member states,
- 3. alterations to taxes on CE-based products,
- 4. liberalization of waste trading,
- 5. facilitate development of circular trading platforms,
- 6. creation of eco-industrial parks,
- 7. circular economy marketing and promotion campaign,
- 8. global material flow accounting database.

In our opinion those recommendations are mostly fair. However liberalization of waste trading seems to be very risky, especially for underdeveloped and less developed countries. Trade in pollutants can be abused by rich countries by 'exporting' them, which is often the case even in Europe. Development of special trading platforms to strengthen CE with the support of Internet of Things, BigData, Industry 4.0 (eg. Tseng M-L et al. 2018), Marketing 4.0, augmented technology and other tools seems to be very promising.

However recently, Kirchherr and Santen (2019) published a very short text analysing the quantitative and sectoral level of circular economy research (Kirchherr J., van Santen R., 2019). First, they found that economic practice is not interested in the theoretical nuances of circular economics. It expects science to provide knowledge and advice on how to implement CE in practice. Meanwhile, only about 20% of publications contain useful content and advice for business. Slightly more often it promotes information important for policy makers and politicians. Related to this is the observation that in much of the work at the science-industry interface, a small number of businesses are involved. For this reason, the results obtained in this way have limited weight. The cited authors, who are world recognized, state that most of the work on CE is on the manufacturing industry. Only about 9 % is devoted to the service sector. And yet circular economy models include numerous economic activities of a service nature. This applies, for example, to most of the R's in the Morselleto model. One comment also concerns the relatively low representation of research devoted to CE in developing countries. It is also worth mentioning an article, in which the authors present recommendations resulting from interviews conducted in 40

companies that have successfully implemented CE in manufacturing strategy (Galvao et al. 2021). "The results suggest that absolute barriers emerge as an extreme theoretical reference of minor occurrence in practice". It is normal, that obstracles happen frequently and should be converted into advantage as strategy incorporated into CE business model.

It should also be stressed that there are some conceptual differences between economics, management and social sciences on the one hand and natural and technical sciences on the other, shown as dashed lines in Figure 10. They concern the impossibility of opposing natural forces that prevent the realisation of some important CE postulates.



Figure 10. Relationships between actors "on stage" of the circular economy Source: own drawing. Dashed lines indicate existing differences between the actors.

A circular economy future where waste no longer exists, where material loops are closed, and the products are recycled indefinitely is therefore, in natural science sense, impossible. Every loop around the circle creates dissipation of matter and entropy, attributed to losses in quantity (physical material losses, by-products) and quality (mixing, downgrading). New materials and energy must be injected into any circular material loop, to overcome these dissipative losses. (Cullen, 2017, p. 483). In other words even cyclical systems consume resources and create wastes and emissions (Korhonen et al., 2018a) and the energy required to operate a circular economy (Allwood, 2014).

In the current situation the world should solve the following problems: reduce consumption and demand for material goods, lower the average level of carbon bi-oxide and fight the COVID-19 pandemic.

SUMMARY

The literature on circular economics pays relatively little attention to the views of representatives of other disciplines. The message of CE is to ensure the

availability of materials, energy and other resources for economic activity now and in the future. Circular economy requires the introduction of a system of segregation, recovery of all useful materials, parts of equipment, components, etc. However, this generates costs, requires energy and labour, and often involves the use of environmentally harmful technologies. The questions then arise: Is or can the global economy be a circular economy? What are its achievements? What are the obstacles?

Answers were sought mainly in the natural sciences: physical, chemical, biological. Other opinions touching on social and cultural aspects were also taken into account. The implementation of circular economy principles in reality faces numerous obstacles. One of them is the principles of conservation of energy and thermodynamics, the links between matter, energy and biodiversity, which are valid in the universe and in nature. To introduce these problems, the authors have presented the circulation of the most important elements in nature, which has been accurately recognized by science in its innovative development. Therefore, Chapter 4 briefly characterizes the circulation of inorganic and organic materials and the laws of nature governing them. It is noted that the extraction of fossil minerals (metal ores, oil, coal) is increasingly difficult and requires increasing resources. And most of them, once used, are dispersed and cannot be recovered or are transformed into harmful substances (e.g. carbon dioxide, sulphur dioxide, phosphorus compounds and many others).

Other concerns raised in the literature are based on the economic feasibility of CE in the current system of market capitalism, which is the dominant economic model in the European Union. It has been noted that "rapid development and economic growth leads to huge demands on natural resources, and new technologies require increasing energy consumption. The development of urban infrastructure creates heat spots that increase air pollution and degrade the ecosystem. The availability of transport modes (car, plane) increases noise and air pollution. The increased affluence of society in many countries is causing spirals of consumerism, food waste, waste of other goods and an increase in rubbish.

CONCLUSION

Adjustments of economies in linear development to sustainable adjustments face many difficulties or even resistance from the beneficiaries of the status quo. Research shows that the current way of managing the world is causing significant environmental and social damage, often irreversible. In view of this, the future scenarios for a better change and the related management choices are clear. Their implementation will be enforced by societies in their political agendas, business models and supported by changes in the value hierarchy of its members. The non-economic effects of economic activity, i.e. health, social, ethical, psychological and cultural as well as security, are becoming increasingly important for them. Thus, let us note that the primary cause of the need for sustainable development is the unpleasant and intensifying consequences of the hitherto way of managing, resulting from the assumptions of the linear model, and the secondary one is the change in the behaviour of society.

On the basis of a deep study of the literature on the problem, the authors have identified in the presented work the challenges facing science in relation to the circular economy, in the context of the growth of rational management in the future. They presented a model of the circulation of matter and energy in nature, affecting the cycle of life and development. The work has an interdisciplinary character, which is required by the broad concept of sustainable and balanced development and the circular economy.

A future circular economy where there is no more waste, where material loops are closed and products are recycled indefinitely, is therefore, in a natural sense, difficult to realize and perhaps impossible. Each loop around the circle results in dissipation of matter and an increase in entropy, quantitative losses (physical material losses, by-products) and qualitative losses (mixing, lowering of quality). In other words, even cyclic systems consume the resources and energy necessary for a circular economy and create waste and emissions.

In the current situation, the world needs to solve the following problems: reduce consumption and demand for material goods, lower average carbon dioxide levels, and combat the COVID-19 pandemic. The authors show that the circular economy is consistent with the RTZ concept and fits into the European Green Deal.

REFERENCES

A system change Compass: Implementing the European Green Deal in a time of recovery (2020) The Club of Rome, October (https://www.clubofrome.org/publication/a-system-change-compass-implementing-the-european-green-deal-in-a-time-of-recovery/).
Act (2001). Environmental Protection Act of 2001. https://www.informea.org/en/legislation/environmental-protection-act-2001.

Accenture (2015) Circular Advantage Innovative Business Models and Technologies to Create Value without Limits to Growth, www.accenture.com/t20150523T053139_w_/us-en/acnmedia/Accenture/ Conversion-Assets/DotCom/Documents/Global/PDF/Strategy_6/Accenture-Circular-Advantage-Innovative-Business-Models-Technologies-Value-Growth.pdf.

Ada, N., Yigit Kazancoglu, Y., Sezer, M.D., Ede-Senturk, C., Ram, M. (2021). Analyzing Barriers of Circular Food Supply Chains and Proposing Industry 4.0 Solutions, *Sustainability*, 13, 6812. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13126812.

Adamczyk, J. (2009). *Społeczna odpowiedzialność przedsiębiorstw*. Teoria i praktyka. PWE. Warszawa.

Aladeojebi, T.K. (2013). Planned Obsolescence. International Journal of Scientific & Engineering Research, 4 (6), pp. 1504-8.

Allwood, J.M. (2014). Squaring the Circular Economy: The Role of Recycling within a Hierarchy of Material Management Strategies. In: Worrell, E., Reuter, M. (Eds.) *Handbook of Recycling: State of-the-art for Practitioners, Analysts, and Scientists*, pp. 445-477. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-396459-5.00030-1.

Amadeo, K. (2021). *Largest Economies in the World*, https://www.thebalance.com/world-s-largest-economy-3306044.

Andersen, M.S. (2007). An introducrory note on the environmental economics of the circular economy Sustainability Science 2, pp. 133-140.

Bailey, K.D. (1990). Social Entropy Theory. State University of New York Press, Albany.

Bailey, K.D. (2009). System science and cybernetics – Entropy Systems Theory. Encyclopedia of Life Support Systems (EOLSS) https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.638.2725&rep=rep1&t vpe=pdf.

Baldassarre, B., Schepers, M., Bocken, N., Cuppen, E., Korevaar, G., & Calabretta, G. (2019). Industrial Symbiosis: Towards a design process for eco-industrial clusters by integrating circular economy and industrial ecology perspectives. *Journal of Cleaner Production, 216*, pp. 446–460.

Banoniene, J., Dagiliene, L., Circular Economy: Technologies for Circulation, 9th International Conference on Applied Economics. Contemporary Issues in Economy, Toruń, Poland, 22-23 June 2017.

Bauwens, T., Mees, R., Gerardts, M., Van Dune, J., Bani, M., Friedl, H., Von Daniels, C., Teurlings, C., Brasz, M., Henry, M., Hekkert, M., Kirchherr, J. (2019)

Disruptors: How Circular Start-ups Can Accelerate the Circular Economy Transition, University Utrecht.

- Blomsma, F., Brennan, G. (2017). The Emergence of Circular Economy: A New Framing Around Prolonging Resource Productivity, *Journal of Industrial Ecology* 2017, (3) https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12603_
- Bocken, N.M.P., de Pauw, I., Bakker, C., van der Grinten, B. (2016). Product design and business model strategies for a circular economy. J. Ind. Prod. Eng. 33, pp. 308–320.
- Borys, T. (2010). Koncepcja zrównoważonego rozwoju w naukach ekonomicznych. IN: Poskrobko, W.B. (red). Edukacja dla zrównoważonego rozwoju, t. 2., Wrocław – Białystok. Wyd. Ekonomia i Środowisko.
- Boulding, K.H. The Economics of the Coming Spaceship Earth. (Eoearth org; 1966).
- Braun, K. (2012). Von Leonardo zu George de Mestral der Weg der Bionik bis in unseree Zeit. In: Kiridus-Goeller, R., Seifert, E.K. Evolution – Ware- Oekonomie, pp. 153-160. Muenchen, oekom verlag.
- Brown, L. (2006). Eco-economy up-date, pp. 2006-11. Earth Policy Institute, earthpolicy.org/Books/PB2/Contents.
- Brundtland, G.H. (1987). Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development: Our Common Future. https://www.are.admin.ch/are/en/home/media/publications/sustainabledevelopment/brundtland-report.html.
- Brzęczek, T. (2011). Istotność i korelacja atrybutów kapitału społecznego Wielkopolski. In: Skawińska E. (red). *Badanie kapitału społecznego w Wielkopolsce. Diagnoza stanu i perspektywy wzrostu.* Wyższa Szkoła Bankowa w Poznaniu. Poznań.
- BS 8001 (2017). Framework for implementing the principles of the circular economy in organizations Guide. https://www.bsigroup.com/en-GB/standards/benefits-of-using-standards/becoming-more-sustainable-with-standards/BS8001-Circular-Economy/.
- Buil, P., Roger-Loppacher, O., Selvam, R.M., Prieto-Sandoval, V. The Involvement of Future Generations in the Circular Economy Paradigm: An Empirical Analysis on Aluminium Packaging Recycling in Spain. *Sustainability*. 2017; 9(12):2345. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9122345.
- Butterworth, J. et. al. (2014). Special section: towards a circular economy. Europe's World Summer 2014 (Greener Europe) p.47-67. in: https://www3.weforum.org /docs/WEF_ENV_ Towards Circular Economy_Report_2014.pdf
- Bylok, F. (2018). Społecznie odpowiedzialna konsumpcja, *Marketing i Rynek, 4,* pp. 99-110.
- Carroll, A.B. (2018). Corporate Responsibility (CSR) and Corporate Social Performance (CSP) in: The SAGE Encyclopedia of Business Ethics and Society, Ed. Robert W. Kolb. SAGE Publications, Inc., Thousand Oaks, pp. 746-754. http://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781483381503.n265.
- Campbell-Johnson, K., Vermoulrn, W.J.V., Reike, D., Brullol, S. (2020), The Circular Economy and Cascading: Towards a Framework. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 7, 100038.

Charter, M. (2016). Sustainable Innovation 2016: Key Lessons. Circular Economy
Innovation & Design. Available at: https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/circular-
economy-innovation-design-martin-charter-irsa?trk=mp-author-card_ (accessed
(19.03.2021).
Services (2015). Circular economy.
A critical literature review of concepts. Polytechnique Montreal.
www.ciraig.org/pdf/CIRAIG_Circular_LiteratureReview_Oct.2015.pdf.
Circular economy research and innovation. Connecting economic & environmental gain
https://ec.europa.eu/programmes/horizon2020/sites/default/files/ce_booklet.pdf.
Circularity Gap 2021. www.circularity-gap.world/2021.
Chatel, E. (2020). Chemists around the World, Take Your Part in the Circular
Economy! Chemistry - A European Journal, 26, 44, pp. 9665-9673. https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.202002327.
Chemical strategy towards a toxic-free environment
(https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip 20 1839).
Clark, J. H., Farmer, T. J., Herrero-Davila, L., Sherwood, J. (2016) Circular economy
design considerations for research and process development in the chemical
sciences. Green Chemistry. 14, pp. 3914-3934.
https://doi.org//10.1039/C6GC00501B.
Coase, R.H. (1998). The New Institutional Economics. The American Economic
<i>Review.</i> 88, 2. p.72.
Cole, M., Lindeque, P., Fileman, E., Halsband, C., Goodhead, R., Moger, J.,
Galloway, T.S. (2013). Microplastic Ingestion by Zooplankton, <i>Environ. Sci. Technol.</i> 47, 6646–6655. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es400663f.
Conley, D. J., Paerl, H.W., Howarth, R.W., Boesch, D.F., Seitzinger, S.P., Havens,
K.E., Lancelot, Ch., Likens, G.E. (2009). Controlling Eutrophication: Nitrogen and Phosphorus". <i>Science</i> , <i>323</i> , 1014–1015.
Convention (1992). Konwencja różnorodności biologicznej, Rio de Janerio 5 czerwca 1992r. Dz U z 2002 r. nr 184. poz. 1532.
(http://isan seim gov nl/isan nsf/DocDetails xsn?id=WDU20021841532)
Cooper D.R. Skelton A.C.H. Movnihan M.C. Allwood J.M. (2014) Component
level strategies for exploiting the lifespan of steel in products" <i>Resources</i>
Conservation and Recycling 84. 74–
34 https://doi.org/10.1016/i resconrec 2013.11.014
COP 24 (2018) United Nations Climate Change Conference Katowice
Poland https://con24 gov pl
COP 24 (2018a) https://cop24.gov.pl/news/news-details/news/driving-change-
together()
COP 24 (2018b) (Katowice) https://cop24.gov.pl/fileadmin/user_upload/Ministerial
Katowice Declaration on Forests for Climate OFFICIAL FNG ndf
COP 26 (2021) https://ukcop26.org/cop26-goals/
201 -0 (-0-1), https://dicopho.org/opho. Bould.

- Corrigan, G., Crotti, R., Drzeniek-Hanouz, M., Serin, C. (2014). Assessing Progress toward Sustainable Competitiveness. In: *Global Competitiveness Report 2014– 2015*, 53–83. K. Schwab, Geneva: World Economic Forum.
- Constanza, R., Daly, H. (1992). Ecological Economics: The Science of Management of Sustainability. Columbia University Press.
- Corvellec, H., Stovell, A.F., Jonansson, N. (2021), Critiques of the circular economy. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, pp. 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.13187.
- Cullen, J. M. (2017). Circular Economy: Theoretical Benchmark or Perpetual Motion Machine? *Journal of Industrial Ecology* 21 (3), p. 483. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12599.
- Czaja, S., Becla, A. (2011). Spory wokół koncepcji nauki ekonomii zrównoważonego i trwałego rozwoju - ujęcie problemowo-dydaktyczne, *Ekonomia Economics* 5(17) pp. 35-45.
- Daly, H. E. (1996). Beyond Growth: The Economics of Sustainable Development. Boston: Beacon Press. ISBN 9780807047095
- De Decker, K. (2018). How circular is the circular economy (http://unevenearth.org/2018/11/how-circular-is-the-circular-economy/)
- De Man, R., Friege, H. (2016). Circular economy: European policy on shaky ground. Waste Management & Research: *The Journal for Sustainable Circular Economy*, 34, pp. 93-5.
- Demirbas, A. (2009). Global renewable energy projections. *Energy Sources*, Part B, 4:212–224.
- Demirbas, A. (2009). Biofuels securing the planet's future energy needs, *Energy Conversion and Management*, *50*, 9, 2239-2249.
- Deschorers, P. (2002). Regional development and inter-industry recycling linkages: some historical perspective. *Entrep. Reg. Dev.* 14, pp. 49-65.
- EIS 2021. European Innovation Scoreboard (2021). Executive summary (https://ec.europa.eu/docsroom/documents/46411)
- Ellen MacArthur Foundation (2012). Towards the Circular Economy: an economic and business rationale for an accelerated transition, p. 7, 24.
- Ellen MacArthur Foundation (2013). *Towards the Circular Economy: an economic and business rationale for an accelerated transition*, p. 14–16.
- Ellen MacArthur Foundation (2013 a). The Circular model an overview,
- https://ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/topics/circular-economy-introduction/overview.
- European Commission (2010). Europa 2020 A Strategy for Smart, Sustainable and Inclusive Growth, Brussels, https://eur
 - lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=COM:2010:2020:FIN:EN:PDF (accessed 04.10.2019).
- European Commission (2011). Roadmap to a Resource Efficient Europe COM 571 https://www.eea.europa.eu/policy-documents/com-2011-571-roadmap-to.
- European Commission (2013). Program działań na rzecz środowiska.
- European Commission (2018). COM (2018) Communication on monitoring framework for the circular economy
 - (https://www.eumonitor.eu/9353000/1/j9vvik7m1c3gyxp/vkl2lgcz44w4).

- European Commission, 2018. Report on Critical Raw Materials and the Circular Economy eu.europe.eu/ docsroom/documents/27327 (accessed 03.02.2021).
- European Commission (2019 a). Action plan

https://ec.europa.eu//commission/prescorner/detail/en/ip_21_2345.

European Commission (2019) A European Green Deal

https://ec.europa.eu/info/strategy/priorities-2019-2024/european-green-deal_en.

European Commission (2020 a). Chemical strategy towards a toxic-free environment" (https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip 20 1839).

European Commission (2020) Circular economy action plan.

https://ec.europa.eu/environment/strategy/circular-economy-action-plan_en_

European Commission (2021). A European Green Deal. Striving to be the first climate-neutral continent https://ec.europa.eu/info/strategy/priorities-2019-2024/european-green-deal.

European Commission (2021 a) europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-9-2021-0083_EN.html.

- European Parliament (2015). Questions parlementaires. Object: Abandon du paquet sur l'économie circulaire dans le programme de travail de la Commission pour 2015. https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/E-8-2015-001198_FR.html
- Falkowski, P., Scholes, R.J., Boyle, E., Canadell, J., Canfield, D., Elser, J., Gruber, N., Hibbard, K., Högberg, P., Linder, S., MacKenzie, F.T., Moore, B., Pedersen, T., Rosenthal, Y., Seitzinger, S., Smetacek, V., Steffen, W. (2000). The Global Carbon Cycle: A Test of Our Knowledge of Earth as a System. Science. 290 (5490): 291–296.
- FAO (2019) Land use statistics and indicators Global, regional and country trends 1990–2019, https://www.fao.org/3/cb6033en/cb6033en.pdf.
- FAO (2019 a). The state of world's biodiversity for food and agriculture. Belanger, J., Pilling, D. (eds.) FAO Commission on Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture Assessments, Rome. www.fao.org/3/a-y54893.pdf.
- Fiedor, B. (2016). Implementacja koncepcji ČSR jako przesłanka trwałości firmy i jej sukcesu rynkowego. *Przegląd Organizacji, nr 1*.
- Filek, J. (2017). Czy koncepcja społecznej odpowiedzialności biznesu może być inspiracją dla nowego paradygmatu ekonomii. In: Mączyńska, E., Sójka., J. (red.) Etyka i ekonomia – w stronę nowego paradygmatu. Forum Myśli Strategicznej. Warszawa. PTE.

Fossil CO2 emissions of all world countries - 2020 Report. https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/handle/JRC121460. KJNA30358ENN.en.pdf (accessed 10.10.2021).

- Friant, M.C., Vermeulen, W.J.V, Salomone, R. (2020). A typology of circular discourses: Navigating the diverse versions of a contested paradigm. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 161, 104917.
- Galvao, G.D.A., de Nachae, J., Clemente, D.H., Chinen, G., de Carvalho, M.M. (2018). Circular Economy: Overview of barriers. *Procedia CIRP* 73, p. 79-85.

- E. Skawińska, R.I. Zalewski Contemporary challenges for sustainable development
- Galvao, G.D.A., Evans, S., Ferrer, P., de Carvalho, M.M. (2021). Circular business model: Breaking barriers towards sustainable development. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 2021, 30, (7).
- Geissdoerfer, M. et al. (2017). The circular economy a new sustainability paradigm. *Clean, J. Prod., 143,* 757-768.
- Genovese, A., Ponsera, M. (2019). The Circular Economy at a crossroad: Technocratic Eco-Modernism or Convivial Technology for Social Revolution? *Capitalism Nature Socialism 32*, 2021(2) pp. 95-113. https://doi.org/10.1080/10455752.2020.1763414.
- Georgescu-Roegen, N. (1971). *The entropy law and economic processes*. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Mass.
- Georgescu-Roegen, N. (2012). Die Thermodynamic und wir, die Menschheit, in: Kirdius-Goeller, R., Seifert E.K. (ed.), Evolution – Ware – Oekonomie, Biooekonomische Grundlagen zur Warenlehre, 45-70, Muenchen, oekom verlag,
- GFSI (2019). *Global Food Security Index*. Available at: https://foodsecurityindex.eiu.com (accessed 20.11.2020).
- Ghisellini, P., Cialani, C., Ulgiati, S. (2015). A review on circular economy: The expected transition to a balanced interplay of environmental and economic systems. J. Clean. Prod. 114, 11–32.
- Giampietro, M., Funtowicz, S.O. (2020). From elite folk science to the policy legend of the circular economy. *Environmental Science & Policy, 109*, pp. 64–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2020.04.012.
- Global (2018). *Global Footprint Report* 2018 (www.footprintreport.org/our-work/countries).
- Global Circularity Gap Report 2018 (https://www.circularity-gap.world/2018).
- Global Circularity Gap Report 2021 (https://www.circularity-gap.world/2021).
- Global Energy Review 2021 (https://www.iea.org/reports/global-energy-review-2021/renewables) (accessed 15.10.2021).
- Global Rare Earth Metals Market 2012-2016 (http://www.researchmoz.us/ global-rare-earth- metals-market-2012-2016-report.html.
- Global Wind Report 2021, Global Wind Energy Council https://gwec.net/global-windreport-2021.
- Golinska, P., Kosacka, M., Mierzwiak, R., Werner-Lewandowska, K. (2015). Grey Decision Making as a tool for the classification of the sustainability level of remanufacturing companies. *Journal of Cleaner Production 105*, pp. 28-40.
- Grafstrom, J., Aasma, S. (2021) Breaking circular economy barriers., Journal of Cleaner Production 292, 126002.
- Grudzewski, E.W., Hejduk, I.K., Sankowska, A., Wańtuchowicz, M. (2010). Sustainability w biznesie czyli przedsiębiorstwo przyszłości. POLTEXT. Warszawa.
- Haas, W., Krausmann, F., Wiedenhofer, D. (2016). How Circular is the Global Economy? A Sociometabolic Analysis. In: Eds. Haberl, H., Fischer-Kowalski, M., Krausman, F., Wniiwater, V., Social Ecology: Society-Nature Relations across Time and Space. pp. 259-275. Springer, Cham, Heidelberg, New York, Dodrecht, London.

- Haas, W., Krausmann, F., Wiedenhofer, D., Heinz, M. (2015) How circular is global economy. An assessment of material flows, waste production and recycling in European Union and the World in 2005, *Journal of Industrial Ecology 19, 5, pp.* 765-777. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/jiec.12244.
- Hartley, K., van Sauten, R., Kirhcher, J. (2020). Policies for transitioning towards a circular economy: Expectations from the European Union (EU), *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 155,10463.
- Hegnsholt, E., Unnikrishan, S., Pollman-Larsen, M., Askeldottir, B., Gerard, M. (2018). Tackling the 1,6 billion-ton food loss and waste crisis. Available at:
- https://www.bcg. com/publications/ 2018/tackling-1.6-billion-ton-food-loss-and-wastecrisis). (accessed 02.09.2019).
- Hejduk, I. (2014). Sustainability wyzwaniem współczesnego zarządzania. w Gierszewska G. (red.) *Wyzwania dla zarządzania przedsiębiorstwami*, Warszawa. Politechnika Warszawska.
- Hekkert M., Worrell, E., Hanemaaijer, A., Circular Economy: Measuring Innovation in the Policy, Report PBL. Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency: The Hague, (2017).
- Hernandez, L.M., Xu, E.G., Larsson, H.C.E., Tahara, R., Maisuria, V.B., Tufenkji, N. (2019). Plastic Teabags Release Billions of Microparticles and Nanoparticles into Tea. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 53, 21.
- Hickel, J. and Kallis, G., (2020). Is Green Growth Possible? *New Political Economy* 25 (4), pp. 469–486. https://doi.org/10.1080/13563467.2019.1598964.
- Hill, B. (2012). Innovation perspective durch Muster der Evolution in: Kiridus-Goeller, R., Seifert, E.K., *Evolution – Ware- Oekonomie*, pp. 153-160. Muenchen, oekom verlag.

https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/frameworks/sendaiframework_

- Inigo, E.A., Blok, A. (2019) Strengthening the socio-ethical foundations of the circular economy: Lessons from responsible research and innovation, *Journal of Cleaner Production 233*, pp. 280-291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.06.053.
- Infrastructure and Environment Programme Service, 2021) https://www.pois.gov.pl/media/98573/zielony lad broszura wersja dostepna.pdf.
- International Energy Agency (2017) Energy Technology Perspectives 2017 -Catalysing Energy Technology Transformations; IEA: Paris, France, 2017. Available online: https://www.iea.org/etp2017 (accessed 03.10.2021).
- ISO (2010). https://www.iso.org/files/live/sites/isoorg/files/store/en/PUB100258.pdf.
- Jackson, T. (2011). Societal transformations for a sustainable economy, Natural Resource Forum 35 (3), pp. 155-164.
- Jeżowski, P. (2012). Rozwój zrównoważony i jego nowe wyzwania. Kwartalnik Kolegium Ekonomiczno-Społecznego. Studia i Prace 2. https://econjournals.sgh.waw.pl/kwes/article/view/223. https://doi.org/1033119/KKESSiP.2012.2.5.
- Kacprzycki, A. (2009). Entropia w modelowaniu ekonomicznym, *Studia i Materiały*

Miscellenae Oeconomiacae 13 (1) pp. 87-91.

Kallis, G. (2018). De-growth. Columbia Press University.

- Keijer, T., Bakker, V. & Slootweg, J.C. (2019). Circular chemistry to enable a circular economy. *Nature Chem.* 11, 190–195 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41557-019-0226-9.
- Kerschner, Ch. (2010). Economic de-growth vs. steady-state economy. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 18, 6, pp. 544-551.
- Kirchherr, J.; Reike, D.; Hekkert, M. (2017). Conceptualizing the Circular Economy: An Analysis of 114 Definitions. *Resour. Conserv. Recycl.* 127, 221–232.
- Klupa, A. (2012). Cenniejsze niż złoto? Metale ziem rzadkich w światowej strategii gospodarczej. *Przegląd Strategiczny nr 1*, pp. 239-251.
- Koberg, E., Longoni, A. (2019). A systematic review of sustainable supply chain management in global supply chains, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 207, pp. 1084-1096.
- Kołodko, G. (2014). Nowy pragmatyzm, czyli ekonomia i polityka dla przyszłości. In: Ekonomia dla przyszłości. Fundamentalne problemy teorii ekonomii i praktyki gospodarczej. Mączyńska, E. (red). Warszawa. PTE.
- Kołodko, G. (2017). Nowy pragmatyzm i jego znaczenie dla uczciwego gospodarowania. In: *Etyka i ekonomia w stronę nowego paradygmatu*. Mączyńska E, Sójka J. (red). PTE Warszawa.
- Kołodko, G. (2020). Nowy pragmatyzm czyli ekonomia uczciwa. *Rzeczpospolita*. *Ekonomia i Rynek* (06.03.2020).
- Kołodziejczyk, D. (2015). Instytucjonalny wymiar procesu zrównoważonego rozwoju obszarów wiejskich. Europa Regionum. Tom XXIII. IERiGŻ PIB. Warszawa. https://wnus.edu.pl/er/file/article/download/1163.pdf (accessed 01.03.2019) 77-79.
- Komisja Europejska (2010). Komunikat Komisji "Europa 2020- Strategia na rzecz inteligentnego i zrównoważonego rozwoju sprzyjającego włączeniu społecznemu" (COM(2010)2020). Bruksela.
- Komisja Europejska (2013).
 - https://ec.europa.eu/environment/pubs/pdf/factsheets/7eap/pl.pdf.
- Komisja Europejska (2019). Komunikat Komisji do Parlamentu Europejskiego, Rady Europejskiej, Rady Komitetu Regionów. *Europejski Zielony Lad.* (COM 2019). Bruksela.
- Komisja Europejska (2019). W kierunku zrównoważonej Europy 2030. Dokument otwierający debatę. https://ec.europa.eu/info/publications/towards-sustainableeurope-2030-pl (20.03.2020). Bruksela.
- Komisja Europejska (2021). https://ec.europa.eu/info/strategy/priorities-2019-2024/european-green-deal_pl
- Konwencja różnorodności biologicznej, Rio de Janerio, 05.06.1992 r. Dz.U. z 2002 r. nr 184, poz. 1532.
- Korhonen, J. (2004). Industrial ecology in the strategic sustainable development model: strategic applications in industrial ecology. *Journal Cleaner Production. 12*, (8-10), pp. 809-82.
- Korhonen, J., Honkasalo, A., Seppala, J (2018), Circular economy. The concept and its limitations. *Ecological Economics 143*, pp. 37-46

- Korhonen, J., Nuur, C., Feldmann, A. (2018a). Circular economy as an essentially contested concept. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 175, pp. 544-552.
- Koszewska, M. (2017). Rola konsumenta w gospodarce o obiegu zamkniętym, in: Salerno-Kochan, R., Wojnarowska, M., Wyd. PTT, Kraków, p. 37.
- Kovacic, Z., Strand, R., Voelkel, T. (2020) The Circular Economy in Europe: Critical Perspectives on Policies and Imaginaries, 2020 Routledge, Milton Park, Abingdon.
- Kowalski, A.M., Weresa, M.A. (2021). Raport o konkurencyjności 2021. Bilateralna współpraca gospodarcza a przewagi konkurencyjne. Wyd. SGH. Warszawa.
- Kronenberg, J., Bergier, T. (red.) (2010). *Wyzwania zrównoważonego rozwoju w Polsce*, Fundacja Sendzimira, Kraków.
- Kuypers, M.M.M., Marchant, H.K., Kartal, B. (2018). The Microbial Nitrogen-Cycling Network. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*. 1 (1), p. 1–14.
- Kyoto Protocol (1997). United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change https://unfece.int/kyoto_protocol.
- Kyoto Protocol Fact sheet (2005) https://unfccc.int/files/press/backgrounders/application/ pdf/fact_ sheet_the_kyoto_protocol.pdf
- Lacy, P., Rutqvist, J. Waste to Wealth; Palgrave Macmillan: Basingstoke, UK, 2016; p. 159. [Google Scholar]).
- Lassaux, M. (2015). Economie Circulaire et politiques européennes. Montréal, Institut EDDEC et HEC Montréal: 58.
- Lee, B., Preston, F., Kooroshy, J., Bailey, B., Lahn, G. A Chatham House Report. (2012).

 $https://www.chathamhouse.\ org/sites/files/chathamhouse/1212r_resourcesfutures.pdf.$

- Lewandowska, A. (2011). Environmental Life Cycle Assessment as a tool for identification and assessment of environmental aspects in environmental management systems (EMS). Part 1 Methodology, *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, 16 (2), pp. 178-186.
- Lewandowski, M. (2016). Designing the business models for circular economy Towards the conceptual framework. *Sustainability*, 8 (1), p. 43. https://doi.org/10.3390/su8010043.
- Leyersdorf, L. (2020). The triple helix: an evolutionary model of innovations. Research Policy, 29(2), p. 243–255. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-7333(99)00063-3.
- Lieder, M., Rashid, A. (2015). Towards circular economy implementation: a comprehensive review in context of manufacturing industry. J. Clean. Prod. 115, pp. 36–51.
- Lindner, M. (2017). Ripe for disruption: reimagining the role of green chemistry in a circular economy. *Green Chem. Lett. Rev.*, 10 (4) pp. 428-435.
- Lingaitiene, O., Burinskiene A. (2021). Core elements towards Circularity: Evidence from the European Countries. *Sustainability*, 13, 8742. https://doi.org/11.3390/su13168742.

- London, B. (1932). Ending the Depression through Planned Obsolescence. https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/2/27/London_(1932)_Ending_th e depr ession through planned obsolescence.pdf (accessed 14.09.2021).
- Mączyńska, E. (2010). Naruszona równowaga, kryzys globalny a model ustroju gospodarczego. In: Zarządzanie konkurencyjnością podmiotów, Skawińska, E., Badzińska, E. (red). Wyd. Politechniki Poznańskiej. Poznań.
- Matson, P., Clark, W.C., Andersson, K. (2016). Pursuing Sustainability: A Guide to the Science and Practice, Princeton University Press, p. 46.
- Mavropoulos, A., Nilsen, A.W. (2020). Industry 4.0 and Circular Economy: Towards a Wasteless Future or a Wasteful Planet? ISWA, Wiley 2020.
- Mayer, A., Kauppi, P., Angelstam, P., Zhang, Y., Tikka, P. (2005). Importing timber. exporting ecological impact, *Science*, April, pp. 359-360.
- McIntosh, M.W., Bras, B. (2021). Determining the Value of Remanufacture in an Integrated Manufacturing-Remanufacturing Organization. International Design Engineering Technical Conferences & Computers and Information in Engineering Conference (IDETC/CIE) Paper No: DETC98/DFM-5750, V004T04A037. https://doi.org/10.1115/DETC98/DFM-5750.
- McKinsey (2016). The circular economy: Moving from theory to practice, 2016. Principles of the circular economy in organizations. https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/sustainability/our-insights/thecircular-economy-moving-from-theory-to-practice_
- Meadows, D.H., Meadows, D.L., Randers, J, Randers, W.W. (1973). Granice wzrostu, PWE, Warszawa.
- Measuring (2018). Measuring progress towards circular economy in the European Union Key indicators for a monitoring framework (http://ec.europa.eu/environment/circular-economy/pdf/monitoring-framework staff-working-document.pdf).
- Mellal, M.A. (2020). Obsolescence A review of the literature, *Technology in Society* 63, 101347.
- Mesarovic, M., Pestel, E. (1974). *Ludzkość w punkcie zwrotnym*. PWE, Warszawa. (1977).
- Mihelcic, J.R., Crittenden, J.C., Small, M.J., Shonard, D.R., Hokanson, D.R., Zhang, Q., Chen, H., Sorby, S.A., James, V.U., Surherhand, J.W., Schnoor, A.L. (2003). Sustainability science and engineering; for emergence of new metadiscipline, *Environm.Sci.Technol.* 37, pp. 5314-5324.
- Morgan, J.W., Anders, E. (1980). Chemical Composition of Earth, Proceedings of National Academy of Science USA, 12 (77), pp. 6973-6977.
- Morseletto, P. (2020). Targets for circular economy, *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 153, p. 104553.
- Murray, A., Skene, K., Haynes, K. (2017). The Circular Economy: an Interdisciplinary exploration of the concept and application in a global context. *J. Bus Eth.*, 140, pp. 369-380.
- Nejat, P., Jomehzadeh, F., Taheri, M.M., Gohari, M., Majid, M.Z.A. (2015). A global review of energy consumption, CO2 emissions and policy in the residential sector

(with an overview of the top ten CO2 emitting countries). *Renevable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 43*, pp. 843-862.

- North, D.C. (1960). Institutions, Institutional Change and Economic Performance, Cambridge Univ. Press. New York.
- Oakland, J.S., Followell R. (1992). *Statistical process control*, Hinemann Newness, Oxsford.
- OECD (2001). Glossary of Statistical Terms. https://stats.oecd.org/glossary/detail.asp?ID=2218.
- OECD (2017). Agenda na Rzecz Zrównoważonego Rozwoju 2030: W kierunku pomyślnego wdrożeniaw Polsce. OECD Publishing, Paris.
- OECD (2021): Better Life Index. https://www.oecdbetterlifeindex.org.
- ONZ (1992). United Nations Sustainable Development. Agenda 21 https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/Agenda21.pdf.
- ONZ (2015). Supply chain sustainability a practical guide for continuous improvement. UN GlobalCompact. http://www.unglobalcompact. org/docs/issues _doc/supply_ chain/ Supply Chain Rep_spread.pdf.
- ONZ (2017). World Population Prospects: *The 2017 Revision, Key Findings* and Advance Tables. Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. ESA/P/WP/2489.

Osenton, T. (2004). *The death of demand funding growth in a saturated global economy*. Financial Times Prentice Hall Books.

- Packard, V. (1960). The Waste Makers. New York, David McKay.
- PARP (2015). Polska Agencja Rozwoju Przedsiębiorczości. Guidance on social responsibilities

https://www.parp.gov.pl/storage/publications/pdf/2015_csr_dobrepraktyki.pdf. Pathways to Net Zero: The Impact of Clean Energy Research (2021)

https://www.elsevier.com/_data/assets/pdf_file/0006/1214979/net-zero-2021.pdf). (accessed 04.11.2021).

- Pauliuk, S. (2018) Critical appraisal of the circular economy standard BS 8001:2017 and a dashboard of quantitative system indicators for its implementation in organizations, *Resources, Conservation & Recycling, 129*, pp. 81-92.
- Pearce, D., Turner, R.K. (1989). *Economics of Natural Resources and the Environment*. Harvester Wheatsheav, London.
- Pearce, W., Atkinson G.D., Dubourg, W.R. (1994). The economics of sustainable development Annu. Rev. Energy Environ. 19, pp. 457-474.
- Pieroni, M.P., McAloone, T., Pigosso, D.A. (2019). Business model innovation for circular economy and sustainability: A review of approaches. *Journal of Cleaner Production, 215*, pp. 198–216.
- Polak, E. (2018). Międzynarodowe rankingi jakości życia miejsce Polski w Europie i na świecie. In: *Stosunki międzynarodowe w procesie zmian*, (red.) Stelmach, A., Szymczyński, T.R., Walkowiak, M., Wyd. Naukowe WNPiD UAM, pp. 425-437.
- Polyakov, M., Khanin, I., Bilozubenko, V., Korneyev, M., Shevchenko, G. (2021). Factors of uneven progress of the European Union countries towards a circular

economy. *Problems and Perspectives in Management, 19* (3), pp. 332-344. https://doi.org/10.21511/ppm.19(3).2021.27.

- Porter, M.E., Kramer, M.R. (2011). Creating shared value. *Harvard Business Review*, 89 (1/2) pp. 62-77.
- Poskrobko, B., Poskrobko, T., Skiba, K. (2007) (red.). Zarządzanie środowiskiem. PWE, Warszawa.
- Poskrobko, T. (2007a). Kapitał naturalny a ekonomia głównego nurtu. *Ekonomia i Środowisko*, *1*, 31, pp. 23-39.
- Poskrobko, B. (2010): Usługi środowiska jako kategoria ekonomii zrównoważonego rozwoju, *Ekonomia i Środowisko*, 1, 37, p. 26.
- Potting, J., Hekkert, M., Worrell, E., Hanemaaijer, A. (2017). Circular Economy: Measuring Innovation in the Policy, Report PBL. Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency: The Hague, 2017.

Puślecki, Z.W. (2021). Handel zagraniczny. Transformacja biznesu międzynarodowego. Wyd. Naukowe. PWN SA. Rozdz.1.2.

- Pysz, P. (2008). Społeczna gospodarka rynkowa. Ordoliberalna koncepcja polityki gospodarczej. PWN, Warszawa.
- Rada Ministrów (2013): Uchwała Nr 7 Rady Ministrów z dnia 15 stycznia 2013 r. w sprawie Strategii Innowacyjności i Efektywności Gospodarki "Dynamiczna Polska 2020". M.P. 2013 poz. 73.
- Raksit, A. (2014). Ahead of the curve The Circular Economy. London, Corporate Citizenship, p. 14.
- Rammelt, C., Crisp, Ph. (2014). Circular economy and cradle to cradle in educational practice, *Real-World Economics Review*, 68, pp. 25–40.
- Raport Rzymski (2020). A system change Compass: Implementing the European Green Deal in a time of recovery (2020) The Club of Rome, October. https://www.clubofrome.org/publication/a-system-change-compass-implementing-the-european-green-deal-in-a-time-of-recovery.
- Rebitzer, G., Ekvallb, T., Frischknecht, R., Hunkelerd, D., Norris, D., Rydbergf, T., Schmidtg, W.P., Suhh, S., Weidemai, B.P., Pennington, D.W. (2004). Life cycle assessment Part 1: Framework, goal and scope definition, inventory analysis, and applications, Environment International 30, issue 5, 701-720. http://doc.rero.ch/record/13102/files/Rebitzer_G._-

_Life_cycle_assessment_part_1_framework_20091130.pdf.

- Reike, D., Vermeulen, W., & Witjes, S. (2018). The circular economy: new or refurbished as CE 3.0? Exploring controversies in the conceptualization of the circular economy through a focus 28 on history and resource value retention options. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 135, pp. 246-264.
- Rifkin, J., Howard, T. (1989). Entropy: into the Greenhaus World. Bantam Books.
- Rogall, H. (2010). *Ekonomia zrównoważonego rozwoju. Teoria i praktyka*. Wydawnictwo Zysk i Ska. Poznań.
- Rogowska, B. (2021). Ekonomia ekologiczna w kontekście metodologii ekonomii. In: *Trzydzieści lat transformacji*; Pietrucha, J., Pasionek, J., Eds.; Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Ekonomicznego w Katowicach: Katowice. pp. 159–166.

Salmon, J.M., Friedl, M.A., Frolking, S., Wisser, D., Douglas, E.M. (2015). Global rain-fed, irrigated, and paddy croplands:

A new high resolution map derived from remotsensing, crop inventories and climate data, *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, 38, pp. 321-334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2015.01.014.

Sariati, F. (2017). Linear economy versus circular economy: A comparative and analyzed study for optimization of economy for sustainability, *Visegrad Journal* on Bioeconomy and Sustainable Development 1, pp. 31-34. https://sciendo.com/article/10.1515/vjbsd-2017-0005

Sauve, S., Bernard, S., Sloan, P. (2015). Environmental sciences, sustainable development and circular economy: Alternative concepts for trans-disciplinary research *Environ. Dev.*, 17, 48–56.

Schafartzik, A.N. et.al. (2014). The global metabolic transitions. Regional patters and trends in global material flows 1950-2010. *Global Environmental Change*, 26, pp. 87-97.

Schneiberg (1980), https://study.com/academy/lesson/allan-schnaiberg-the-treadmillof-production-environmental-sociology.html

- Schut, E., Crielaard, M., Mesman, M. (2015). Circular Economy in the Dutch Construction Sector: A Perspective for the Market and Government. Available at http://www.rivm.nl/ dsresource?objectid=806b288e-3ae9-47f1-a28f-7c208f884b36&type=org&disposition=inline
- Serwis Programu Infrastruktura i Środowisko, (2021). https://www.pois.gov.pl/media/98573/zielony lad broszura wersja dostepna.pdf.
- Setälä, O., Fleming-Lehtinen, V., Lehtiniemi, M. (2014). Ingestion and transfer of microplastics in the planktonic food web, *Environ. Pollut. 185*, pp. 77–83. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2013.10.013.

Skawińska, E. (2012) (red.). Kapitał społeczny w rozwoju regionu, PWN. Warszawa.

- Skawińska, E., Zalewski, R.I., Lubos, B. (2016). Towaroznawstwo w zrównoważonym rozwoju. Wyd. Komisja Nauk Towaroznawczych, PAN. Oddział w Poznaniu. Poznań.
- Skawińska, E., Zalewski, R.I. (2009). Klastry biznesowe w rozwoju konkurencyjności i innowacyjności regionów. Świat–Europa–Polska, PWE, Warszawa, p. 29.
- Skawińska, E., Zalewski, R.I., Lubos, B. (2016) Towaroznawstwo w zrównoważonym rozwoju, Wyd. Komisja Nauk Towaroznawczych PAN, Poznań.
- Skawińska, E., Zalewski, R.I. (2019). Innovative and socially responsible consumer behaviour in paradigm of Circular economy – a research model. Acta Scientiarum Polonorum. Oeconomia 18 (3), pp. 83-90.
- Skawińska, E., Zalewski, R.I. (2020 a). Environment as a determinant for future management. In: Bojar, E., The future of Management, pp. 414-420, Lublin -Toruń, TNOiK.
- Skawińska, E., Zalewski, R.I. (2020 a). Model procesowego kształtowania kapitału społecznego w zarządzaniu regionem w kierunku zrównoważonym. In: Zarządzanie organizacjami w społeczeństwie informacyjnym: projekty,

procesy, struktury (red.) Walas-Trębacz, J., Malkus T., Dom Organizatora, Toruń, pp. 177-191.

- Skawińska E., Zalewski, R.I. (2020). Success Factors of Startups in the EU A Comparative Study. Sustainability, 12, 8200; https://doi.org/10.3390/su12198200.
- Skubała, P. (2010). Różnorodność biologiczna w zrównoważonym świecie. In: Masztalski R. (red). Homo Naturalis. Człowiek, przyroda, przestrzeń w myśl rozwoju zrównoważonego. Oficyna Wydawnicza Politechniki Wrocławskiej, Wrocław.
- Sobiech-Grabka, K.G. (2019). Partnerstwo publiczno-prywatne jako metoda internalizacji odpowiedzialności międzypokoleniowej, Wyd. CeDeWu, p. 232. Warszawa.
- Śmiechowska, M. (2019). Zagrożenie ekologiczne systemów przybrzeżnych a jakość żywności pochodzenia morskiego. In: Zalewski, R.I. (red.) Rola towaroznawstwa w strategii odpowiedzialnego rozwoju, pp. 55-61. Poznań. Komisja Nauk Towaroznawczych Polska Akademia Nauk, Oddział Poznań.
- Somoza-Tornos, A., Gonzalez-Garay, A., Pozo, C., Graells, M., Espuna, A., Guillén-Gosálbez, G. (2020). Realizing the Potential High Benefits of Circular Economy in the Chemical Industry: Ethylene Monomer Recovery via Polyethylene Pyrolysis, ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng. 8, 9, pp. 3651-3572. https://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/acssuschemeng.9b04835.
- Stahel, W.R., Ready, G. (1977). The potential for substituting man power for energy. Raport to DGV for Social Affairs, Commission of the EC, Brussels (research contract No. 760137) Programme of Research and Actions on the Development of the Labour Market, Study no. 76/13.
- Stahel, W.R. (2016). Circular economy. Nature, 531, pp. 435-438.
- Stern, D.I., Common, M.S., Barbier, E.B. (1966). Economic Growth and Environmental Degradation: The Economics of the Coming Spaceship Earth. In: K.H. Boulding (Eoearth org).
- Strategy (2000). Strategia Zrównoważonego Rozwoju Polski do 2025. Elaboration of the Government Center for Strategic Studies and the Ministry of the Environment in 1999. The Sejm adopted the Strategy in 2000 http://orka.sejm.gov.pl/rejestrd.nsf/wgdruku/2133/\$file/2133a.pdf.
- Strategy (2000). Strategia na Rzecz Odpowiedzialnego Rozwoju do roku 2020 (adopted by a resolution of the Council of Ministers in 2017, with an outlook until 2030). https://www.gov.pl/documents/33377/436740/SOR.pdf
- Strategy (2013). Dynamiczna Polska 2020. Strategia Innowacyjności i efektywności Polski.

https://kigeit.org.pl/FTP/PRCIP/Literatura/006_1_Strategia_Innowacyjnosci_i_Ef ektywnosci_Gospodarki_2020.pdf

- Taikan Oki (2006). Global hydrological cycles and world water resources. *Science, 313* p.1068. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/6856186.
- The 7 Rs of Sustainability https://www.dunedingov.com/live-work-play/dunedingreen-scene/the-7-r-s-refuse-reduce-repurpose-reuse-recycle-rot-rethink).

- Tillaman, D., Cassman, K.G., Matson, P.A., Naaylor, R., Polasky, S. (2002). Agricultural sustainability and intensive production practices. *Nature*, 418, pp. 671–677.
- Toffler, A. (2003). Zmiana władzy. Wiedza, bogactwo i przemoc u progu XXI w. Zysk i Ska, Poznań.
- Tost, D. (2015). Wir wollen mehr Kreislaufwirtschaft in Europa, EurActiv.de http://www.euractiv.de/ sections/energie---und---umwelt/wir---wollen---mehr---kreislaufwirtschaft--- europa---310659
- Tseng, M-L., Tan, R.R., Chiu, A.S.F., Chien, Ch-F, Koo, T.Ch. (2018). Circular Economy meets Industry 4.0. Can big data drive industrial symbiosis, *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 113, pp. 146-147.
- UN (1992). Convention on biological diversity, Rio de Janeiro, https://www.cbd.int/doc/legal/cbd-en.pdf (accessed 10.11.2021).
- UN (2017). World Population Prospects 2017. The 2017 Revision, Key Findings and Advance Tables. Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. ESA/P/WP/2489.https://population.un.org.wpp
- UN (2017 a). Sustainable Development Goals 17 goals to transform our world. https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment.
- UN (2019). Water, Food and Energy. http://www.unwater.org/water-facts/water-foodand-energy.
- UN Agenda 2030. The SDGS in Action (https://www.undp.org/sustainabledevelopment-

goals?utm_source=EN&utm_medium=GSR&utm_content=US_UNDP_PaidSearc h_Brand_English&utm_campaign=CENTRAL&c_src=CENTRAL&c_src2=GSR &gclid=CjwKCAjw2vOLBhBPEiwAjEeK9oX7vYAxpmHBnknQSaFwkMVkKd UhT2kJj8ogzaCjd70adK1nGKgoQxoCsqsQAvD_BwE) (accessed 25.10.2021).

- UNEP (2018). Inclusive wealth report 2018; Measuring sustainability and wellbeing. UN Environmental Programme. https://www.unep.org/resources/inclusive-wealthreport-2018 (accessed 15.11.2021).
- USGS (2012). Mineral Yearbook. Platinum Group Metals. https://minerals.usgs.gov/minerals/pubs/commodity/platinum/myb1-2012plati.pdf.
- USGS *Mineral Commodity Summaries* (2018). https://minerals.usgs.gov/minerals/pubs/mcs/2018/ mcs2018.pdf.
- Ustawa z dnia 27 kwietnia 2001 r. "*Prawo Ochrony Środowiska*". Dz. U. nr 62, poz. 627 ze zm.; tekst jednolity Dz.U., nr 25, poz. 150, 2008.
- Valero, A., Valero, A., Calvo, G., Ortego, A. (2018). Material bottlenecks in the future development of green technologies. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, 93, pp. 178–200.
- Venece, X, Pereira, A. (2019). Eco-innovation and Circular Business Models as drivers for a circular economy. *Contaduría y Administración 64 (1)*, pp. 1-19. https://doi.org/10.22201/fca.24488410e.2019.1806.
- Venetoulis, J., Talberth, J. (2006). Refining the ecological footprint, *Environ. Dev. Sustain.* https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-006-9074-z.

- Venkatachalam J.K.A, Jawahir, I.S. (2006) A new methodology for transforming 3R concept into 6R concept for improved product sustainability. In: Proceedings of the IV Global Conference on Sustainable Product Development and Life Cycle Engineering, Sao Carlos, Brazil, 3–6 October 2006.
- Wallner, T.S., Magnier, L., Mugge, R. (2021). Buying new or refurbished? The influence of the product's durability and attractiveness, contamination risk and consumers' environmental concern on purchase intentions of refurbished and new products. 4th PLATE 2021 Virtual Conference Limerick, Ireland - 26-28 May 2021).
- Wąsowicz, M. (2011) (red). Gospodarowanie zasobami środowiska: podstawy ekonomiki i środowiska. Oficyna Wydawnicza Politechniki Warszawskiej, Warszawa.
- Webster, K. (2015). The Circular Economy: A Wealth of Flows. Ellen MacArthur Foundation, Isle of Wight. The Circular Economy: A Wealth of Flows 2nd Edition (ellenmacarthurfoundation.org).
- Welford, R.J. (1998). Editorial: Corporate environmental management, technology and sustainable development: postmodern perspectives and the need for a critical research agenda. Business Strategy and Environment, 7, 1., pp. 1-12.
- Welford, R.J. (1998a), Corporate environment management, technology and sustainable development, *Bus. Strateg. Environ*, 7(1), pp. 1-12.
- Williamson, O.E. (1973) Organizational forms and internal efficiency, markets and hierarchies: some elementary considerations, *American Economic Review*,63(2), pp. 316-325.
- Williamson, O.E. (1998). Ekonomiczne instytucje kapitalizmu. PWN, Warszawa.
- Wojtyna, A. (2014) Czy kryzys w teorii ekonomii jest głębszy niż w gospodarce, In: Mączyńska E. (red). Ekonomia dla przyszłości. Fundamentalne problemy teorii ekonomii i praktyce gospodarczej. PTE, Warszawa, pp. 44-49.
- Wordwatch Institute (2012). State of the World 2012. *Moving toward sustainable prosperity*, Island Press, Washington, DC.
- Worrell, E., Reuter, M.A. (2014). A key factors for resource efficiency and Definitions and terminology in: Worrell, E., Reuter, M.A (eds.) Handbook of Recycling. State of the Art for Practitioners, Analyst and Practitioners ed., Elsevier, pp. 1–61).
- WWF (2020). Living Planet Report 2020: Ratunek dla różnorodności biologicznej. Almond, R.E.A., Grooten M., Peterson, T. (Eds). Gland, Szwajcaria.
- Xing, J., Vilas-Boas da Silva, M., Duarte de Almeida, I.A. (2017). New Conceptual Perspective on Circular Economy: preliminarily confirmation of the 7R Principle by a descriptive Case Study in Eastern China, 2017. Conference: The 23rd International Sustainable Research Society Conference (ISDRS 2017), Bogotá, Colombia.
- Yuan, Z., Bi, J., Moriguichi, Y. (2008). The Circular Economy: A New Development Strategy in China. J. Ind. Ecol. 10, 4–8.
- Zalewski, R.I, Skawińska, E. (2009). Impact of technological innovations on economic growth of nations. The 2nd International Multi-Conference on

Engineering and Technology Innovation, July 10-13, Orlando, Florida pp. 275-280.

- Zalewski R.I., Skawińska E. (2019) Gospodarka cyrkularna w procesie dostosowania do zrównoważonego rozwoju. In: Rola towaroznawstwa w strategii odpowiedzialnego rozwoju, ed. R.I. Zalewski, Wyd. Komisja Nauk Towaroznawczych PAN, 2019.
- Zhang, W-J. (2018). Global pesticide use: profile, trends, cost / benefit and more, Proceedings of the International Academy of Ecology and Environmental Sciences, 8, 1, pp. 1-27.
- Zhao, C., Liu, M., Du, H., Gong, Y. (2021). The Evolutionary Trend and Impact of Global Plastic Waste Trade Network, *Sustainability*, 13, 3662). https://doi.org/10.3390/su13073662.
- Zhou, B., Li, Z., Chen, C. (2017) Global Potential of Rare Earth Resources and Rare Earth Demand from Clean Technologies, *Minerals*, 7, 203; https://doi.org/10.3390/min7110203.
- Zink, T., Greyer, R., Startz, R. (2017). Circular Economy Rebound, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 20 (4), pp. 719-729.
- Zrałek J. (2016). Ekonomia ekologiczna: rewizja teorii ekonomii w świetle koncepcji zrównoważonego rozwoju gospodarczego. *Studia Ekonomiczne Uniwersytetu Ekonomicznego w Katowicach. Ekonomia*, *303(7)*, pp. 68–83.
- Życie po ropie. https://motoryzacja.interia.pl/samochody-nowe/testy/news-toyota-mapomysl-na-zycie-po-ropie,nId,2731196?

INTERNET SOURCES

http://www.globalcarbonatlas.org/en/CO2-emissions

- https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Global_Carbon_Emission_by_Type_to_Y2 004.png
- http://www.fao.org/docrep/017/i1688e/i1688e.pdf
- http://www.unwater.org/water-facts/water-food-and-energy/
- https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/world-total-coal-production-1971-2020
- https://www.gold.org/goldhub/research/gold-demand-trends/gold-demand-trends-fullyear-2019
- https://300gospodarka.pl/300klimat/transformacja-energetyczna-polska-2020-forumenergii-spadek-wegiel
- https://www.bp.com/content/dam/bp/en/corporate/pdf/energy-economics/statisticalreview/bp-stats-review-2020-full-report.pdf

https://www.worldsteel.org/en/dam/jcr:f7982217-cfde-4fdc-8ba0-

795ed807f513/World%2520Steel%2520in%2520Figures%25202020i.pdf

- https://www.lightmetalage.com/news/industry-news/smelting/iai-releases-2020-totalglobal-primary-aluminum-and-alumina-production-data
- https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lithium as an investment

https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Rareearth production.svg

https://www.gold.org/about-gold/gold-supply

https://ourworldindata.org/fertilizer-and-pesticides

http://www.unesco.org/new/en/natural-sciences/environment/water/wwap/facts-and-figures/all-facts-wwdr3/fact-24-irrigated-land

https://www.statista.com/statistics/1170691/mine-production-of-platinum-worldwide https://www.bp.com/content/dam/bp/en/corporate/pdf/energy-economics/statistical-

- review/bp-stats-review-2020-full-report.pdf
- https://unfccc.int/kyoto_protocol)

http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/RP/visualize (pestycydy)

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/OECD Better Life Index

https://www.statista.com/forecasts/1171540/gini-index-by-country

RAW MATERIALS

Coal: https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/world-total-coal-production-1971-2020.

Crude oil: www.indexmundi.com/energy.

Electricity: https://www.statista.com/statistics/270281/electricity-generationworldwide.

- Steel https://www.worldsteel.org/en/dam/jcr:f7982217-cfde-4fdc-8ba0-795ed807f513/World%2520Steel%2520in%2520Figures%25202020i.pdf.
- Alluminium: https://www.lightmetalage.com/news/industry-news/smelting/iaireleases-2020-total-global-primary-aluminum-and-alumina-production-data.

Lithium - https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lithium_as_an_investment.

Copper: https://www.statista.com/topics/1409/copper/#dossierKeyfigures.

Rare earth oxides:https://www.statista.com/statistics/1187186/global-rare-earths-mineproduction.

Plastics https://www.statista.com/statistics/282732/global-production-of-plasticssince-1950.

Ammonia: http://www.roperld.com/science/minerals/ammonia.htm.

Fertilizers: https://ourworldindata.org/fertilizer-and-pesticides;

http://www.fao.org/3/ca6746en/ca6746en.pdf.

Sulphuric acid: https://www.statista.com/statistics/1245226/sulfuric-acid-market-volume-worldwide.